
Page 1 of 2 

I CLOSED MEETING 6:00 P.M., COMMITTEE ROOM NO. 2 
Meeting closed to the public in accordance with Section 90(1)(a), (m) and 90(2)(b) of the Community 
Charter. 

 

II REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 7:00 P.M., COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

A. MAYOR’S ANNUAL ADDRESS 
 

B. DELEGATION  
 

1. David Poje – Public Participation Policy 
 

C. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 

1. Special Council Meeting held December 14, 2015 
2. Committee of the Whole Meeting held December 14, 2015 
3. Council Meeting held January 11, 2016 
4. Committee of the Whole Meeting held January 11, 2016 

 

D. BYLAWS FOR FINAL READING 
 

1. 1167 CLOVELLY TERRACE (PORTION OF) – REZONING TO RS-4 
Final reading of “Zoning Bylaw, 2003, Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 9351” and approval of 
Development Variance Permit DVP00362. Rezoning a portion of 1167 Clovelly Terrace from 
Zone RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) to Zone RS-4 (Single Family Dwelling) for a proposed 
subdivision to create one additional lot for single family dwelling use.  
 

E. PUBLIC INPUT (ON BUSINESS ITEMS F, G & H) 
 

F. BYLAWS FOR FIRST READING 
 

1. 4655 CORDOVA BAY ROAD – REZONING TO RS-12 
First reading of the “Zoning Bylaw, 2003, Amendment Bylaw, 2016, No. 9370”. To rezone from 
Zone RS-18 (Single Family Dwelling) to Zone RS-12 (Single Family Dwelling) for proposed 
subdivision to create 8 bare land strata lots.  

 

G. RESOLUTIONS FOR ADOPTION 
 

1. DERELICT VESSELS – CADBORO BAY 
  Report from the Chief Administrative Officer dated January 21, 2016 recommending that Council 

authorize staff to obtain permission from the owners to remove and dispose of the two vessels 
outlined in the report, continue effort to obtain financial assistance from the Coast Guard and 
Ministry of Forest, Lands and Natural Resources, and proceed with the removal and disposition 
of the two vessels.  

 
2. FEEDBACK FOR CONSULTATION ON THE FINANCIAL PLAN 

Report from the Director of Finance dated January 8, 2016 recommending that Council approve 
option 2c of the report with the goal of implementing new processes for the 2018 budget (new 
consultation process to commence in the summer of 2017); approve Option 3 as outlined in the 
report; and that Council refer the one-time funding requirements to the 2016 budget process. 

 

AGENDA 

For the Council Meeting to be Held 
At the Saanich Municipal Hall 

770 Vernon Avenue 
MONDAY, JANUARY 25, 2016 

 

 
1

OrrS
Text Box
P.3

OrrS
Text Box
P.4

OrrS
Text Box
P.5

OrrS
Text Box
P.6

OrrS
Text Box
P.8



COUNCIL/COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETINGS                     JANUARY 25, 2016 
 

 

Page 2 of 2 

 
3. KERR WOOD LEIDAL CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION FEE INCREASE – AUSTIN     

      ROAD SEWAGE PUMP STATION 
Report from the Director of Engineering dated January 15, 2016 recommending that Council 
approve an increase in the purchase order to Kerr Wood Leidal in the amount of $226,000. 

 

H. REPORTS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
 

1. FEDERAL BILL OF ENVIRONMENTAL RIGHTS 
  Report from Councillor Brice dated January 18, 2016 recommending that Council maintain its 

commitment to the Blue Dot Campaign and support the motion for consideration at the 2016 
Annual Convention of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities requesting the Government of 
Canada enact federal environmental rights legislation as outlined in the report. 

 
 

        * * * Adjournment * * * 
  

                              AGENDA                         
                  For the Committee of the Whole Meeting 
                       ** IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING** 
                               The Council Meeting 

1. 4136 WILKINSON ROAD – LIQUOR LICENSE AMENDMENT AT THE CROOKED GOOSE   
            BISTRO 

 Report of the Director of Planning dated December 18, 2015, recommending that Council 
support the application to the Liquor Control and Licensing Branch for a change to the food-
primary licence for a patron participation entertainment endorsement. 

 

2. 1720 SHERIDAN AVENUE – DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION 
 Report of the Director of Planning dated December 21, 2015, recommending that Council 

approve Development Variance Permit DVP00365 to vary the minimum lot width for the 
proposed subdivision to create one additional lot; and that ratification of the Development 
Variance Permit be withheld pending registration of a covenant to secure the items as outlined 
in the report.  

 
3. 108-2829 ARBUTUS ROAD – DEVELOPMENT PERMIT AMENDMENT APPLICATION 

 Report of the Director of Planning dated December 18, 2015 recommending that Council 
approve Development Permit Amendment DPA00841 for the proposed extension to an existing 
sundeck.  

 
 

 

* * * Adjournment * * * 
 

“IN CAMERA” COUNCIL MEETING IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWS 

 
2

OrrS
Text Box
P.99

OrrS
Text Box
P. 101

OrrS
Text Box
P. 105

OrrS
Text Box
P. 113

OrrS
Text Box
P. 145



Itfl0 -Dt 
District of Saanich 

Legislative Division 

770 Vernon Ave. 
Victoria BC vax 2W7 

t.250-475-1775 \Rlg©gU'i§g[Q) ~ 
f. 250-475-5440 NOV 2 3 2015 .... 
saanich.ca ~ 

I I=(;ISLATIVE DIVISION LEGISLATIVE SERVICES 

--------------------~--__ ----_r=lD~IS~TDR~I~CJTJu~llrE§E~M\~.M',~~i-j 
Application to Appear as a Delegation 

The personal information you provide on this form is collected under s. 26(c) of the FOIPPA and will be used for the purpose 
of processing your application to appear as a delegation before Saanich Council. The application will form part of the meeting's 
agenda and will be published on the website. Your personal telephone number and e-mail address will not be released except 
in accordance with the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. Questions about the collection of your personal 
information may be referred to the Saanich FOI Team, 770 Vernon Ave, Victoria, BC, vax 2W7 or by telephone at 
250-475-1775. 

Meeting Date Requested 

Contact Information 

Name of Contact Person (if other 
than name above) 

Telephone Number 

Topic of Discussion 
Please describe the topic 
of your presentation 

I have attached background 
materials 

AudioNisual Presentation 

For Office Use 

~~~~~~--~~~~~ 

Application must be submitted by 12:00 noon at 
least 10 days prior to the meeting date. 

AvI",\",.ql~'Ob:P~~ .;i: . 

--:P'v8 u c::.- ~~J~IQ>~-'-(o--

- 8-;2 B lr'ior--n::> ~e-U~ffl.0 ~ 
~~ G-,-v ~ Q91~ 

Yes 0 No 

Ye~ NO o 

, 
C-TS 

Printed background information should be submitted for 
distribution with the agenda, or bring 13 copies to the 
meeting. 

Presentation materials need to be submitted by noon on 
the Friday before the meeting and tested on Saanich 
equipment. 

Delegation for Meeting: _~::rc=~=..JO=:L.:t-,JC->o<S'+f ..... 2"",:O::..LtCa ____________________ ___ _ 
Refer to Committee: 

Refer to Department: ___________________________ Direct Action: __ Response: __ 

Copy to Council Page 1 of 1 

 
3

OrrS
Text Box
CMB1



_~. MaYor smnic:l1 Council/ors 
Adminjstrator ,. \ 

LEGISLATIVE SERVICE~OU{\CI s\(a.\O~ 
p,.O(l"I{\1 

Memo 
~~ 
~ 

To: Mayor and Councilors File: 2870-30 Clovelly 

From: Donna Dupas, Legislative Manager 

Date: January 14, 2016 

Subject: 1167 Clovelly Terrace - Final Reading of "Zoning Bylaw, 2003, Amendment 
Bylaw, 2015, No. 9351" and Approval of Development Variance Permit 

At a Public Hearing held October 26, 2015, Council gave second and third reading to the above 
noted bylaw. Final reading of the bylaw and ratification of the Development Variance Permit 
DVP00362 were withheld pending completion of several outstanding items including the 
registration of a covenant and payment of security for the planting of three replacement trees. 

Please note that all outstanding items have been addressed and Council is requested to: 
a) give final reading to the "Zoning Bylaw, 2003, Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 9351" 
b) approve and issue Development Variance Permit DVP00362. 

This item is scheduled for the Council Meeting on January 25, 2016. If you have any questions 
please contact me at extension 3500. 

dh 

cc: Paul Thorkelsson, Chief Administrative Officer 
Carrie MacPhee, Director of Legislative Services 
Sharon Hvozdanski. Director of Planning 
Harley Machielse, Director of Engineering 

G:\Clerks\Deb\MEMO\Dupas\Final Reading 1167 Clovelly Terr.docx Page 1 of 1 
 
4

OrrS
Text Box
CMD1



THE CORPORATION OF THE DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

BYLAW NO. 9370 

TO AMEND BYLAW NO. 8200, 
BEING THE "ZONING BYLAW, 2003" 

Mayor 
COunci/lors 
~dmin!stratr 

The Municipal Council of The Corporation of the District of Saanich enacts as follows: 

1) Bylaw No. 8200, being the "Zoning Bylaw, 2003" is hereby amended by deleting from Zone 
RS-18 and adding to Zone RS-12 the following lands: 

Amended Parcel A (DO 2758881) of Sections 24 and 25, Lake District 

(4655 Cordova Bay Road) 

2) This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the "ZONING BYLAW, 2003, AMENDMENT 
BYLAW, 2016, NO. 9370". 

Read a first time this 

Public Hearing held at the Municipal Hall on the 

Read a second time this 

Read a third time this 

Adopted by Council, signed by the Mayor and Clerk and sealed with the Seal of the Corporation on 
the 

Municipal Clerk Mayor 

 
5

OrrS
Text Box
CMF1



iLtIo.o)t. Acfrnfl COUflC1I n2S/1cc,
. 1;oa) kIot,L)-?crLflo

U
EflKfl

Report
To: Mayor and Council

From: Paul Thorkelsson, Chief Administrative Officer

Date: January 21, 2016

Subject: Derelict Vessels — Cadboro Bay

on December 5th, 2015 a concrete live aboard vessel named the Pacific Sun King washed up
on Cadboro Bay beach during a storm. The owner of the vessel was attempting to relocate it
from Esquimalt Harbour to the mooring area on the Oak Bay side of the bay when it came loose
and ran aground. During the same series of storms, a number of other vessels broke from their
moorings and washed up on Cadboro Bay beach. Most of them ended up on the Oak Bay
shore, but one ofthem, a yellow hulled fiberglass sailboat currently lies on the beach in
Saanich.

Staff have been advised by the owner of the Pacific Sun King that he has no financial ability to
remove and dispose of the vessel. He has given verbal consent to Saanich staff allowing the
Municipality to dispose of the vessel and efforts are currently underway to obtain his written
consent.

Staff are currently attempting to contact the owner of the yellow hulled boat to determine his
plans for removing the boat.

The Municipality has received numerous complaints from the public concerning these vessels.
Many complaints focused on the diesel fuel that leaked from the Pacific Sun King for almost two
weeks after it was beached. By December 17th, the Coast Guard reported that it had drained
out all the remaining fuel on board. Other complaints have focused on the unsightliness of the
vessels, the garbage on the beach that originated from the vessels and the danger they present
to children playing on the beach.

In Canada there is no single government agency with a direct responsibility to remove wrecked
or abandoned vessels from the foreshore. The Coast Guard has the ability to do so but will
generally not act unless the vessel is obstructing navigation or fouling marine waters. The
provincial Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resources has the ability to remove
trespassing vessels from the provincial foreshore area under the Crown Land Act. However
Ministry staff have advised that they generally don’t get involved in cleaning up wrecked
vessels.

Municipalities have no legal role under any legislation to remove wrecked vessels but do
occasionally carry it out because the owner and senior governments fail or refuse to do so and
the Municipality is the body that hears the complaints from citizens.

JAN 2 i 2016 • P a g e 1 I 2

 
6

OrrS
Text Box
CMG1



Report to Council
Derelict Vessels — Cadboro Bay
January21, 2016

on December 17th, 2015 former CAO Andy Laidlaw wrote to the Ministry of Forests, Lands and
Natural Resources and the Coast Guard proposing that each of these agencies and the
Municipality equally share the cost of removing these vessels. While initially Staff felt there was
some significant possibility for a collaborative approach to dealing with these vessels, that
collaboration has not materialized. The Coast Guard responded by saying that they would like
to support these efforts but that any financial assistance would have to come from their very
tight budget, and they were not able to participate at this time. The Ministry of Forests has not
responded to the letter at this time.

In terms of the existing situation at Cadboro Bay beach Staff has obtained a quote from a
contractor for removal of the two boats in the amount of $1 2,700 plus GST. There would be in
addition Hartland Disposal fees estimated at $1700. In addition to these costs, there may be
requirements for environmental consultants, cleanup of contaminated sand should
contamination be revealed during disposal, protection of the newly established sub-layer of the
parking lot, and remediation of the landscaped areas in the park depending on beach access
routes.

The wrecked vessels on Cadboro Bay beach are a significant eyesore and hazard in one of the
Municipality’s foremost outdoor recreation areas. If the Municipality does not take the initiative
to remove them it is very unlikely that either the owners or senior governments will do so. The
vessels, like many others scattered along BC coastlines could remain there for many years,
slowly deteriorating. It is worth noting that other municipalities are taking a variety of
approaches to this issue from “hands-off” to “active”.

Saanich has taken a relatively “active” approach. As Council is aware, in 2015 the Municipality
carried out two wrecked vessel removals for a cost of approximately $25,000. This was work
undertaken that had not been contemplated in the 201 5 Budget. To maintain an “active”
approach Council will be asked to approve a supplemental budget request in the 2016
Engineering budget of $50,000 for derelict or wrecked vessel removals.

RECOMMENDATION:

I would recommend that Council authorize staff to:

1 . Obtain written permission from the vessel owners to remove and dispose of the Pacific Sun
King and yellow hulled sailboat. In the absence of that permission an application to the
Receiver of Wrecks be undertaken to gain disposal authority.

2. Continue efforts to obtain financial assistance from the Coast Guard and Ministry of
Forests, Lands and Natural Resources, and

3. Proceed with removal and disposition of the two vessels.

Paul
Chief Administrative Officer

Page 2/2
 
7



Cour&I Jos2Sd2ck:,

IL/IDOL!
•X:2’O c\

The Corporation of the District of Saanich

‘o’’
4ayor•

7rtor

Report
To: Mayor and Council

From: Valla Tinney, Director of Finance

Date: January 8, 2016

Subject: Feedback for Public Consultation on the Financial Plan

PURPOSE

To provide Council with feedback received from SCAN members about public consultation on
the financial plan.

BACKGROUND

At the October 26th 2015 meeting, Council requested SCAN members provide feedback on
increasing public involvement in the financial plan process. Two submissions were received by
December 31st 2015 and are provided as attachments.

DISCUSSION

The Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford provided two
suggestions.

1. Undertake a zero-based budgeting exercise.
2. Follow the model used by the Province of BC to solicit budgetary input. This model

consists of a standing committee and public consultation via an on-line suivey, or in-
person, audio or video presentations. These consultations culminate in a report to the
Government recommending certain actions.
https://www.Ieg.bc.calparliamentaiy-business/committeosl4Othparliament-4thsession-fgs.

The first recommendation relates to the way the budget is developed at the staff level and is
outside of the scope of Council’s request. The second suggestion refers to an extensive and
robust process. The consultation paper and resulting report are provided for reference as an
attachment.

In the letter submitted by the Quadra Cedar Hill Community Association (QCHCA), the primary
recommendation related to public process is:

“The outreach citizen engagement and public input should be on the same level as for
documents such as the Strategic Plan, the Official Community Plan and the Parks Master

-.-:

JAN 1 1 2016
LEGISLATIVE DIVISION
DISTRICT OF $AAN1r.

 
8

OrrS
Text Box
CMG2



 
9



 
10



Valla Tinney - Fwd: Budget Consultations 

From: 
To: 
Date: 
Subject: 

Fyi 

Andy Laidlaw <andy.laidlaw@saanich.ca> 
Paul.Arslan@saanich.ca, Valla.Tinney@saanich.ca 
11/13/20152:31 PM 
Fwd: Budget Consultations 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Alyson Rawes <alysonr@shaw.ca> 
Date: 13 Nov 2015 14:29 
Subject: Budget Consultations 
To: Andy Laidlaw <Andy.Laidlaw@saanich.ca> 

Page 1 of 1 

Cc: 'David Baanstra' <davidbaanstra@gmaiLcom>, hrlhodson@gmaiLcom, 'Dominy Richard' 
<richard.dominy@gmaiLcom>, 'Marlene Todd' <marlene.todd@shaw.ca> 

Good afternoon 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide recommendations regarding budget consultations. 

The Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford would like to put forward the following 
two suggestions: 

1. Undertake a zero-based budgeting exercise. 

2. Follow the model used by the Province of Be to solicit budgetary input. This model consists of a 
standing committee and public consultation via an on-line survey, or in-person, audio or video 
presentations. These consultations culminate in a report to the Government recommending certain 
actions. https:ljwww.leg.bc.ca/parliamentary-business! committees! 4Othparliament-4thsession-fgs. 

Regards 

Alyson Rawes 
Secretary-Treasurer 
Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford 

file:IIIC:/Users/tinneyv/AppData/LocallTemp/XPgrpwise/5645F455SaanichMun_... 12/11/2015 
 
11



MAINTAINING A BALANCED BUDGET

35 B

40 B

45 B

50 B

2013/14 2015/16 2017/18

REVENUE: 
2.6% average annual growth

EXPENSE: 
2.4% average annual growth

$ 
Bi

lli
on

s

Budget 2016 Consultation
The B.C. government’s commitment to balanced budgets, built on modest economic growth, prudent forecasts, and 

strong expenditure management, has withstood ongoing global economic uncertainty.

A balanced budget helps keep B.C.’s debt affordable. B.C.’s triple-A credit rating saves taxpayers millions of dollars, 
freeing up money to support government programs.

We want your input and ideas on how government can improve program delivery and services within this balanced 
budget framework. This consultation is your chance to tell government about your priorities for Budget 2016.

 
12



AB SK BC ON NL NB PEI NS QC

$4,080

$8,619 $8,776$8,546$8,273$8,227
$6,533

$5,388

$8,130

$9,343

MB

2015 comparison of provincial taxes by province

TWOINCOME FAMILY OF 4
$60,000 INCOME

2015 BREAKDOWN OF TOTAL BC TAX: $6,533

Provincial Income Tax: $939

Net Property Tax: $2,281

Sales Tax: $1,159

Fuel Tax: $218

Net Carbon Tax: $208

Health Care Premiums: $1,728

T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

v
in

ci
a

l 
T

a
x

Lower taxes and new tax 
credits for British Columbians
British Columbians generally have one of the lowest overall 
tax burdens in Canada when all taxes are considered, 
and the lowest provincial personal income taxes in 
Canada for individuals earning up to $122,000 per year. 

Since 2001: provincial personal income taxes for most 
taxpayers have been reduced by 37% or more, an 
additional 400,000 people no longer pay any B.C. 
income tax, and an individual can earn more than 
$19,000 before paying provincial income taxes.

Recent tax measures include:
• the BC early childhood tax benefit, which 

provides a maximum benefit of $55 per 
month for each child under the age of six.

• the B.C. seniors’ home renovation tax credit.
• the children’s fitness and arts credits, the 

children’s fitness equipment credit.
• the B.C. education coaching tax credit.

In addition, the B.C. tax reduction credit has been 
enhanced, increasing the income an individual can 
earn before they start paying provincial income tax.

Supporting housing 
affordability
Home ownership can be challenging in B.C., particularly 
in the lower mainland. There are several programs that 
help relieve some of the financial pressure of home 
ownership. The First Time Home Buyer’s Program can save 
a first-time buyer up to $7,500 in property transfer tax 
when purchasing a first home. The Home Owner Grant 
program helps keep residential property taxes affordable, 
with over 90% of B.C. home owners eligible for a full or 
partial grant each year. There are additional grants for 
low-income seniors, veterans and people with certain 

disabilities, as well those living in the North and rural B.C.  
In addition, the Property Tax Deferment Program allows 
for annual property taxes to be deferred through a low 
interest loan. The Province is considering what further 
steps could help make home ownership more accessible.

Increased health care funding
Within the next three years, funding for the Ministry of 
Health will increase by nearly $3 billion—to $18.5 billion 
in 2017-18. While we’ve reduced the annual rate of health 
funding growth from nearly 8% in the mid-2000s to an 
annual average of less than 3% B.C. continues to have 
some of the best health outcomes anywhere, including 
the longest life expectancy in Canada and the country’s 
lowest mortality rates for cancer and heart disease.

Investing in education 
and jobs of tomorrow
Government is meeting its funding commitment for 
collective agreements negotiated in the K-12 sector 
including a 33% increase to the Learning Improvement 
Fund. Funding for K-12 education will also increase by 
$564 million over the current three-year fiscal plan. 

Government is making significant investments to 
ensure British Columbians are first in line for the jobs of 
tomorrow—almost $7.6 billion annually in education 
and training. B.C.’s Skills for Jobs Blueprint is shifting 
funding and programs toward training for high-demand 
occupations. Government is also working to foster 
stronger partnerships with industry employers, post-
secondary institutions and within the K-12 system to 
connect British Columbians with on-the-job training.

Many financial institutions are now accepting applications 
for the $1,200 B.C. Training and Education Savings 
Grant for eligible children born in 2007 or later. 

As at Feb. 1, 2015.

 
13



DECLINING OPERATING DEBT

2013/14 2014/15 2016/172015/16 2017/18

4.8

6.7

8.4
9.4

3.6

5.6

7.7

Budget 2015

Updated Fiscal Plan

9.3
10.2

$ 
Bi

lli
on

s

Direct operating debt is expected to be fully eliminated by 2019-20, marking the 
first time B.C. will have had no direct operating debt since 1976.

2015/16 EXPENSE BY FUNCTION

Total Provincial Expenses: $46.2 billion

Debt servicing: 5.5%

General government: 3.0%

Other: 2.8%

Natural resources and economic development: 4.8%

Transportation: 3.7 %

Protection of persons and property: 3.1%

Social services and housing: 8.7%

Contingencies: 0.8%

Education: 26.4%

Health: 41.3%Health: 41.3%

Commercial Crown revenue 6.0%

Contributions from federal government 16.4%

Other revenue 21.1%

Natural resources revenue 5.7%

Tax revenue 50.7%

Total Provincial Revenue: $46.7 billion

2015/16 REVENUE BY SOURCE

Questions
1. British Columbia is one of the very few jurisdictions 

in the world with a budget surplus and a triple-A 
credit rating—which helps reduce government 
borrowing and keeps debt affordable. A budget 
surplus gives the government flexibility to make 
choices. Using a ranking of 1 (most important) to 
3 (least important), how should the government 
prioritize the flexibility these surpluses offer?

_ Reduce debt and borrowing

_ Invest in infrastructure, like schools, 
roads and health facilities

_ Tax relief and affordability measures

2. B.C. is working to protect priority services 
and keep life affordable for families within a 
balanced budget and declining debt burden. 
If you had one dollar in new funding to share 
across programs and services the government 
delivers, how would you divide it up?

_ Healthcare

_ K-12 Education

_ Post-secondary education and skills training

_ Policing and public safety

_ Social Services

_ Roads, highways and bridges

_ Natural resources, economic development

_ Environmental protection and parks

_ Debt reduction

_ Tax reduction

_ /100

3. British Columbia has one of the most 
diversified economies among the Canadian 
provinces. How should we continue our 
work to make job-creating industries more 
competitive? Choose your top priority.

A) Work to reduce provincial trade barriers and red tape

B) Reduce corporate income taxes 

C) Reduce personal income taxes

D) Make changes to the PST within 
the existing framework

E) Further promote access to new export markets

4. What options could government consider to help 
make housing more affordable for those most 
in need without hurting families that already 
own a home? Choose your top priority.

A) Enhance assistance for first-time homebuyers

B) Further encourage new construction 
to add to the housing supply

C) To increase affordability without negatively 
impacting families that already own a home, 
government could [              ]  (Enter your own answer)  

 
14



Interested in more content and updates from the Ministry of Finance or other areas of government? 
Visit www2.gov.bc.ca/govtogetherbc. 

Please send your submissions (including contact 
information) by Thursday, October 15, 2015 to:

Select Standing Committee on Finance 
and Government Services 
Room 224, Parliament Buildings 
Victoria, British Columbia 
V8V 1X4     Canada

Phone: 1 877 428-8337 (toll-free) 
Phone: 250 356-2933 (collect) 
Fax: 250 356-8172

Visit www.leg.bc.ca/cmt/finance to submit your 
feedback and respond to the questionnaire.

How do you submit your ideas?
The Select Standing Committee on Finance and 
Government Services holds public consultations 
around the province in September and October. 
You can provide your feedback by:

• Participating at one of the public consultations.

• Completing an online survey

• Making a written submission

Visit www.leg.bc.ca/cmt/finance for locations and details.

First Quarterly Report Update 

($ millions) 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Revenue 46,739 47,753 48,764

Expense (46,212) (46,917) (47,876)

Forecast allowance (250) (500) (500)

Surplus 277 336 388

Taxpayer-supported capital spending 3,867 4,104 3,513

Total taxpayer-supported debt 42,325 42,874 43,445

Taxpayer-supported debt-to-GDP ratio 17.2% 16.7% 16.2%

Economic Forecast: 2015 2016 2017

Real GDP Growth 2.0% 2.4% 2.3%

Nominal GDP Growth 3.1% 4.1% 4.3%

Population (000’s) 4,689 4,744 4,804

Public consultation locations and dates:
Victoria Sept. 15

Castlegar Sept. 16

Kelowna Sept. 16

Kamloops Sept. 17

Nanaimo Sept. 17

Vancouver Sept. 21

Delta * Sept. 28

Prince George * Sept. 29

Dawson Creek * Sept. 30

Terrace * Sept. 30

Williams Lake * Sept. 30

Abbotsford * Sept. 30

Fort St. John * Oct. 7

Fort Nelson * Oct. 7

Quesnel * Oct. 7

Cranbrook * Oct. 7

Surrey Oct. 13

* Video/teleconference locations

 
15



Select Standing Committee on Finance 
and Government Services

Report on the Budget 2016 Consultations

F I R S T  R E P O R T F O U R T H  S E S S I O N F O R T I E T H  PA R L I A M E N T

NOVEMBER 2015
 
16



 
 

 

 

November 13, 2015 

 

 

To the Honourable 
Legislative Assembly of the 
Province of British Columbia 

Honourable Members: 

I have the honour to present herewith the First Report of the Select Standing Committee on Finance 
and Government Services for the Fourth Session of the 40th Parliament. 

The Report covers the work of the Committee in regard to the Budget 2016 consultations, and was 
approved unanimously by the Committee. 

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Committee, 

 

Wm. Scott Hamilton, MLA 
Chair 

 
17



Table of Contents 

Composition of the Committee ......................................................................................................................... i 

Terms of Reference ........................................................................................................................................... ii 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................................... iv 

Budget 2016 Consultation Process ................................................................................................................... 1 

K-12 Education ................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Advanced Education ....................................................................................................................................... 12 

Fiscal Policy .................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Health ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Environment .................................................................................................................................................. 28 

Social Services ................................................................................................................................................. 32 

Natural Resources ........................................................................................................................................... 37 

Sport, Culture and Arts .................................................................................................................................. 42 

Transportation and Transit ............................................................................................................................. 45 

Public Safety ................................................................................................................................................... 49 

Summary of Recommendations ...................................................................................................................... 52 

Appendix A: Public Hearing Witnesses ........................................................................................................... 58 

Appendix B: Written and Video Submissions ................................................................................................. 63 

Appendix C: Online Survey Respondents ....................................................................................................... 65 

 
18



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services i 
Report, November 2015 

Composition of the Committee 

Members 
Wm. Scott Hamilton, MLA Chair Delta North 

Carole James, MLA Deputy Chair Victoria-Beacon Hill 

Dan Ashton, MLA  Penticton 

Spencer Chandra Herbert, MLA  Vancouver-West End 
(from September 8, 2015) 

Eric Foster, MLA  Vernon-Monashee 

Simon Gibson, MLA  Abbotsford-Mission 

George Heyman, MLA  Vancouver-Fairview 

Gary Holman, MLA  Saanich North and the Islands 
(to September 8, 2015) 

Mike Morris, MLA  Prince George-Mackenzie 

Jane Jae Kyung Shin, MLA  Burnaby-Lougheed 
(to September 8, 2015) 

Claire Trevena, MLA  North Island 
(from September 8, 2015) 

John Yap, MLA  Richmond-Steveston 

Clerks to the Committee 
Kate Ryan-Lloyd, Deputy Clerk and Clerk of Committees 

Susan Sourial, Committee Clerk  

Research Staff 
Lisa Hill, Lead, Committee Research Analyst  

Aaron Ellingsen, Committee Researcher  

Andrea Frost, Auxiliary Committee Researcher 

Helen Morrison, Committee Research Analyst 

  

 
19



ii Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Terms of Reference 

On February 24, 2015, the Legislative Assembly agreed that the Select Standing Committee on 
Finance and Government Services be empowered:  

1. To examine, inquire into and make recommendations with respect to the budget 
consultation paper prepared by the Minister of Finance in accordance with section 2 of the 
Budget Transparency and Accountability Act [SBC 2000, c.23] and, in particular, to:  

a. Conduct public consultations across British Columbia on proposals and 
recommendations regarding the provincial budget and fiscal policy for the coming 
fiscal year by any means the committee considers appropriate; 

b. Prepare a report no later than November 15, 2015 on the results of those 
consultations; and  

2.  
a. To consider and make recommendations on the annual reports, rolling three-year 

service plans and budgets of the following statutory officers:  
i. Auditor General  

ii. Chief Electoral Officer  
iii. Conflict of Interest Commissioner  
iv. Information and Privacy Commissioner  
v. Merit Commissioner  

vi. Ombudsperson  
vii. Police Complaint Commissioner 

viii. Representative for Children and Youth; and  

b. To examine, inquire into and make recommendations with respect to other matters 
brought to the Committee’s attention by any of the Officers listed in 2 (a) above.  

 
3. To be the Committee referred to in the sections 19, 20, 21 and 23 of the Auditor General 

Act, S.B.C. 2003, c. 2 and that the performance report in section 22 of the Auditor General 
Act, S.B.C. 2003, c. 2, be referred to the Committee. 

In addition to the powers previously conferred upon the Select Standing Committee on Finance and 
Government Services, the Committee shall be empowered:  

a. to appoint of their number one or more subcommittees and to refer to such subcommittees 
any of the matters referred to the Committee;  

b. to sit during a period in which the House is adjourned, during the recess after prorogation 
until the next following Session and during any sitting of the House;  

c. to adjourn from place to place as may be convenient; and  
d. to retain personnel as required to assist the Committee,  

 
20



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services iii 
Report, November 2015 

and shall report to the House as soon as possible, or following any adjournment, or at the next 
following Session, as the case may be; to deposit the original of its reports with the Clerk of the 
Legislative Assembly during a period of adjournment and upon resumption of the sittings of the 
House, the Chair shall present all reports to the Legislative Assembly.  

  

 
21



iv Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Executive Summary 

This year’s public consultations on the provincial budget began on September 15, 2015 with the 
release of the “Budget 2016 Consultation” paper by the Minister of Finance. Over an approximately 
five-week period, the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services (the 
Committee) held in-person public hearings in eight communities across the province. The 
Committee greatly appreciates and values the opportunity to travel in order to connect in person 
with individuals and organizations in communities in all regions of the province. To accommodate 
the fall sitting of the Legislative Assembly, which began on September 28, the schedule of community 
public hearings was adapted through the expanded use of teleconference and video conference 
facilities, including Skype, to connect with presenters in communities around B.C. The Committee 
hosted five of these virtual public hearings. The Committee also invited written, video, and audio 
submissions, as well as responses to an online survey. In total, 572 submissions were received by the 
October 15, 2015 deadline for public input. Copies of submissions made to the Committee during 
the budget consultation process are available upon request from the Parliamentary Committees 
Office.  

This report summarizes key themes from the consultations, and makes 63 recommendations for the 
provincial government to consider for Budget 2016. All of the recommendations were unanimously 
agreed to by Committee Members. British Columbians expressed the need to focus on some high-
level priorities, including: the need for balanced budgets, addressing the high cost of housing and 
rental accommodations, restoration of Adult Basic Education funding, adequate funding for K-12 
education, strategic investment in the natural resource sector while maintaining environmental 
biodiversity and ecosystem health, support for provincial credit unions, increased funding and 
services for those most in need, and continued investment in provincial infrastructure. 

A number of recommendations included in this report are ones that the Committee wishes to 
reiterate from budget consultation reports that relate to the Budget 2014 and 2015 Consultation 
processes. References to recommendations from previous years’ reports are noted in parentheses at the 
end of each recommendation, including the year and recommendation number. Feedback and 
submissions received during this year’s consultation process provided information that substantiates 
the reiteration of these recommendations, as they address issues that remain on the minds of British 
Columbians.  

Recommendations in the area of fiscal policy affirm the desire to maintain balanced budgets, and 
include ways to support B.C. businesses and entrepreneurs as drivers of economic growth, and ways 
to generate additional government revenues through review of existing taxation mechanisms. The 
section on natural resource development proposes measures to promote and enhance B.C.’s valuable 

 
22



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services v 
Report, November 2015 

natural resource sector. Suggestions are also made to promote B.C.’s technology sector, and to renew 
efforts to promote clean energy, address climate change, and protect the environment, including 
biodiversity and ecosystem health. 

Several recommendations are made in the areas of health and education. They include 
recommendations that focus on increased funding for programs and services for those who face 
mental health challenges, including children and youth, as well as focus on hospice and bereavement 
programs, the HPV vaccine and the health impacts of sugar-sweetened beverages. Recommendations 
related to education include funding for operations and capital expenditures, as well as literacy, Adult 
Basic Education and English as a Second Language programs, student grants and skills training to 
maintain B.C.’s competitive edge. 

The Committee makes recommendations related to social services to assist B.C. families and to target 
resources towards those in need, and also support for arts and culture groups, whose submissions 
outline the important social and economic benefits that the arts bring to B.C. communities. Finally, 
there are a number of recommendations that relate to transportation and public safety priorities, 
including increased funding for transportation infrastructure, public transit and alternative justice 
models. 

Topics within the report are ordered to reflect the magnitude of recommendations received on each 
topic, and are displayed from the most to the fewest, according to the overall number of submissions 
(including in-person presentations and written or video submissions) received related to a particular 
topic. The chart below summarizes the topics that arose throughout the consultation process. Sub-
topics within topics are organized alphabetically and the recommendation(s) for each topic are 
ordered to align with the alphabetical organization of the sub-themes. The order of recommendations 
in the report is not intended to suggest priority. 

 

 

 
23



vi Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

K-12 Education
18%

Advanced 
Education

16%

Fiscal Policy
15%Health

12%

Environment
11%

Social Services
8%

Natural Resources
7%

Sport, Culture & 
Arts
6%

Transportation 
and Transit

5%

Public Safety
2%

 
24



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 1 
Report, November 2015 

Budget 2016 Consultation Process 

Section 2 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act requires the Minister of Finance to make 
public a budget consultation paper by September 15 each year. The paper must include a fiscal 
forecast, key issues to be addressed in the next provincial budget, and information on how members 
of the public may provide their views on those issues. Upon its release, the paper stands referred to 
the Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services (the “Committee”). The 
Committee then conducts consultations as it considers appropriate, and must make public a report 
on the results of those consultations by November 15. 

Budget Consultation Paper 
Released on September 15, 2015, this year’s paper, “Budget 2016 Consultation,” outlined the B.C. 
government’s commitment to balanced budgets, built on modest economic growth, prudent 
forecasts, and strong expenditure management. The paper described how a balanced budget helps 
keep B.C.’s debt affordable and how the province’s triple-A credit rating saves taxpayers millions of 
dollars, which frees up money to continue to support government programs. The paper additionally 
outlined information about lower taxes and new tax credits for British Columbians, supports to 
promote housing affordability, increased health care funding and investments in education and skills 
development. British Columbians were invited to participate in the consultations by ranking 
responses to four questions and providing input on options for government to consider to help make 
housing more affordable for those most in need without hurting families that already own a home. 
The questions and an analysis of responses are presented on pages 3 to 6. 

Finance Minister’s Briefing  

The Minister of Finance, Hon. Mike de Jong, Q.C., MLA, appeared before the Committee on 
September 15, 2015, to discuss the budget consultation paper and first quarterly report for 2015/16. 
During the presentation, the Finance Minister stated that the budget for 2015/16 is forecast to have a 
surplus of $277 million, a moderate decrease of $7 million from the $284 million surplus projected 
in February. Provincial sales taxes and property transfer taxes are increasing over the forecast amount, 
with property transfer taxes $200 million more than originally projected. The fiscal plan also includes 
$380 million forecast in statutorily required spending as a result of forest fire suppression.  

Committee Members heard how B.C.’s debt as a percentage of GDP has decreased and that rating 
agencies are also looking at debt-to-revenue as another measurement being considered to determine 
economic health in a jurisdiction. In relation to the provincial economic outlook, the Finance 
Minister reported that the province’s labour market is growing, with job growth forecast to increase 
by 0.7 percent in 2015 and unemployment remaining well below the national average.  

 
25



2 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

The Finance Minister reported that the provincial government’s objective to fully eliminate the direct 
operating debt by 2019-2020 is on target. If this happens, this would be the first time since 1975-76 
that the B.C. government has not had a direct operating debt. He concluded the presentation with a 
brief summary of other key economic indicators, such as global economic conditions, including those 
in China and Asia, as well as commodity and financial market volatility. 

Consultation Methods 
Several methods were used to collect public input on budget 2016 recommendations, including 
community public hearings, written, audio, and video submissions, and an online survey. The 
Committee’s landing page was updated for the consultation process, and information on how to 
participate was publicized in a number of ways, including through the use of print, online and social 
media.  

On August 27, 2015, a province-wide news release was issued announcing the Committee’s 
consultation plans and the locations of the public hearings. Newspaper advertisements were also 
placed in major provincial and community newspapers. A second province-wide news release was 
distributed on September 15, 2015 announcing the start of the consultation process and how to 
participate.  

The work of the Committee was also promoted through social media. Regular updates and 
announcements of Committee activities were posted through Facebook and Twitter. Facebook 
advertisements were also used to invite submissions and to increase public awareness of the 
consultations. 

Public Hearing Presentations 

During the consultation period, the Committee held a series of public hearings, including eight 
sessions in communities around the province. To accommodate the fall sitting of the Legislative 
Assembly, which began on September 28, the schedule of community public hearings was adapted 
through the expanded use of teleconference and video conference facilities, including Skype, to 
connect with presenters in communities around the province. The Committee hosted five of these 
virtual public hearing presentations. 

In total, the Committee heard 197 oral presentations from individuals and a range of organizations 
representing business, industry, community service providers, local government, labour, and other 
sectors. The list of the presenters from the public hearings is available in Appendix A. 

 
26



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 3 
Report, November 2015 

Written and Video Submissions 

Over the course of the consultations, 156 written submissions and one video submission were 
received through the online submission form on the Committee’s website, by lettermail, or by fax. 
The names of all individuals and organizations that made a written or video submission are listed in 
Appendix B. 

Online Survey Responses 

A total of 218 individuals and organizations completed the online survey containing questions from 
the budget consultation paper. All of the online survey respondents are listed in Appendix C. 

The budget consultation paper asked British Columbians to rank responses to four questions in order 
of priority and to provide input on options for government to consider to help make housing more 
affordable for those most in need without hurting families that already own a home. The questions 
and a tally of responses, along with graphical representations of the data are provided below: 

1. British Columbia is one of the very few jurisdictions in the world with a budget surplus and a 
triple-A credit rating—which helps reduce government borrowing and keeps debt affordable. A 
budget surplus gives the government flexibility to make choices. Using a ranking of 1 (most 
important) to 3 (least important), how should the government prioritize the flexibility these 
surpluses offer?  

 

 1st priority 2nd priority 3rd priority 

Reduce debt and borrowing 26 72 120 
Invest in infrastructure, like schools, roads and health 
facilities 

178 29 11 

Tax relief and affordability measures 14 118 86 
 

 

26
72

120

178
29

11

14

118 86

0

50

100

150

200

250

1st priority 2nd priority 3rd priority

Tax relief and affordability measures

Invest in infrastructure, like schools, roads and health facilities

Reduce debt and borrowing

 
27



4 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

 
2. B.C. is working to protect priority services and keep life affordable for families within a balanced 

budget and declining debt burden. If you had one dollar in new funding to share across programs 
and services the government delivers, how would you divide it up?  

 $ allotted 

Health care  4,723 
K-12 Education 4,679 
Environmental protection and parks 2,396 
Social Services 2,325 
Post-secondary education and skills training 2,160 
Roads, highways and bridges 1,416 
Policing and public safety 1,193 
Natural resources, economic development 1,041 
Debt reduction 973 
Tax reduction 804 

 

 

  

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500 4000 4500 5000

Tax reduction

Debt reduction

Natural resources, economic development

Policing and public safety

Roads, highways and bridges

Post-secondary education and skills training

Social Services

Environmental protection and parks

K-12 Education

Health Care

 
28



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 5 
Report, November 2015 

3. British Columbia has one of the most diversified economies among the Canadian provinces. 
How should we continue our work to make job-creating industries more competitive? (Choose 
your top priority)  

 # top 
priority 

A) Work to reduce provincial trade barriers and red tape 85 
B) Reduce corporate income taxes 6 
C) Reduce personal income taxes 51 
D) Make changes to the PST within the existing framework 36 
E) Further promote access to new export markets 32 

 

 

  

85

51

36 32

6

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

A) Work to
reduce provincial
trade barriers and

red tape

C) Reduce
personal income

taxes

D) Make changes
to the PST within

the existing
framework

E) Further
promote access to

new export
markets

B) Reduce
corporate income

taxes

 
29



6 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

4. What options could government consider to help make housing more affordable for those most 
in need without hurting families that already own a home? (Choose your top priority)  

 # top 
priority 

A) Enhance assistance for first-time homebuyers 61 
B) Further encourage new construction to add to the housing supply 38 
C) To increase affordability without negatively impact families that already own a 
home, government could [fill in the blank] 

116* 

 

*Top themes for suggestions provided through option “C” above:  

 

 

 
30



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 7 
Report, November 2015 

Meetings Schedule 

During the consultation period, the Committee held a series of public hearings, including eight 
sessions in communities around the province. To accommodate the fall sitting of the Legislative 
Assembly, which began on September 28, the schedule of community public hearings was adapted 
through the expanded use of teleconference and video conference facilities, including Skype, to 
connect with presenters in communities around the province. The Committee hosted five of these 
virtual public hearings. 

Date Type Location 
March 11, 2015 Organizational Meeting Victoria 
September 15, 2015 Minister’s Briefing; Public Hearing Victoria 
September 16, 2015 Public Hearing Castlegar 

Kelowna 
September 17, 2015 Public Hearing Nanaimo 

Kamloops 
September 21, 2015 Public Hearing Vancouver 
September 28, 2015 Public Hearing 

(teleconference, Skype, and in-person session: Delta) 
Victoria 

September 29, 2015 Public Hearing 
(video conference, teleconference, and Skype session: Prince 
George) 

Victoria 

September 30, 2015 Public Hearing  
(video conference, teleconference, and Skype session: 
Williams Lake, Terrace, Dawson Creek) 

Victoria 

September 30, 2015 Public Hearing  
(teleconference, Skype, and in-person session: Abbotsford) 

Victoria 

October 7, 2015 Public Hearing  
(video conference, teleconference, and Skype session: Fort 
St. John, Fort Nelson, Cranbrook, Quesnel) 

Victoria 

October 13, 2015 Public Hearing Surrey 
October 14, 2015 Public Hearing Richmond 
October 22, 2015 Deliberations Victoria 
October 28, 2015 Deliberations Victoria 
November 4, 2015 Deliberations Victoria 
November 5, 2015 Deliberations Victoria 
November 10, 2015 Deliberations Vancouver 
November 12, 2015 Deliberations; Adoption of Report Victoria 

 
31



8 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

K-12 Education 

Submissions including recommendations for K-12 education constituted a significant portion of the 
public input on Budget 2016, with the highest overall number of submissions received for a single 
topic. The second question of the online survey asked “If you had one dollar in new funding to share 
across programs and services the government delivers, how would you divide it up?” Respondents 
allocated K-12 education a combined average of 22 cents out of every dollar, a joint outcome shared 
only with health spending. According to the results of this survey, no other area of expense exceeded 
K-12 education as a spending priority. With one third of written submissions highlighting a K-12 
education-related recommendation, this is clearly an area of focus for many British Columbians. 

School districts, teachers, advocacy organizations and members of the public made submissions 
highlighting the importance of allocating adequate government funding for a strong K-12 school 
system. Increased and sustained funding to ensure teachers have adequate classroom supports in place 
were frequent requests throughout written and oral submissions to the Committee. Investment in 
seismic and capital infrastructure, provision of sufficient learning support staff and financing for 
classroom supplies were also common emerging themes. 

Capital funding 
The Committee heard from a large number of Boards of Education from across the province, 
through written submissions, in-person and video presentations. There were many recommendations 
aimed at the need for providing additional funding for seismic upgrades, increased maintenance and 
the provision of additional school facilities in certain locations. Additional and targeted funding was 
requested to address the needs of aging school facilities and to meet forecast demand for additional 
student placement across specific areas of the province. 

The Board of Education for School District No. 38 (Richmond) presented to the Committee and 
elaborated on their focus for allocation of funding for seismic upgrades. They suggested it would be 
appropriate to take a broader perspective than only seismic mitigation within the scope of this 
program. Representatives from School District No. 38 stated that as many of the schools that receive 
seismic funding also have significantly aging electrical and mechanical infrastructure, it would be 
more cost efficient and provide for greater impact if these funding upgrades were done concurrently. 

Other school boards and individuals added suggestions for creating a more streamlined and 
transparent process for the approval of major capital projects, as well as the need to consider 
recognition of international students in the capital funding formula.  

 

 
32



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 9 
Report, November 2015 

General funding  
Over 50 written submissions were made to the Committee pertaining to the importance of providing 
ongoing, stable and predictable funding for the K-12 education system. Individuals wrote to the 
Committee expressing concerns regarding the lack of funding for basic school supplies in the 
classroom. Many stipulated additional support was vital for teacher-librarians and also to provide new 
and incremental funding to enable the effective implementation of the new curriculum. 
 
The Committee heard from the British Columbia Principals’ and Vice Principals’ Association 
(BCPVPA), who represent the professional and employment interests of the province’s public school-
based administrators with over 2,100 voluntary members. They illustrated the importance of 
adequate school district funding for the actual costs of statutory and contractual obligations related to 
benefits, the Canada Pension Plan, Employment Insurance and WorkSafeBC. Further, the BCPVPA 
recommended additional investment in leadership development to enable the Ministry of Education 
to develop a comprehensive program to recruit, retain and support professional learning. Other 
submissions echoed these requests, with repeated calls to review the compensation funding model for 
exempt staff. 

Operational funding 
Corresponding to previous budget consultations, the Committee received a number of submissions 
on the topic of K-12 funding. Numerous boards of education, advocacy organizations, associations 
and individuals across the province presented or sent written submissions to the Committee 
requesting enhanced core funding. 

The BC Teachers’ Federation (BCTF), which represents the province’s 41,000 public school 
teachers, reiterated its previous request for additional funding for K-12 education. The BCTF also 
requested public education funding be increased to ensure that the Teacher Education Fund is able to 
increase teaching staff to support areas of greater need.  

The BC School Trustees Association, a professional body with branches across the province, 
presented to the Committee in Kelowna, stressing it is time for a detailed review of the current 
funding formula, particularly in relation to the exempt staff compensation freeze. This was a view 
shared by the majority of organizations and individuals presenting to the Committee on this topic. 
Other suggestions included a request to increase operating grants to bring levels up to the national 
average, as well as examining the funding ratio per student so that schools can continue to provide 
education in the face of existing funding pressures. 

 
33



10 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Special Needs 
A large number of individuals wrote to the Committee with requests to consider prioritizing learning 
support in K-12 schools. Recommendations were made to maintain or increase funding for: 
Education Assistants, school counsellors, Learning Assistance teachers, English as a Second Language 
(ESL) staff, childcare workers, speech and language pathologists, integration support workers and 
school psychologists. 

The Children, Youth and Families Advisory Committee (CYFAC), representing 21 members in 
Vancouver, wrote to the Committee outlining the importance of adequate support for students with 
special needs.  Other submissions expanded on the additional supports required for these students, 
such as the possibility of reviewing the supplementary funding grants for students with special needs, 
with a view to increasing funds and targeting much needed support. Written submissions included 
requests to re-stabilize critical early childhood development programs, decrease wait times for support 
and assessment services, as well as to consider mandated training in behavioral supports for teachers, 
support staff, principals and all district administrators. 

Conclusions 
Aligning with the previous year’s requests for K-12 education, the Committee acknowledges the 
importance of providing adequate funding and support for this sector. The recommendations 
presented to the Committee from organizations and individuals across the province suggest current 
funding levels and assistance are inadequate, which is causing significant operational and program 
delivery problems in schools throughout B.C.  

Three main recommendations are made for this sector. First, the Committee recommends that 
government ensure sufficient and timely capital funding to provide for facility improvements, seismic 
upgrades and also to facilitate the building of new schools in areas that are struggling to cope with 
increasing student numbers. The Committee ascertains that additional funding is necessary to ensure 
the provision of quality public education and to properly meet the increased costs that schools are 
currently facing.  

Finally, the Committee recommends a review of the Ministry of Education funding formula relating 
to programs, services and administrative staffing compensation, to ensure this sector is properly 
supported. By properly investing in this sector, the Committee suggests that economic and 
community goals have a better chance of being realized. 

  

 
34



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 11 
Report, November 2015 

Summary of Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
1. Provide adequate capital funding to school districts for facility improvements, seismic 

upgrades and additional schools in rapidly-growing communities. (2013: #25 and 2014: 
#23) 

2. Provide stable, sustainable and adequate funding to enable school districts to fulfil their 
responsibility to continue to provide access to quality public education, with recognition of 
the increased costs that school districts have incurred. (2014: #22) 

3. Review the Ministry of Education funding formula for programs and services, as well as 
administrative staff compensation levels to ensure adequate and competitive compensation. 

 

 
35



12 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Advanced Education 

Submissions on post-secondary education constituted a large portion of the public input on Budget 
2016. The second question of the online survey asked “If you had one dollar in new funding to share 
across programs and services the government delivers, how would you divide it up?” Post-secondary 
education was allocated an average of 10 cents out of every dollar and also figured prominently in a 
large proportion of written and oral submissions. With such a high and constant response rate over 
the entire consultation period, advanced education is clearly a priority that reaches across the entire 
province. 

Colleges and universities, student unions, literacy outreach organizations, public library 
representatives, advocacy organizations, faculty associations and members of the public made 
submissions to the Committee on the topic of advanced education. The importance of relevant skills 
training to support the B.C. Skills for Jobs Blueprint, provide for First Nations students and meet the 
future requirements of the workplace were common emerging themes.  

Recommendations put forth to the Committee included calls for increased budgeting for operating 
and capital needs, and multiple requests for a comprehensive review of the existing funding model. In 
addition, the Committee received a considerable number of submissions on topics focusing on 
literacy outreach, English as a Second Language (ESL) and Adult Basic Education (ABE) programs. 
Equitable access and affordability issues, and the necessity to address growing demands for post-
secondary education in some regional areas were also highlighted. 

Adult Basic Education and English as a Second Language 
Many submissions that were sent to the Committee on the subject of Adult Basic Education (ABE) 
stressed the need for sustainable funding to be restored for the purpose of supporting ABE programs 
in B.C. Key representatives from universities and colleges, along with numerous individuals across the 
province, made submissions suggesting that the financial assistance given to these programs should be 
reinstated to the $6.9 million that had been previously allocated. The Committee acknowledges that 
ABE and ESL programs may be offered in educational institutions that provide either K-12 or 
advanced education curriculums.  

Along with requests for funding for ABE, were a large number of submissions regarding funding for 
post-secondary programming for English as a Second Language (ESL). In Kamloops, the Committee 
heard from the Thompson Rivers University Faculty Association, an association that speaks on behalf 
of faculty staff who teach locally and at a number of regional centres. Among their suggestions was a 
need for an ongoing commitment of at least $22 million to support the provincially funded ESL 
programs which are delivered by B.C.’s post-secondary institutions.  

 
36



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 13 
Report, November 2015 

Other topics of notable shared interest were the request to provide consistent, long-term funding for 
Aboriginal learners, access to support for upgrading education and also requests to enhance the funds 
to the Adult Upgrading Grant (AUG) program. The linkages to these programs and provincial 
requirements, as outlined in the BC Skills for Jobs Blueprint, were also highlighted by many 
educational institutions.  

Capital funding 
The Committee heard a presentation from the Student Association of the British Columbia Institute 
of Technology (BCIT Student Association) which outlined their recommendation to permit 
universities to engage in self-financing capital projects, such as building new residences on campus.  

BC Colleges also presented to the Committee with a number of suggestions to enhance operating 
grants for capital improvements and infrastructure development. Their submission replicated a 
common focus emerging from a number of other representatives from student unions across the 
province. Many other colleges presented information to the Committee highlighting the need for 
increased investment to modernize information technology, add new instructional space and 
complete necessary seismic and energy-efficiency upgrades. 

Specific requests were received from representatives of Simon Fraser University, asking the 
Committee to reiterate previous support for doubling the size of the SFU Surrey Campus. They 
asked that the Committee’s previous recommendations of 2011 and 2013, to expand the size of the 
SFU Surrey campus from 2,500 to 5,000 students be reiterated, to allow for the first phase of this 
expansion to commence in 2016. 

General funding 
In Richmond, the Committee heard from the Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of BC which 
represents the interests of faculty and staff at B.C. universities, colleges and institutions. Their 
presentation reiterated the common request to consider an extensive review of the post-secondary 
funding model to ensure funding is fair and equitable on a per-student basis. Additional shared 
suggestions included establishing a merit-based annual scholarship program for graduates and 
increasing the Aboriginal Services Plan (ASP) to allow additional support for Aboriginal students. 

Numerous student unions submitted requests for university costs to be decreased by maintaining or 
reducing the 2 percent tuition cap for all programs. Other submissions asked for additional resources 
for provision of adequate open source ancillary teaching materials and textbooks. Specific programs 
that were mentioned as requiring additional stable and predictable funding included the BC 
Knowledge Development Fund and the BC Open Textbook Program.  

 
37



14 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Literacy programs 
A large number of submissions were made to the Committee calling for annual funding for literacy 
coordination to facilitate community literacy programs and services. The Literacy Matters Abbotsford 
Task Group, who have membership from 14 community associations across Abbotsford and the 
Fraser Valley, made proposals that were reflected by other literacy outreach organizations across the 
province. They suggested that $2.5 million should be provided annually to continue to increase 
literacy rates in their communities. Decoda Literacy Solutions, which a provincial literacy 
organization that supports community-based literacy programs and initiatives in over 400 
communities across B.C., presented to the Committee and echoed the requests heard by the 
Committee to ask government to provide dedicated funding for literacy programs. 

Requests were made to ensure that the funding is maintained over multiple years, bringing stability to 
literacy work. The needs and long term benefits of improved literacy were reiterated by literacy 
outreach organizations, who highlighted the beneficial impact that their services provide, such as 
enabling people to participate in the workforce, and to participate fully in their community and 
society as a whole. 

Operational funding 
The request to allow institutions to access reserves over a multi-year window was another common 
theme emerging from many submissions. Universities submitted requests for a comprehensive 
analysis of deferred maintenance costs, asking for the development of a fiscal framework to enable 
them to deal with identified maintenance issues. 

The BC Association of Institutes and Universities (BCAIU), representing seven post-secondary 
institutions in B.C., presented a written submission to the Committee, emphasizing the value of 
allowing access to financial reserves. They also elaborated on the benefits of removing the directive to 
balance financial performance on an annual basis.  

The Research Universities’ Council of BC, representing the interests of the six major universities in 
B.C., presented to the Committee in Vancouver. They reiterated the importance of maintaining the 
province’s commitment to the BC Knowledge Development Fund while also providing some 
important context as to why it is important to commit to continued post-secondary funding. The 
linkages to sustained capacity and quality of post-secondary education to propel the regional 
economy forward was a key underlying theme in their suggestions, which included increasing the 
operating grant, reinvesting the $50 million that has been reduced over the last three years, and 
investing that amount in targeted areas.  

 
38



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 15 
Report, November 2015 

Partnerships 
Many submissions outlined the progress that has already taken place in the province with respect to 
working collaboratively across academic institutions, business and industry. There were some 
suggestions for ways in which partnerships could further be enhanced. Specific recommendations 
from education providers included the suggestion of allocating $3 million in one-time funding to 
help leverage B.C.’s portion of federal funding to support further innovation between universities and 
colleges, business and industry. 

The Committee received a written submission from the University of British Columbia, who 
reiterated the comments of many other educational providers on this topic. They and other 
institutions welcome opportunities to work with sector partners and the Province to strategize how 
best to respond to skills shortages. By exploring system-wide solutions, they believe it is possible to 
foster a vibrant and financially sustainable post-secondary system to serve all British Columbians and 
continue to grow our economy.  

Skills training 
Specific skills shortages were mentioned in multiple submissions from colleges, universities and 
representatives from business and industry. There were many references to the need to make a multi-
year investment plan to target investments and build capacity, allowing for programs to adapt to 
labour market demands.  

Particular concerns were reported in trades, technology, and science and engineering programs. 
Representatives from universities, colleges and trade schools across the province suggested additional 
funding should be made available to develop and pilot new sector-wide courses specifically relating to 
the highest demand occupational areas. Other suggestions included setting aside funding for a 
targeted Completion Grant, over and above the existing completion grant, to provide further debt 
relief to students who complete a program in a field that has been designated as critical or in need by 
the Province. 

Student grants 
The Committee received a total of 13 submissions from university student unions, colleges and 
umbrella organizations detailing specific requests to implement needs-based student grants. A 
common message relayed was the damaging impacts that current funding pressures are having on 
post-secondary institutions, adding to challenges in providing access to affordable and meaningful 
education resources. 

 
39



16 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

A range of potential solutions were brought forward. One of the Canadian Federation of Students’ 
suggestions, to consider reducing, or perhaps even eliminating interest on student loans altogether, 
emerged as a common request.  

Conclusions 
As in previous Finance and Government Service consultations, the importance of advanced education 
and funded programs for literacy is evidenced by the array of submissions presented to the 
Committee by individuals and organizations across the province. The ability to properly educate 
adults to allow personal fulfilment, to improve job prospects, and to facilitate economic stimulus, 
remains a top priority for British Columbians. 

The concerns heard over long term funding in this area led the Committee to urge government to 
undertake a comprehensive review of post-secondary funding, including looking at current 
limitations to post-secondary institutions’ ability to self-finance capital projects. Support was also 
given to reviewing opportunities for increasing operating grants and funding for capital projects 
related to infrastructure, teaching materials and equipment. Reiterating recommendations contained 
in the 2014 report, the Committee also recommends government reaffirm the commitment to 
double the size of the SFU Surrey campus. Also consistent with 2014 recommendations, the 
Committee encourages government investment for continued community literacy and outreach 
work, as well as ongoing support for ABE and ESL programs. The Committee agrees that investment 
in this area would allow exponential benefits to the province, equipping communities to better meet 
immediate and future skills requirements and support a healthy economy. 

Acknowledging the need for capacity building to meet demand for targeted skills training, the 
Committee recommended investment in a multi-year investment plan in this area. To ensure a 
properly trained workforce, the Committee also echoes its 2014 recommendation that government 
establish a student grant program that improves program accessibility and affordability for students.  

  

 
40



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 17 
Report, November 2015 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
4. Restore full and sustained funding to the Adult Basic Education (ABE) and English as a 

Second Language (ESL) programs.1 (2013: #40 and 2014: #32) 
5. Provide funding support for capital projects related to infrastructure and equipment, such as 

building maintenance, renovations and projects related to seismic and efficiency upgrades. 
(2013: #25 and 2014: #29) 

6. Recommit to the MOU signed with SFU and the Province on March 10, 2006 to double the 
size of SFU Surrey from 2,500 to 5,000 student FTEs by 2015. (2013: #33) 

7. Address legislative, policy or other impediments that currently limit post-secondary 
institutions from financing self-supported capital projects. (2013: #31 and 2014: #31) 

8. Undertake a comprehensive review of the post-secondary funding formula so that regional 
inequities and core funding for the system as a whole are adequately addressed. (2013: #30 
and 2014: #30) 

9. Provide support to enable more open source ancillary teaching materials and textbooks to be 
made available online to post-secondary research institutions, such as through the BC Open 
Textbook Program. 

10. Provide multi-year annual funding of $2.5 million to continue coordinated community 
literacy work.2 (2013: #29 and 2014: #46) 

11. Increase operating grants to post-secondary institutions to address unfunded cost pressures 
and move to multi-year allotments for operating grants and deferred maintenance grants to 
help these institutions with their financial planning. (2014: #27, #28) 

12. Commit to a multi-year investment plan to build capacity and meet demand for urgently-
required skills training. (2013: #34) 

13. Establish a student grant program that addresses student needs and provides incentives for 
completion and review the interest charged on B.C. student loans and review existing 
eligibility requirements for student loans. (2013: #37, #38 and 2014: #34, #35) 

 

 

  

                                                            
1 This recommendation also relates to the K-12 Education topic in this report. 
2 This recommendation also relates to the K-12 Education topic in this report. 

 
41



18 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Fiscal Policy 

The Committee heard from associations representing business, industry, accounting professionals and 
other sectors that offered recommendations around general fiscal policies and different areas related 
to taxation and government spending priorities. 
 
In his presentation to the Committee regarding the release of the Budget Consultation Paper on 
September 15, 2015, the Minister of Finance outlined government’s priorities for debt reduction, 
greater infrastructure investment and tax and cost reductions. He additionally noted some of the 
questions raised in the budget consultation survey related to determining priorities among services, 
job creation and affordable housing. Specific submissions to the Committee looked at the Provincial 
Sales Tax (PST), Property Transfer Tax and the Carbon Tax. 

Balanced Budgets and Debt Reduction 
A variety of organizations and individuals presented to the Committee or sent written submissions 
that supported the commitment to a balanced budget in 2016 and expressed support for ongoing 
efforts dedicated to provincial debt reduction. With global markets still volatile in many areas and 
sectors, and economic uncertainties presenting challenges for governments, the desire for continued 
economic stability and realistic growth was a prevalent theme throughout the submissions and 
presentations received by the Committee. Recommendations that underlined government’s 
dedication to disciplined spending were expressed by many presenters. 

Carbon Tax  

A wide range of recommendations with differing viewpoints were brought to the Committee by a 
number of organizations and individuals in relation to the Carbon Tax. The Committee heard from 
representatives from several regional chamber of commerce organizations, including the British 
Columbia Chamber of Commerce and the Parksville and District Chamber of Commerce. 
Additionally, the Committee received presentations from Clean Energy Canada, the Canadian 
Centre for Policy Alternatives - BC Office, and a number of individuals who asked that government 
examine current policy related to the Carbon Tax and look at ways to ensure that the tax is 
performing in relation to the original intention to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  

Credit Unions 
The Committee heard from a significant number of the 42 credit unions that encompass the credit 
union system in B.C., including Island Savings, Coastal Community Credit Union, Central 1 Credit 
Union and Coast Capital Savings Credit Union. Representatives from the organizations who took the 

 
42



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 19 
Report, November 2015 

opportunity to present an oral or written submission to the Committee came forward with a unified 
recommendation to ask that the current temporary deferment of the preferential tax rate be made 
permanent. The 2014 provincial budget called for the Income Tax Act to be amended to phase out 
the provincial preferential income tax treatment for credit unions over five years. The Committee 
heard how this change will cause the estimated effective tax rate on credit unions to rise considerably. 
It was additionally noted that if the preferential provincial tax rate for credit unions was removed, 
these organizations would pay a higher effective tax rate than chartered banks. 

Representatives from the credit unions shared examples of local success stories with the Committee to 
illustrate the positive impact that credit unions can have in their communities through partnerships 
and sponsorships supporting not-for-profit and charitable organizations, as well as their relationships 
with small businesses and individuals. Many credit unions earmark a percentage of their pre-tax 
income to community investment, and the concern was expressed that this could be affected by 
increased taxes on credit unions in the future. The Committee wanted to ensure that their 
recommendation would be restricted to focus on B.C.-based credit unions and the B.C.-based 
operations of national credit union organizations. 

Property Transfer Tax  

Presenters from a variety of organizations, including the British Columbia Real Estate Association 
and the Canadian Homebuilders’ Association of BC put forward recommendations to the 
Committee related to the Property Transfer Tax and the Property Transfer Tax Act, and asked the 
Committee to consider a recommendation asking for a review of the tax, as well as associated 
legislation and policies, particularly related to threshold levels in relation to the current real estate 
market in B.C. 

Several presenters suggested that the Committee might want to consider making a recommendation 
to government to review practices and policies from other jurisdictions that have examined property 
transfer taxes in relation to their growing real estate markets. 

Provincial Sales Tax 

The Committee heard from a number of organizations that represent the retail and professional 
accounting sectors, including the Canadian Federation of Independent Businesses, Retail Council of 
Canada, Business Council of British Columbia and the Chartered Professional Accountants of BC, 
who brought forward recommendations in relation to the implementation of the Provincial Sales Tax 
(PST). 

Presenters noted that the PST can create some burden for businesses wanting to invest in capital 
infrastructure, such as equipment and machinery, and asked the Committee to recommend that 

 
43



20 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

government look at any anomalies related to capital expenditures that might exist in this area and 
examine opportunities to ensure improvements for businesses. Additionally, the Committee heard 
from the Vancouver Board of Trade and a selection of regional municipal organizations, who 
suggested that government should continue to explore policy or tax changes that would help to 
improve the competitiveness of B.C. businesses. 

Technology, Research and Investment 

The Committee heard from a number of organizations, including Genome BC and the LifeSciences 
British Columbia Society, that represent the technology and research sector, who came forward to 
present their ideas related to how government might continue to support ongoing advancement 
through collaboration with federal partners to attract and leverage venture capital investments 
through private sector and international investors.  

Conclusions 

As noted in the Budget 2016 Consultation paper, the B.C. government’s commitment to balanced 
budgets, built on modest economic growth, prudent forecasts, and strong expenditure management, 
has withstood ongoing global economic uncertainty. Many of the presentations and submissions 
heard and received by the Committee on the topic of fiscal policy and taxation echoes government’s 
priorities to maintain balanced budgets and work towards reducing debt over time. 

The Committee acknowledges the challenges that businesses could face in regards to the Provincial 
Sales Tax (PST) and asks that the provincial government consider a review of the tax policy and how 
the tax is implemented to ensure that any anomalies and implementation challenges that might exist 
are addressed. The Committee appreciated hearing from a range of business-oriented organizations 
that represent small, independent and large-scale businesses during the consultation process and 
acknowledges that businesses are a major driver to ensuring the economic health of the province and 
continued growth. 

As in the previous year, the Committee heard from a range of organizations and individuals who 
brought forward recommendations related to the Carbon Tax for the Committee’s consideration. In 
keeping with the original intent of the Carbon Tax to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, the 
Committee recommends that government consider a plan to apply the carbon tax to measurable 
carbon emissions which are currently omitted from coverage. 

A number of organizations representing regional and provincial credit unions brought forward a 
unified recommendation to the Committee asking that the temporary tax deferral be made 
permanent. The Committee acknowledges the value that credit unions bring to small businesses and 
individuals and their communities, and puts forward a recommendation to government in regards to 

 
44



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 21 
Report, November 2015 

the credit unions’ request. The Committee heard from a number of citizens and organizations that 
there should be an opportunity for government to examine the Property Transfer Tax and associated 
policy and legislation to ensure that the tax is functioning as intended and that there are no areas 
where loopholes might exist. The Committee heard from gaming facility operators who presented 
information to the Committee related to gaming revenues, as well as capital investment opportunities 
to support job growth and economic activity.  

Recommendations 

The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
14. Remain committed to balanced budgets and continued debt reduction. (2013: #1, #2 and 

2014: #1, #2) 
15. Consider a plan to apply the carbon tax to measurable carbon emissions which are currently 

omitted from coverage. (2014: #5) 
16. Make the temporary deferment of the preferential provincial tax rate for BC-based credit 

unions (and B.C.-based operations of national credit union organizations) permanent. (2013: 
#9 and 2014: #7) 

17. Review the Property Transfer Tax to look for opportunities to assist first-time homebuyers. 
(2013: #10 and 2014: #6) 

18. Take measures to mitigate the effects of property speculation on housing affordability. (2014: 
#6) 

19. Review the Provincial Sales Tax (PST) to address any existing anomalies that relate to 
business capital investment. (2013: #3 and 2014: #3) 

20. Work with Genome BC and the federal government to identify ways to leverage and attract 
funding from the private sector and international sources necessary to support a five-year 
genomics research and development program. (2014: #53)  

21. Work with the life sciences and technology sectors and the federal government, through the 
Venture Capital Action Plan and other mechanisms, to create a pool of venture capital that 
can leverage additional private sector capital for early stage companies. (2014: #52) 

 

 

  

 
45



22 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Health 

Health sector professional associations, community service providers, healthy living advocacy groups 
and interested citizens made submissions before the Committee on health-related topics this year. 
Presenters described health care service challenges facing individual communities and regions around 
the province in terms of capital and operational funding, and brought forward a range of resourcing 
requests to address specific health issues. 

As has been the case in recent years, the Committee heard a number of presentations highlighting an 
important role for preventative measures in addressing population health issues, from mental health 
and addictions services, to children and youth mental health, to childhood obesity and improving 
access to the HPV vaccine. Several presentations addressed Medical Service Plan (MSP) affordability, 
and an important role for education — both for the public and for professionals — was brought to 
the Committee’s attention repeatedly as a key indicator for success in early assessment and treatment 
related to health concerns. 

Hospice and Bereavement Programs  
Committee Members heard presentations on behalf of numerous hospice societies regarding 
provincial funding support for hospice care and bereavement services, as well as the challenges faced 
by British Columbians as they near the end of life or provide care for others approaching end of life. 

The Castlegar Hospice Society reminded Committee Members that only 16 percent to 30 percent of 
Canadians have access to tertiary or hospice palliative services, with limited availability in many 
regions. Further, the Committee heard, each death has serious impact on at least five people, many of 
whom could benefit greatly from increased availability of bereavement services. Because hospice beds 
cost approximately $300 per day, and acute care beds closer to $1000 per day, Committee Members 
heard, support for hospice palliative services should provide savings to the health care system. 

The Fraser Health Region Hospice Advisory Committee (HAC) presented in Richmond on behalf of 
11 region hospice societies. In its presentation to the Committee, HAC presented its case for two-
year pilot funding for hospice societies’ bereavement services, as an effective means to support the 
Province’s goal to invest in palliative care and hospice services. The HAC highlighted for Committee 
Members the multiple ways such an investment can be leveraged by hospice societies in supporting 
the training of volunteers, increasing outreach to vulnerable groups, providing supports for clinical 
staff, and reducing the burden on stretched provincial health care system resources.  

 
46



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 23 
Report, November 2015 

Human Papillomavirus Vaccine 
The Committee heard support from a number of organizations for the Province’s human 
papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination program as an effective means to reduce incidence of certain 
cancers, including a growing number of oral cancers of the throat and tongue. Presentations 
addressing HPV vaccination programs by the Living Positive Resource Centre and the YouthCo HIV 
and Hep C Society were united in recommending that the program, currently aimed at young 
women and ‘at-risk’ men, be extended to include all young people. Merck Canada also voiced 
support for an expanded HPV vaccination program, pointing out that comprehensive vaccination 
programs support health care budget sustainability through prevention of future costs. Providing 
universal HPV vaccination for school-age boys and girls is current policy in Prince Edward Island, 
Alberta and Nova Scotia, and consistent with 2015 recommendations of the Public Health Agency of 
Canada’s National Advisory Committee on Immunization. Cost for the requested expansion of the 
provincial HPV vaccination program is estimated at $4 million. 

Medical Services Plan 
The Committee heard requests for a review of Medical Services Plan premiums from the Canadian 
Taxpayers Federation (CTF) during its presentation at the Surrey public hearing, with several 
individuals’ written submissions echoing a similar sentiment. While recognizing the revenue-
generating importance of MSP premiums, the CTF pointed out that increasing rates have proven 
onerous for some families and seniors, and for businesses who pay through payroll contributions.  

In terms of topics for review, submissions addressed equitability of rates for individuals and families, 
and creation of a designated health care fund where MSP premiums could be held. From a service 
providers’ perspective, Walk-in Clinics of BC requested increased flexibility in the MSP cap on the 
number of patients seen daily by MSP general practitioners. 

Mental Health and Addiction Services 
The Committee heard about the importance of funding to bolster mental health and addictions 
services from a range of service providers and advocacy organizations. The British Columbia 
Schizophrenia Society outlined their concerns about mental health care in the province, with high 
costs, delayed treatment and inadequate supports leading into substance abuse, homelessness, and 
crises requiring law enforcement and acute care intervention. The Canadian Mental Health 
Association emphasized the need for a balanced approach, incorporating community-based and acute 
care mental health supports and services, and suggested that investments in mental health acute care 
be matched by investments in community care. 

Organizations including the B.C. Schizophrenia Society, the Prince George Mental Health 
Consumer Council, and the Vanderhoof MenShed Society made recommendations around program- 

 
47



24 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

and area-specific funding, following a theme of resourcing improved and expanded access to mental 
health and addictions services in the province, including additional community care options, as well 
as providing dedicated initiatives for early intervention and prevention. 

Mental Health Services – Children and Youth 
Several organizations focused comments to the Committee on an important role for early 
intervention in a healthy living strategy to ensure timely and coordinated mental health services and 
supports for children and youth in the province. The Canadian Mental Health Association 
emphasized that availability of services and programs for children and youth facilitates early 
identification of mental health issues, providing young people with the supports required to complete 
their education and ensure full participation in their communities. The British Columbia Healthy 
Living Alliance recommended doubling the funding for promotion of health and prevention of 
disease, ensuring disadvantaged youths, as well as other demographics, enjoy every opportunity to 
succeed. 

Taxation on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages 
Childhood obesity is a public health concern to British Columbians, and evidence suggests that 
overconsumption of sugar-sweetened beverages plays a significant role in increasing rates of 
childhood obesity. The Committee heard a range of perspectives from public health advocacy groups 
and industry associations on an appropriate role for government in respect to discouraging 
overconsumption of sugar-sweetened beverages. 

The Childhood Obesity Foundation and the Canadian Diabetes Association voiced support for 
implementation of a volume-based tax on sugar-sweetened beverages, and suggested that revenue 
from such a tax be reinvested in initiatives to promote the health of British Columbians. 

In contrast, the Western Convenience Store Association points to its active role in testing approaches 
to encourage consumers to opt for healthier product selections through education, and suggests that 
increased taxation on sugar-sweetened beverages would penalize retailers and encourage a grey-market 
economy in such products, potentially creating public health risks. The Canadian Beverage 
Association highlights British Columbia’s recent ranking as the healthiest province in Canada, and 
gestures toward mounting financial stressors having an impact on the beverage industry. Both 
industry associations emphasize an education- rather than taxation-based approach to encouraging 
healthy beverage choices. In its presentation before the Committee in Vancouver, the Canadian 
Taxpayers Federation recommended against food and drink taxes. 

 
48



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 25 
Report, November 2015 

Training for Health Care Professionals 
The Committee heard from several associations representing health professionals regarding 
population health and health care service disparities between urban and rural areas of the province, 
and about the proven effectiveness of interdisciplinary teams in providing cost-effective, 
comprehensive health care services for British Columbians. 

In Vancouver, the British Columbia Association of Kinesiologists described for Committee Members 
its important role in primary and community care, supporting diverse needs of groups including our 
province’s aging population, and working effectively in interdisciplinary teams to support population 
health and offset acute care costs. During a public hearing presentation in Richmond, the British 
Columbia Chiropractic Association emphasized an important role for their profession in an 
interdisciplinary, team-based approach to health care, and recommended increased integration of 
chiropractic care in a collaborative care model to increase efficiency of service delivery for patients. 

Physiotherapists for Northern Communities highlighted a role for physiotherapists in improving 
health outcomes as part of an interdisciplinary health team, but noted challenges to recruitment and 
retention in rural and remote areas across the province. Physiotherapists for Northern Communities 
requested funding for 20 physiotherapy seats, to be placed in the north at UNBC. 

Conclusions 
Committee Members were pleased to hear perspectives on health care in our province from diverse 
service providers, health sector and industry advocacy groups, and interested British Columbians. 
Committee Members are unanimous in their intention to reflect broadly the information collected 
during the consultation period, during presentations at public hearings and in the support materials 
provided by presenters, and in written submissions. 

The Committee heard about the important work hospices perform in British Columbia, and about 
increasing demographic-driven demand for end-of-life services for patients and caregivers. In terms of 
the cost-benefit ratio, presenters pointed out that funding for hospice care and bereavement 
programming alleviates cost pressures at other points in B.C.’s health care system.  

Members learned that B.C.’s school-based human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination program 
protects many young people from certain cancers, and heard recommendations to extend the 
program to encompass all youth in the province. 

On mental health and addictions services, presenters observed areas for improvement in terms of the 
suite of available services and equitable access to such services across the province. With demand for 
preventative supports and early intervention highlighted, Committee Members felt it important to 
emphasize particular opportunities to bolster children and youth mental health. 

 
49



26 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Presenters’ varied comments on the Province’s Medical Services Plan drew Committee Members to 
conclude that a broad review of the plan would be timely. Similarly, Members felt that differing 
perspectives on an appropriate government public health response to the potential health concerns 
associated with sugar-sweetened beverages warrants further investigation. 

A variety of professional organizations that represent non-physician health care practitioners, 
including physiotherapists, kinesiologists, chiropractors and nurse practitioners, presented to the 
Committee and outlined the benefits of non-medical health care services. In some cases, provision of 
these services can work proactively to help British Columbians alleviate or lessen ongoing health 
concerns and prevent more serious impacts on their health and ultimately, on the health care system. 

Committee Members heard about limited access to health services in rural and remote areas of the 
province, and received recommendations for an increased role for integrated, interdisciplinary teams 
in providing a continuum of health care services across the province — from health promotion and 
disease prevention, through to acute care. The Committee recognizes an opportunity to improve 
access to services and to support an interdisciplinary service delivery approach through exploring 
professional development and training opportunities for health care professionals, and providing 
incentives for them to practice in rural and remote areas of British Columbia.  

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
22. Expand support and funding for a broad range of hospice care and bereavement programs to 

ensure that these services are available to British Columbians and their families. (2013: #46) 
23. Expand the current Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine school-based program to include 

equal protection for all boys and young men. 
24. Conduct a broad review of the Medical Services Plan (MSP) premiums, including threshold 

levels, comparisons to other jurisdictions, costs of administering the program, and 
alternatives. 

25. Improve and expand access to mental health and addictions services, including better 
coordination of services and dedicated initiatives for early intervention and prevention. 
(2013: #45) 

26. Ensure that a coordinated, effective and responsive system is in place for children and youth 
who face mental health challenges, including early intervention strategies. (2014: #17) 

27. Explore the implementation of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages to counteract potential 
health concerns associated with the consumption of these beverages, including obesity and 
diabetes, and ensure that any resulting revenues are directed to help support and promote 
healthy living. (2013: #50 and 2014: #19) 

 
50



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 27 
Report, November 2015 

28. Review the cost-effectiveness and efficacy of providing coverage of non-physician health 
services and greater utilization of nurse practitioners. 

29. Take additional measures to train and recruit health care professionals and develop incentives 
for them to remain in or locate to rural and remote communities.3 (2013: #42 and 2014: 
#15) 

 

  

                                                            
3 This recommendation also relates to the Advanced Education topic in this report. 
 

 
51



28 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Environment 

Throughout the consultation period numerous propositions were made, from organizations and 
individuals presenting to the Committee, about the importance of protecting and preserving the 
environment. Parks management also emerged as a predominant area of focus. 

Suggestions for ways of bolstering provincial capabilities to attract additional tourism were made, 
along with ideas of encouraging the development of new and innovative clean energy initiatives. 
Submissions that detailed improvements for invasive species management were also heard, with 
practical policy suggestions presented for consideration.  

BC Parks 
Almost all of the feedback received with BC Parks as a focus were made in the form of written 
submissions to the Committee. Almost two thirds of submissions were from organizations, 
representing geographical regions spread across the province. The Outdoor Recreation Council of BC 
(ORCBC), who represent the interests of the public outdoor recreation community, working on 
behalf of around 40 provincial member groups and representing over 100,000 individuals requested a 
review of the accounting methods used by BC Parks so that the public can more easily understand 
funding allotments. The ORCBC’s submission suggested that the current funding level of BC Parks’ 
operating expenses is inadequate, an opinion prominent within the majority of the respondents who 
commented on this topic. 

Over half of the written submissions on parks agreed with the ORCBC, asking for more resources to 
be put into preserving BC Parks and protected areas, with calls for significantly increased funding to 
support both parks management and maintenance. Many of these individuals and organizations also 
placed a spotlight on the need for additional park rangers, highlighting situations where tourism 
opportunities have been negatively impacted or underutilized, due to the lack of support, care and 
promotion of British Columbia’s parks.  

Clean Energy 
There were a wide variety of suggestions received by the Committee to encourage the expansion of 
energy options, biodiversity preservation initiatives, and provincial environmental conservation 
programs. The Western Silvicultural Contractors’ Association, an organization dedicated to 
improving standards in forestry and ecosystem management, called for additional support to develop 
and improve clean energy initiatives and improve forest ecosystems, such as the BC Bioenergy 
Network. Altentech Power and associates also requested the re-capitalization of the BC Bioenergy 
Network, and requested that government ensure that plans are in place to ensure B.C. industries are 
equipped to react to future demands for clean energy. 

 
52



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 29 
Report, November 2015 

Environmental organizations such as the David Suzuki Foundation expressed concern that the 
climate leadership shown in B.C. requires reinvigoration and suggested this area needs modernizing 
to achieve legislated goals for greenhouse gas reduction. They were supportive of efforts to strengthen 
climate action initiatives and asked for an expansion of the carbon neutral capital program funding, 
to match the original Public Sector Energy Conservation Agreement.  

In Surrey, the Committee heard from Innergex, a renewable energy producer, who suggested several 
clean energy proposals for consideration. One suggestion was for a Strategic Infrastructure Fund to be 
established to encourage the use of clean and renewable energy, which also received additional 
support from other clean energy organizations and concerned individuals. Another idea expressed in 
multiple submissions, including Clean Energy Association of BC’s, was to provide additional support 
for emerging businesses competing in the growing market for clean energy technologies.  

Environmental Protection and Policy 
Many individuals wrote to the Committee with their concerns and suggestions centered on the 
importance of our environmental policies in light of climate change issues and emerging research. 
Individuals and organizations reiterated the importance of taking a responsible approach to budget 
development and prioritizing investment, not just for specific environmental issues, but for policies 
that can have an indirect effect on the environment, such as housing, natural resource and fiscal 
policy development.  

The importance of protecting our food and fresh water production, investing in green technology, 
minimizing the impacts of climate change and providing better environmental regulation were 
common themes throughout many submissions received. 

Invasive Species and Plants 
Numerous organizations from across the province submitted written submissions and presented to 
the Committee on the importance of preventing and managing invasive species in B.C. There was a 
consensus within all of these submissions for the government to ensure sufficient funding for 
reducing the major economic and environmental damage caused by invasive species.  

In Kamloops, the Committee heard from the Invasive Species Council of British Columbia (ISCBC) 
regarding the damaging impact that invasive species are having on the provincial economy. They 
quoted recent studies that show the negative impact on B.C. fisheries, agriculture and forestry. 
ISCBC noted that there is an urgent need for an increased understanding and improved operational 
practices to prevent invasive species entering, becoming established in, and spreading across, the 
province.  

 
53



30 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Submissions focused on the need to streamline and enforce government regulations, including a 
suggestion from the ISCBC to create an Invasive Species Act. They suggested this should be 
supported by enforcing relevant regulations to ensure better management of B.C.’s Crown land.  

The Coastal Invasive Species Committee also suggested that it was timely to update legislation — 
specifically the Weed Control Act. This registered charity represents diverse stakeholders throughout 
Vancouver Island, the Gulf Islands and the Sunshine Coast, encompassing nine Regional Districts, 
37 Municipalities, 15 Gulf Islands and 57 First Nation Groups. In their presentation to the 
Committee, they stressed the importance of prohibiting the sale of invasive species and plants for 
protecting our provincial biodiversity and requested that funding be increased to tackle this escalating 
problem. 

Conclusions 
The Committee agreed with the need for increased funding for BC Parks, recognizing the potential 
for this sector to increase revenue and attract tourism along with its associated longer term socio-
economic benefits for the province. Recommendations were made to boost investment for this sector, 
including the allocation of additional funds to be invested into the management and maintenance of 
the province’s protected areas. A specific consideration that the Committee endorsed was the need to 
provide additional park rangers to ensure the responsible stewardship of our provincial parks. 

Clean energy initiatives was another key area that the Committee was keen to support. Aligning with 
the 2014 recommendations on this topic, the Committee requests government seriously contemplate 
the development and implementation of a clean energy and energy conservation strategy.  

Ecosystem and biodiversity restoration programs were another area in which the Committee 
expressed particular interest.  

The Committee recognized the integral part that funding for effective intervention can have on the 
management of invasive species, adding that consideration be given to updating legislation, where 
applicable, in order to prohibit the sale of invasive species and plants in B.C. 

  

 
54



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 31 
Report, November 2015 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
30. Increase funding for BC Parks and protected areas management, maintenance and provide 

more park rangers. 
31. Provide strategic supports and investment for the further development of clean and renewable 

energy technologies, low carbon infrastructure and ecosystem and biodiversity restoration. 
32. Embrace a clean energy and energy conservation strategy and build upon the success of the 

clean energy sector and programs (e.g. LiveSmart BC and Innovative Clean Energy Fund) to 
enable B.C. economic development, with prominent participation by First Nations. (2013: 
#64 and 2014: #54) 

33. Ensure sufficient funding for the proactive prevention and management of invasive species 
and noxious weeds and update existing legislation, where applicable, to prohibit the sale of 
invasive species and plants. (2013: #63 and 2014: #57) 

 

 

  

 
55



32 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Social Services 

As in previous years, the Committee received considerable input from a range of organizations and 
individuals, including non-profit groups, service providers, advocacy groups and community 
organizations on the topic of social services. This topic is a complex one with many inter-related 
aspects that affect British Columbians including: poverty reduction for families and individuals, 
affordable housing, domestic violence, aging populations, the provision of social assistance and 
support for persons with disabilities. 

The Committee heard a number of recommendations to improve social services, provide support for 
seniors, address homelessness, ensure access to services and supports for those affected by domestic 
violence, reduce poverty and provide affordable childcare options for families. Presenters highlighted 
the need for better coordination among service providers and ministry support services to ensure 
effective and efficient service delivery to ministry clients. 

Affordable Childcare  
The need for affordable childcare was highlighted by many organizations that presented to the 
Committee and is something that has gained national interest as families across the province and the 
country struggle to ensure they have options available to them for childcare while parents are at work. 
The Coalition of Child Care Advocates of BC presented to the Committee and outlined their 
recommendation in support of an affordable childcare plan and suggested that the province put 
childcare at the top of the agenda in discussions with the federal government.  

The Committee heard from a number of presenters who underlined their belief that access to 
affordable childcare is an important aspect of support for working families, along with affordable 
housing and a proposed increase to the minimum wage. 

Affordable Housing 
In-person presentations and written submissions received by the Committee highlighted the need for 
improvements to invest in subsidized housing and also to look at ways to address the high cost of 
market rental housing to help individuals and families struggling to maintain or acquire safe and 
affordable housing. Homelessness is a topic that was brought forward by many presenters as a 
complex issue to be addressed through a variety of approaches including strategic partnerships 
between municipal, provincial and federal governments to support and increase the existing stock of 
affordable housing units, including co-op housing and social housing. 

The Committee heard from a variety of organizations that represent different areas of focus related to 
homelessness and affordable housing, including the Co-operative Housing Federation of B.C., the 

 
56



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 33 
Report, November 2015 

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness, BC Non-Profit Housing Association and the 
Canadian Home Builders’ Association of BC. It was suggested that government work cooperatively 
alongside municipalities and with the federal government to gather research and data to better 
understand the housing affordability issue, homelessness and their socioeconomic impacts so as to 
provide a more holistic approach to working to resolve this issue. 

Domestic Violence 
Domestic violence is an issue that affects British Columbians regardless of gender, education or social 
or economic standing. Domestic violence, also referred to as family violence, spousal abuse, wife 
assault or intimate partner violence can have a devastating impact on children, families, their 
communities and all of us. The Committee heard from organizations devoted to helping those 
affected by domestic violence and providing public education and awareness to try to prevent its 
occurrence, including the West Coast Legal Education and Action Fund.  

It was recommended that ongoing, dedicated funding support be provided for organizations that 
provide services to those affected by domestic violence and their families, including transition houses, 
crisis centres and multicultural centres. 

Income and Disability Assistance Rates and Support Services 
Public hearing presentations and written submissions were received and heard by the Committee 
from a variety of stakeholders who asked for a review of the current income assistance rates in relation 
to the cost of living in British Columbia and in particular, the cost of housing and rental 
accommodations, to help reduce poverty among some of our most vulnerable citizens. Many groups 
asked that the Committee consider a review of income and persons with a disability assistance rates in 
tandem and look for ways to ensure that service delivery models, such as via telephone or online, be 
examined to ensure that clients are able to access them in a timely and efficient manner. 

The Committee heard recommendations from a variety of organizations who advocate on behalf of 
British Columbians with disabilities, and one of the primary areas of focus that was underlined for 
Committee members is the current monthly disability assistance rate. It was recommended that the 
current rate of $906 per month be raised to better reflect the cost of living in B.C. and the cost of 
rental accommodations and housing in the province. The need for better coordination of social 
services and resources provided through a variety of service delivery models was also highlighted for 
Committee members. 

Submissions were received by the Committee from several organizations that support ways to address 
the issues that contribute to the increased complexity and volume of people requiring social services, 
including: Federation of Community Social Services of B.C., Nelson CARES Society, Advocacy 

 
57



34 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Centre, and Inclusion BC. The British Columbia Dental Association recommended that the 
Committee consider ways to improve dental care for clients of the Ministry of Social Development 
and Social Innovation, including preventative care and dental health education through increased 
funding. 

Poverty Reduction 
The impact of poverty on British Columbians was highlighted for the Committee through a number 
of written submissions and oral presentations by advocacy groups, community service providers and 
interested individuals. Poverty has been identified as a root cause for many social and economic 
problems that realize negative outcomes in terms of increased health care costs, increased policing 
costs, lost productivity and the opportunity cost related to economic activity. With poverty identified 
as an issue with a multitude of related factors, it was suggested that a multi-pronged approach or 
plan, with legislated targets and timelines, to address poverty be developed. It was suggested that the 
plan could encompass aspects such as affordable housing and childcare, minimum wage increases, 
coordination of services and supports, as well as enhancements to income assistance and persons with 
a disability rates. 

Recommendations were put forth by a variety of organizations and individuals related to the issue of 
poverty, including those with a focus on child poverty, including: BC Poverty Reduction Coalition, 
First Call: BC Child and Youth Advocacy Coalition, Summerland Food Bank and Resource Centre 
and Abbotsford Community Services.  

Seniors Housing 
The needs of seniors in relation to housing, as well as services and supports, were outlined for the 
Committee through the submissions and presentations from various organizations, including Save 
Our Northern Seniors and the Office of the Seniors Advocate. 

Seniors care facilities, including those with multiple tiers of support that allow seniors to live 
independently with some assistance, was highlighted as a housing model that gives senior British 
Columbians the opportunity to live with a sense of dignity and inclusion in their communities, while 
ensuring appropriate support and care when required. Many seniors would like to remain 
independent and stay in their own homes for as long as possible and options to provide assistance to 
seniors to enable them to support ongoing maintenance on their homes was discussed. The Shelter 
Aid for Elderly Renters (SAFER) grant was highlighted as a program that is beneficial to seniors and 
is something that many stakeholders would like to see expanded and potentially recalibrated to reflect 
market rents and the cost of inflation. 

 
58



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 35 
Report, November 2015 

Conclusions 
The number of oral presentations and written submissions that the Committee received that relate to 
social services indicate that this is an area of priority for many British Columbians and organizations. 
Accordingly, the Committee makes several recommendations to examine and provide support for the 
programs and services delivered through government and accredited agencies. The impact of poverty 
on British Columbians was a theme that the Committee heard this year that was reiterated from 
consultations held in previous years. Many organizations and individuals urged the Committee to 
recommend that government examine the current income assistance and disability assistance rates in 
relation to the cost of living in B.C. and the cost of housing. Suggestions were made to look at ways 
to better coordinate programs and services and ensure that access to these supports are easily available 
through a variety of service delivery models.  

Ensuring appropriate housing and support for elderly British Columbians is another area of interest 
for the Committee and their recommendations below are reflective of this. 

The Committee believes in providing appropriate supports and services to vulnerable British 
Columbians, families and children, and those most in need. The opportunity to look at poverty and 
homelessness from a holistic level and examine the root causes and impacts from social and economic 
perspectives is something of great interest to the Committee. Examination of these issues requires 
data and information to fully comprehend the intricacies of the issues and work in partnership with 
municipalities and other levels of government to provide solutions. 

  

 
59



36 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
34. Provide funding and support for the development and implementation of an affordable 

childcare plan. (2013: #57 and 2014: #40) 
35. Work alongside municipalities and the federal government to invest directly in public housing 

and to gather research and data to better understand the housing affordability issue and its 
socioeconomic impacts. (2013: #60 and 2014: #41) 

36. Examine opportunities to support and increase the existing stock of affordable housing, 
including social housing and co-ops. 

37. Encourage provincial leadership through a cross-ministerial initiative to bring together various 
ministries and B.C. Housing to identify and address the funding gaps within the current 
homelessness intervention landscape. 

38. Increase funding for transition houses, crisis centres and multicultural centres that provide 
services to those who are affected by domestic violence and abuse. (2013: #50) 

39. Review current income assistance and disability assistance (PWD) rates and consider increases 
to reflect the cost of living in B.C., including housing and rental accommodations. (2013: #61 
and 2014: #37, 38) 

40. Recommend that the Ministry of Health initiate discussions with the Ministry of Social 
Development and Social Innovation to improve dental care for ministry clients, including 
preventative care and dental health education. 

41. Improve access to Ministry of Social Development and Social Innovation services and 
resources by providing more in-person support to augment telephone and online service 
delivery models to ensure that those in need can gain timely and efficient access. 

42. Explore the option to strike an all-party parliamentary committee to develop a comprehensive 
and integrated poverty reduction strategy, including legislated timelines and targets for the 
reduction of poverty (including child poverty) and homelessness in B.C. (2013: #62 and 
2014: #37) 

43. Adjust the SAFER grant formula to reflect CMHC average market rents to ensure equitability 
across B.C. and investigate opportunities to facilitate automatic enrollment for seniors who 
qualify for this program. 

44. Explore the possibility of creating a homeowner expense deferral account to assist seniors with 
ongoing maintenance of their homes and to maintain residency in their homes. 

 

  

 
60



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 37 
Report, November 2015 

Natural Resources 

As in previous consultations, there was a continued interest surrounding possibilities for enhancing 
effective and sustained natural resource development. A common topic in submissions was the need 
to improve partnerships and relationships with First Nations groups, in order to streamline policy 
and approval processes, and to remove barriers to resource development. Presenters from various 
communities spoke about the importance of mining to the provincial economy, including many that 
elaborated on the potential economic benefits of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG). Several local 
Chamber of Commerce organizations also made submissions stressing the need for physical and social 
infrastructure to accommodate population growth in more rural or remote communities, to allow 
sufficient momentum for natural resource development in those areas. 

The Committee also received submissions from representatives of forestry, agriculture and other 
sectors. Organic and local farming was a popular topic, with suggestions made concerning possible 
ways of improving marketing, policy and educational nutritional programs. Overall, the information 
presented to the Committee underscored the natural resource benefits underlying the economic 
success of the Province, as well as the additional leverage potential in this sector for government. 

Agriculture and Aquaculture 
The Committee received presentations on this topic by individuals and organizations representing 
farmers, ranchers, fruit growers, land-based salmon farmers, and farmers’ markets.  

A number of submissions focused on the need to increase strategic funding for the Province’s ‘Buy 
Local’ and ‘Beyond the Market’ programs and looked at ways that local farmers can be supported, 
particularly in more rural and remote communities. Some also highlighted the need for improving 
the proactive enforcement of existing regulations to enforce the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) in 
order to strengthen B.C.’s reputation as a source of safe, high-quality food. The BC Food Systems 
Network reinforced these recommendations by emphasizing the need to reinstate regional research 
and extension services, and support farmers who are involved in small-scale agriculture, organic 
production and urban agriculture. 

B.C. has emerged as a leader in organic farming with the organic sector growing by 20 to 35 percent 
each year for the past decade, according to statistics from Agri-Food Canada. However, much of the 
organic food sold in B.C. stores is currently imported, mainly from the United States. Requests to 
support B.C. organic production and urban agriculture were prevalent within submissions received, 
with many submissions emphasizing the need to improve links with local, organic produce and 
improve the understanding of the origin of this food within our communities and schools.  

 
61



38 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

The B.C. Fruit Growers Association presented to the Committee in Kamloops and suggested there is 
a need to reinvigorate the ‘teaching moments’ in relation to the school fruit and nutrition program. 
They asked for increased opportunities to incorporate local, organic produce while also facilitating 
additional understanding of these links for consumers. Other submissions reiterated this, asking for 
more resources to go into targeting and improving school meal and food literacy programs. 

Several submissions focused in on the specific types of support currently offered to B.C. farmers as 
well as new farmers establishing themselves in the province. Looking specifically at initiatives for 
supporting land-raised salmon farming, Kuterra presented to the Committee in Nanaimo. They 
outlined the progress made for hormone, antibiotic and pesticide-free salmon farming and made 
suggestions for how the government can support environmental, land-based salmon farming 
practices. Among their suggestions was a proposal that government introduce a ‘polluter pays’ fee for 
those who discharge waste directly into the marine environment and a suggestion to also look at ways 
to give additional financial assistance to encourage growth in Recirculating Aquaculture Systems 
(RAS) farming and research. 

Forestry 
A number of presentations were made to the Committee regarding forestry and land-use planning. 
These included suggestions surrounding regulatory and pricing frameworks, access to international 
markets and information sharing practices. 

The Private Forest Landowners Association (PFLA), a non-profit organization representing managed 
forest owners across the province, presented in Nanaimo. They illustrated a number of opportunities 
for government to encourage the responsible stewardship of private forest lands. The PFLA 
recommended focusing efforts and funding on generating and maintaining a competitive, stable 
operating climate. They proposed this could be facilitated with the creation of a competitive 
regulatory framework, in order to provide certainty for B.C. producers who are competing with 
foreign jurisdictions. 

Other organizations also stressed the importance of allocating additional resources to sustainable and 
responsible timber-harvesting opportunities within the province. A leading manufacturer of a wide 
range of forest products for customers around the world, Tolko Industries Ltd., presented to the 
Committee by teleconference in Williams Lake. They identified a number of possibilities for 
encouraging environmentally responsible, sustainable and competitive forestry practices. In addition, 
they detailed a number of suggestions to improve the integrity of the market-based timber pricing 
system. Another key point brought to the Committee was the importance of providing resources to 
prepare for the extension and renegotiation of the Softwood Lumber Agreement. 

 
62



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 39 
Report, November 2015 

BC Wood Specialties Group, a not-for-profit trade association that represents B.C.’s value-added 
wood products industry, presented to the Committee in Surrey. On the topic of information sharing 
and improving good practice, they focused on the importance of providing relevant marketing, 
networking and business development services for the industry. A dominant suggestion was to 
explore the development of a single point of contact between government and the value-added sector.  

Mining 
British Columbia’s mineral exploration and mining industry is an integral part of the provincial 
economy.  According to 2013 data, the mining industry directly employs over 10,000 people and is 
the largest private sector employer of First Nations workers. A consistent message was presented 
across multiple submissions that recognized the importance of mining and mineral exploration 
programs and asked that government work with key representatives and industry to develop 
improved regulations and guidelines to ensure safe and environmentally sound mining practices.  

A number of submissions focused on the need to allocate adequate resources to ensure timely 
processing of all mining permits. The Mining Association of BC presented a written submission to 
the Committee reiterating the importance of focusing on policies and programs that reduce costs and 
provide certainty to the mining sector. Another focused request emerged from the Williams Lake and 
District Chamber of Commerce’s presentation to the Committee stating the need for expedited 
permits and approvals for two mining companies and employers in order to ensure continued 
production and allow for employee job retention. The important link between the timely issuing of 
mining permits with allowing sustained community and economic prosperity was highlighted in a 
number of submissions.  

Resource Communities 
Throughout the consultation process, the Committee heard requests from various individuals and 
organizations with respect to improving infrastructure to ensure effective and responsible resource 
development and maximize provincial growth. A common theme that emerged was the need for 
municipal government to collaborate with key partners, industry and First Nations in order to 
improve services and infrastructure, particularly with respect to the shipping and transportation 
industries, and especially in rural or isolated areas of the province. 

Relationship building with First Nations was a consistent focus that came through the submissions 
on natural resource policy development and was mentioned within suggestions to the Committee 
from across all regions of the province. The importance of effective partnerships on the development 
of a long-term infrastructure plan for the province was highlighted by the Association of Consulting 
Engineering Companies of B.C. (ACEC-BC). In Kamloops, the Committee heard from officials 
from the Kamloops Chamber of Commerce, who suggested a clear consultation, permitting and 

 
63



40 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

approval process should be developed to enable essential and timely government decisions to 
strengthen the natural resource sector. They highlighted the lack of current export infrastructure, 
giving as an example the current lack of a Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) export facility and oil 
pipelines and limited opportunities to export to Asian markets.  

In Richmond, representatives from the Northeast Resource Municipalities Coalition, whose members 
include seven northern B.C. municipalities, talked to the Committee about the importance of 
recognizing the rapid growth of the Northeast region. The LNG export terminal proposals, hydro 
and wind energy sites, logging, wood products manufacturing and agriculture are all important 
growth industries for this geographical area. Representatives from this coalition pointed out the 
importance of adequately supporting these significant areas of growth, increasing infrastructure and 
providing community services as top priorities to enable the increase of successful industrial activity. 

Conclusions 
The Committee received multiple submissions emphasizing the significance that investment into 
natural resource development allows for the sustained economic health of the province. In 
appreciation of these important linkages, the Committee makes a number of recommendations 
intended to bolster growth in this sector.  

Regarding agricultural initiatives, the Committee recommends the provision of strategic investment 
to allow for expansion of the Province’s ‘Buy Local’ program. A recommendation to partner with 
agriculture industry stakeholders to develop and implement a small grant program for farmers’ 
markets in rural and remote communities was also agreed upon by the Committee. Other local 
initiatives included for this sector was the Committee’s recommendation to provide expanded food 
programs for vulnerable populations. The Committee suggested that this could be improved by 
supporting school meal programs and school gardens, as well as school and community food literacy 
programs, in order to promote opportunities for strengthening direct linkages to local producers.  

Besides local agricultural incentives, the Committee also recommended support be given to new 
entrepreneurs who are pioneering Recirculating Aquaculture Systems (RAS) facilities throughout the 
province, though incentives such as targeted investment tax credits. 

Details were presented to the Committee surrounding the need to expand creative supports for the 
forest industry. These considerations are reflected in the Committee’s recommendation to develop 
strategies to sustain the B.C. forest industry and primary manufacturing facilities through the mid 
term. The Committee also specifically recommended ensuring adequate funding is provided to 
update inventories for forestry investments, while ensuring biodiversity and forest health is 
maintained.  

 
64



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 41 
Report, November 2015 

The Committee considered a range of submissions surrounding suggestions regarding facilitation of 
long-term mining and mineral exploitation opportunities in the province. They restated their 2013 
recommendations that government maintain mining and mineral tax credits for this sector, giving 
support to improved collaborative efforts between municipal and federal government and allowing 
for the development of policies to enhance provincial competitive capacity in this area. 

To facilitate natural resource development opportunities, the Committee recommends adequate 
resources be allocated to allow for stakeholder engagement in resource municipalities and rural areas. 
The Committee recommends ongoing, coordinated planning with industry, First Nations and 
municipal government and all other stakeholders in order to expand and improve the capacity of 
services and infrastructure in these areas. 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
45. Provide strategic investment and expansion of the Province’s “Buy Local” program and 

partner with industry stakeholders to develop implementation of a small grant program for 
farmer’s markets in rural and remote communities. (2013: #21 and 2014: #12) 

46. Provide expanded programs for vulnerable populations and support school meal programs, 
school gardens, and food literacy programs in the classroom and other community settings 
that promote opportunities to create direct linkages to local producers.  

47. Provide support for new entrepreneurs who are pioneering Recirculating Aquaculture 
Systems (RAS) facilities in the province through incentives, such as investment tax credits. 

48. Develop strategies to sustain forest health, the B.C. forest industry, and primary 
manufacturing facilities through the mid-term. (2014: #11) 

49. Provide adequate funding to update timber, flora and fauna inventories for forestry 
investments and to restore and maintain biodiversity and forest ecosystem health. 

50. Maintain tax credits for the mining industry and mineral exploration and collaborate with 
municipal, and federal counterparts to encourage policies that enhance B.C.’s competitive 
edge. (2013: #8) 

51. Work with all relevant stakeholders to develop regulation and guidelines to ensure safe and 
environmentally sound mining practices. 

52. Engage in ongoing, coordinated planning with industry, First Nations and municipal 
government and all other stakeholders to expand and improve the capacity of services and 
infrastructure in resource municipalities and rural areas. 

 

  

 
65



42 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Sport, Culture and Arts 

The wide range of sport, culture and arts services and programs across the province is reflected in the 
diversity of submissions received under this theme. The 20-plus submissions received on this area 
covered a multitude of topics, including fine arts support, infrastructure, music and video, sports and 
recreational interests. The importance of providing rich and varied opportunities in this sector and 
the potential for attracting immediate and longer term investment in the province are emphasized in 
the bulk of the submissions received. The Committee recognizes the significant economic and social 
benefits that sport, culture and the arts bring to communities across British Columbia. 

Across the province, submissions were received that focused on the relevance of provincial grants 
support for this sector. Recognizing the importance of continued grants for underpinning sustainable 
communities, along with associated interconnected economic benefits was a key theme that prevailed 
throughout the majority of these submissions. 

Arts Funding and Support 
Arts and culture programs educate and inspire in a variety of ways, enhancing quality of life and 
providing vibrancy to communities across the province. The Committee received numerous 
submissions outlining the importance of this sector and its role in attracting new residents and 
leveraging investment in the B.C. economy.  

Government invests over $60 million each year on artists and arts and culture organizations through 
a variety of grant programs and initiatives. Several key organizations that promote arts and culture 
enterprises across the province submitted requests communicating the value that increased 
investment for the arts would bring to the province. The BC Alliance for Arts and Culture, 
representing organizations, professional associations, not-for-profit groups, artists and cultural 
workers throughout B.C., presented to the Committee in Vancouver. Their presentation endorsed a 
request for the grant budget of BC Arts Council to be increased to $32 million, with a longer-term 
planned increase to $40 million, stating this would allow existing demand for programs to be 
addresses while activating associated economic and social benefits. The potential for making B.C. 
more competitive for this sector, within a national context, was also emphasized. 

Other organizations and individuals also commented on the value associated with investing in an arts 
and culture facilities infrastructure program. A significant number of the submissions urged multiple- 
year funding be allocated to arts, culture and heritage, with distinct consideration given to expanding 
the Community Gaming Grant levels and providing incremental increases as gaming funds increase. 
The Art Gallery of Greater Victoria presented to the Committee in Victoria, outlining the specific 
need for funding contributions for the modernization and restoration of its facility and buildings. 

 
66



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 43 
Report, November 2015 

Music Canada submitted a written report to the Committee detailing the currently underutilized 
potential to encourage music tourism and additional foreign investment. They outlined the 
opportunities for B.C., showing ways that improved policy and grants programs could ignite B.C.’s 
music economy and enable associated economic benefits.  

Public Libraries 
B.C.’s 71 public libraries host almost 58 million visits to libraries and their websites every year, with 
3,400 computers available for public use. Written submissions to the Committee were received from 
libraries in three main geographical areas of the province: Vancouver, Prince George and Lillooet.  

All submissions detailed the benefits of restoring the separate library line item in the forthcoming 
budget, in order to provide a transparent accounting of library funding and to signal a public 
recognition of the unique role public libraries play in the province. Consensus in all submissions 
sought additional investment in this area, with a call to demonstrate a commitment to stable, 
ongoing funding for B.C. libraries. 

The Vancouver Public Library elaborated on their suggestions with a proposition for the Committee 
to expand the provision of publicly-funded library services for First Nations communities, instead of 
having to rely on the services available through non-charitable public library services. 

Sports 
The Committee heard from organizations representing Aboriginal sports and recreation, amateur-
level, adaptive sports interests and golf. Submissions emphasized the strengths that sport, recreation 
and physical activity bring to community development and preventative health. 

The Aboriginal Sport, Recreation and Physical Activity Partners Council illustrated the positive 
impact that investments had made for Aboriginal sport, specifically in advancing the objectives laid 
out in the Aboriginal Sport, Recreation and Physical Activity Strategy. Since 2011, 11 new provincial 
programs have been set up, 1,465 events have been held, and almost 50,000 participants have been 
involved in activities relating to this initiative. They asked for continued support for this provincial 
strategy to enable extended engagement with First nations, Metis Chartered Communities, and 
Aboriginal Friendship Centres in the design and delivery of community based programs. 

Golf BC presented to the Committee in Kamloops and discussed the benefits that increased funding 
in sports tourism could bring and the wider positive impact this could facilitate from an economic 
perspective. 

 
67



44 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Conclusions 
The Committee acknowledges the significant social and economic benefits associated with the 
provision of a vibrant and dynamic arts, sports and cultural sector for the province. To reaffirm this 
importance, the Committee recommended increased investment in the arts, including dedicated 
multiple-year funding commitments to this sector. More specifically, the Committee recommended 
the grant budget of the BC Arts Council be increased, and recommended investment in a distinct 
cultural facilities capital infrastructure program. 

Elaborating on the idea of incentives to enable the sustained growth of this sector, the Committee 
also suggests government consider restoring Community Gaming Grant levels to the amounts that 
were provided in 2008, as well as planning for incremental increases, in line with any future increases 
in gaming funds. 

After reviewing the submissions from key library representatives across the province, the Committee 
recommended ongoing stable and consistent funding for public libraries, requesting that government 
restore the separate public services library line item in the coming budget. In keeping with this focus, 
the Committee suggested that the specific library needs of First Nations communities on reserve be 
explored, including looking at increasing capacity for the provision of books by mail and bookmobile 
options. 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
53. Increase investment in the arts, including multiple-year funding commitments to arts, culture 

and heritage funding, increase the grant budget of the BC Arts Council and invest in a cultural 
facilities capital infrastructure program. (2013: #51 and 2014: #47) 

54. Restore Community Gaming Grants levels to 2008 levels and provide incremental increases as 
gaming funds increase. (2013: #52 and 2014: #47) 

55. Commit to stable, ongoing funding for B.C. public libraries and restore the separate public 
library services line item in the budget to provide transparent accounting of library funding. 
(2013: #28) 

56. Explore the provision of publicly funded library services for First Nations communities on 
reserve, including books by mail and bookmobile services. 

 

 

 
68



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 45 
Report, November 2015 

Transportation and Transit 

Transportation and infrastructure received a high priority from feedback emerging from the public 
survey, with many respondents indicating a wish to see continued investment into roads, highways 
and bridges in the province. The improvement of vital infrastructure is a key goal included in a 
number of submissions to the Committee, with representatives from Chamber of Commerce 
organizations, Board of Trades and other organizations presenting on this topic.  

The majority of submissions received by the Committee were from organizations operating within 
and individuals living in the Lower Mainland and Vancouver Island, with a smaller number of 
submissions from the more northern, rural and Island communities across the province. The 
interconnectivity with transportation, natural resources, housing and economic development was also 
evident within many submissions. 

BC Ferries 
Representatives from organizations across both coastal and interior communities made submissions 
regarding BC Ferries, describing how their services provide an important and essential piece of 
provincial transportation infrastructure. Four submissions were received by the Committee with 
ferries featuring as a focal point, all of which detailed specific requests for additional subsidies for BC 
Ferries for minor routes. The Texada Island service and schedule was specifically mentioned, as were 
more northern services, such as the Discovery Coast ferry route.  

The Greater Victoria Chamber of Commerce substantiated the concern for the northern and minor 
routes of BC Ferries. They presented to the Committee in Victoria, stating that minor and northern 
routes are continuing to operate at a loss and are therefore in an untenable position, leaving the 
providers with little choice but to further increase fares, which will in turn discourage travel. They 
also recommended that the subsidy to northern and minor routes be increased, allowing more 
affordable ferry travel and ensuring a sustainable service for the future. 

The written submission by the Islands Trust, which represents islands and waters between southern 
Vancouver Island and the mainland, demonstrated examples of the negative impact high ferry fares 
are having for residents and businesses. Islands Trust acknowledged the work that has been done to 
achieve the BC Ferries price cap for 2016 – 2020, though they stress fee reductions are essential in 
order to compensate for past increases that have driven down ridership. They suggested that a well-
advertised drop in fares would attract more customers to the ferry system and bolster B.C.’s economy. 

 
69



46 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Cycling 
Several submissions detailed the importance of promoting cycling, suggesting this is an area with 
huge potential to grow and thus provide B.C. communities with more affordable transportation 
choices and increased economic and health benefits for the province. The British Columbia Cycling 
Coalition (BCCC) presented to the Committee in Richmond with their suggestions for developing a 
comprehensive Active Transportation Strategy including infrastructure, Super Cycleways and electric 
bicycles. The BC Healthy Living Alliance (BCHLA) also supported the benefits to the province of 
creating a Provincial Active Transportation Strategy, giving examples of how this is already being 
developed in other provinces, including Quebec, Ontario and Nova Scotia.  

The BCCC asserted that with sufficient investment and policy support, cycling and walking can 
become practical options for many more people, leading to significantly improved fitness, reduced 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and traffic congestion and fatalities. They propose that with 
additional investment in this area, it will be possible to further increase tourism, reduce health care 
costs, increase workplace productivity, attract talented workers and reduce the societal costs of traffic 
fatalities and injuries. The BCCC report suggests that many people want to cycle more, with 
approximately 65 percent indicating they would ride more if there were separated bike lanes that 
protected cyclists from traffic.  

Public Transit 
Specific transit issues were highlighted during the consultation period, with the majority of the 
individuals and organizations vocalizing support for the importance of providing long-term, stable 
funding for critical and new public transit projects. Some individuals specifically asked for special 
lanes for mass transit vehicles to be incorporated into highway planning in the province. The 
Victoria-based Make Transit Work Coalition called for the removal of the three year limitations on 
funding for BC Transit, and also requested consideration be given to reviewing the BC Transit 
operating grant system. Other individuals suggested it would be good practice to be cautious in 
recommending any detailed alterations to revenue and funding for BC Transit until the results of the 
ongoing government audit is made public. 

The need to address rapid transit investment requirements was highlighted in numerous submissions 
to the Committee. Many organizations and groups situated in the Lower Mainland focused on the 
importance of targeting development in advance of the plan to invest in rapid transit in Surrey and 
along the Broadway corridor.  

Transportation, Transit and Infrastructure Funding 
The Committee heard from a number of organizations throughout the duration of the consultation 
period that acknowledged the importance of continued and sustained investment in transportation 

 
70



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 47 
Report, November 2015 

infrastructure across the province. Many organizations highlighted the interconnectivity of successful 
infrastructure and transit planning with sustained economic prosperity.  

The Urban Development Institute (UDI), a national non-profit association representing land 
developers and related professions, presented a written submission to the Committee. They reiterated 
the importance of transportation and transit investments including links to housing affordability and 
economic prosperity. The UDI recommended prioritizing transit investment, especially in urban 
areas, while stressing the importance of effectively coordinating strategic planning initiatives. They 
recommended that transit infrastructure investments be coordinated with municipal and regional 
land use planning.  

Presenters and submissions from across the province discussed the infrastructure deficits being faced 
by local municipalities. Specific infrastructure developments that were mentioned as requiring 
continued investment in the Lower Mainland included the Roberts Bank project, the George Massey 
Tunnel replacement and capacity research into additional Fraser River rail crossings. One submission 
was also made to the Committee requesting support for a feasibility study for a bridge link to replace 
the ferry system for Gabriola Island. 

Further north in the province, several presenters discussed the importance of strengthening northwest 
gateway routes. The Fort Nelson and District Chamber of Commerce, who represent over 200 of the 
Northern Rockies Regional municipality’s small and medium sized businesses, spoke to the 
Committee about the opportunities available to the Province with regards to the plans for Liquefied 
Natural Gas (LNG) expansion. They brought a number of suggestions to the Committee for 
supporting economic growth, including a request to prioritize funding to improve Highway 97 from 
Fort St John to Fort Nelson, a route that already requires essential maintenance and upgrades and, 
they said, is likely to see additional traffic pressures to coincide with the economic growth of this 
region. 

The Quesnel and District Chamber of Commerce also spoke to the Committee about the need to 
improve transportation infrastructure and sustaining natural resource opportunities in the northern 
communities such as the Cariboo. Among their suggestions was the request to construct an east-west 
connector road to bypass the centre of Quesnel, improving safety and enabling more effective 
transportation links for the region. 

Conclusions 
The Committee recognizes the importance of well-planned and supported transportation, transit and 
infrastructure projects which can have a positive effect on short- and long-term economic prospects. 
Acknowledging the challenges faced by island communities, the Committee recommends a review of 
ferry schedules and fares, to investigate opportunities for adjustments based on social and economic 

 
71



48 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

impacts. On the topic of cycling, the Committee calls for government to invest in improvements to 
expand cycling infrastructure. This strategy is aimed at promoting healthy and sustainable 
transportation choices across the province, including support for improved levels of cycling safety 
awareness. 

In keeping with the focus on expanding transportation options, the Committee presents a 
recommendation to commit to increased and consistent funding for public transit and transit 
infrastructure, and the improvement of services in urban and rural areas across the province.  

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
57. Undertake a review of changes made to BC Ferries schedules and fares in 2014 to look for 

opportunities for adjustments based on social and economic impacts. 
58. Invest in improvements to expand cycling infrastructure, promote cycling as an alternative 

transportation model and to increase cycling safety awareness and education among cyclists 
and drivers. 

59. Commit to increased funding for public transit to provide improved services in urban centres 
and rural areas. (2014: #51) 

60. Work to secure long-term, stable funding for transportation and transit infrastructure 
improvements. (2014: #51) 

 

 

  

 
72



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 49 
Report, November 2015 

Public Safety 

A smaller number of submissions were presented to the Committee this year focusing on public 
safety. Distinct suggestions were made surrounding policing and areas for additional training, 
focusing on early intervention and the need for local community courts.  

Earthquake and emergency preparedness were also included as a distinct focus, with specific examples 
put forward to the Committee concerning how individuals and organizations could be better 
prepared to deal in the event of a natural disaster. Submissions on these topics highlighted 
mechanisms for improving resiliency, adaptability and confidence in public safety. 

Alternative Justice and Legal Aid 
The John Howard Society of the Central and South Okanagan (JHSCSO) presented to the 
Committee in Kelowna and put forward suggestions related to community courts and the provision 
of funds to support agencies that provide mental health and addiction services, services for seniors, 
legal support and advocacy. The JHSCSO is a social service organization based in Kelowna, with 
well-established professional working relationships with the criminal justice system, government and 
the not-for-profit sector.  

JHSCO stressed the need for annual funding for local community courts with a focus on mental 
health services. With adequate planning and resources, they stated it would be possible to divert 
many people from the regular court system. JHSCO proposed that provision of funding for 
restorative justice models and improved access to legal aid or similar justice initiatives would be a 
cost-effective, efficient way to reduce the prison population and help people become productive and 
fully-engaged citizens in their communities. 

Natural Disasters and Emergency Preparedness 
The Insurance Bureau of Canada (IBC) presented to the Committee in Richmond. They advocate on 
behalf of Canada’s private property and casualty insurance companies. An integral part of their work 
involves engaging in coordinated preparation for, and response to, natural disasters. The IBC pointed 
out that one of the largest threats facing the insurance industry in B.C. is the potential impact of a 
major earthquake. IBC consumer awareness polls indicate that despite this very real threat, the 
majority of British Columbians do not believe that a major earthquake will hit the area in which they 
live in their lifetime and, further, these individuals overestimate their financial readiness for such an 
event. 

The IBC drew attention to the need for increased investment in activities that promote awareness of 
earthquake and wildfire risk, and to ensure that individuals in these high risk areas are adequately 

 
73



50 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

prepared for these eventualities. In addition, the IBC suggest an additional focus should be placed on 
improving wastewater and storm water infrastructure to improve resiliency to extreme weather 
conditions. 

Policing 
B.C. has diverse communities with their own individual needs for policing. A number of written 
submissions were made to the Committee from individuals and organizations, all requesting 
additional funding, but for very specific areas within the province.  

The BC Cattlemen’s Association stated there was a need for a Royal Canadian Mounted Police 
(RCMP) livestock position and the City of Terrace called for an increased compliment of RCMP 
members and administrative positions across the northwest. The City of Terrace reported that there 
has been no increase in Provincial Policing Resources for the unincorporated areas serviced out of the 
Terrace RCMP detachment in over 30 years. They highlight the expected growth of the region over 
the next five to ten years due to the expansion of resource development, linking the essential need to 
support this growth and provide responsible policing resources for the area. 

Conclusions 
The Committee added their support to the request for providing funding for mental health courts 
and restorative justice models, and recognized the need for improved access to legal aid for all British 
Columbians. The Committee appreciated possibilities created by increased funding in this area to 
improve the cost effectiveness for early intervention strategies and the importance of equipping 
communities with more effective crime prevention techniques. 

On the topic of emergency preparedness, the Committee unanimously agreed on the importance of 
maximizing and improving resiliency for climate-related extreme weather events, to help ensure 
British Columbians are prepared in the event of a natural disaster. The Committee advocated for the 
need to increase investment in activities that promote awareness of earthquake, flooding and wildfire 
risks in regions throughout the province. Incorporated in this recommendation was the focus on 
expanding initiatives that promote the adoption of FireSmart practices for vulnerable communities, 
as well as providing increased funding for waste and storm water infrastructure. The intention behind 
these recommendations is to improve the resiliency and preparedness in communities that may be at 
risk of such potentially devastating events. 

  

 
74



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 51 
Report, November 2015 

Recommendations 
The Committee recommends to the Legislative Assembly that the provincial government: 

Recommendations 
61. Provide funding for mental health courts, alternative/restorative justice models, and expanded 

access to legal aid and to justice initiatives in communities. (2013: #71 and 2014: #42) 
62. Increase investment in activities that help communities prepare for earthquake, flooding and 

wildfire risk, and promote the adoption of FireSmart practices in areas susceptible to wildfires. 
(2013: #65) 

63. Provide increased funding for wastewater/storm water infrastructure to improve resiliency for 
extreme weather events associated with climate change. (2013: #66) 

 

 

 
75



52 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Summary of Recommendations 

Topics within the report reflect the magnitude of recommendations received and are displayed from 
the most to the fewest, according to the overall number of submissions (including in-person 
presentations and written or video submissions) received related to a particular topic. Sub-topics 
within topics are organized alphabetically and the recommendation(s) for each topic are ordered to 
align with the alphabetical organization of the sub-themes. The order of recommendations in the 
report is not intended to suggest priority. 

A number of recommendations included in this report are ones that the Committee wishes to 
reiterate from budget consultation reports that relate to the Budget 2014 and 2015 Consultation 
processes. References to recommendations from previous years’ reports are noted in parentheses at the 
end of each recommendation, including year and recommendation number. Feedback and 
submissions received during this year’s consultation process provided information that substantiates 
the reiteration of these recommendations as they address issues that remain on the minds of British 
Columbians.  

The Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services recommends to the Legislative 
Assembly of British Columbia that the provincial government: 

K-12 Education 
1. Provide adequate capital funding to school districts for facility improvements, seismic 

upgrades and additional schools in rapidly-growing communities. (2013: #25 and 2014: #23) 
2. Provide stable, sustainable and adequate funding to enable school districts to fulfil their 

responsibility to continue to provide access to quality public education, with recognition of 
the increased costs that school districts have incurred. (2014: #22) 

3. Review the Ministry of Education funding formula for programs and services, as well as 
administrative staff compensation levels to ensure adequate and competitive compensation. 

Advanced Education 
4. Restore full and sustained funding to the Adult Basic Education (ABE) and English as a 

Second Language (ESL) programs.4 (2013: #40 and 2014: #32) 
5. Provide funding support for capital projects related to infrastructure and equipment, such as 

building maintenance, renovations and projects related to seismic and efficiency upgrades. 
(2013: #25 and 2014: #29) 

6. Recommit to the MOU signed with SFU and the Province on March 10, 2006 to double the 
size of SFU Surrey from 2,500 to 5,000 student FTEs by 2015. (2013: #33) 

                                                            
4 This recommendation also relates to the K-12 Education topic in this report. 

 
76



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 53 
Report, November 2015 

7. Address legislative, policy or other impediments that currently limit post-secondary 
institutions from financing self-supported capital projects. (2013: #31 and 2014: #31) 

8. Undertake a comprehensive review of the post-secondary funding formula so that regional 
inequities and core funding for the system as a whole are adequately addressed. (2013: #30 
and 2014: #30) 

9. Provide support to enable more open source ancillary teaching materials and textbooks to be 
made available online to post-secondary research institutions, such as through the BC Open 
Textbook Program. 

10. Provide multi-year annual funding of $2.5 million to continue coordinated community 
literacy work.5 (2013: #29 and 2014: #46) 

11. Increase operating grants to post-secondary institutions to address unfunded cost pressures and 
move to multi-year allotments for operating grants and deferred maintenance grants to help 
these institutions with their financial planning. (2014: #27, #28) 

12. Commit to a multi-year investment plan to build capacity and meet demand for urgently-
required skills training. (2013: #34) 

13. Establish a student grant program that addresses student needs and provides incentives for 
completion and review the interest charged on B.C. student loans and review existing 
eligibility requirements for student loans. (2013: #37, #38 and 2014: #34, #35) 

Fiscal Policy 
14. Remain committed to balanced budgets and continued debt reduction. (2013: #1, #2 and 

2014: #1, #2) 
15. Consider a plan to apply the carbon tax to measurable carbon emissions which are currently 

omitted from coverage. (2014: #5) 
16. Make the temporary deferment of the preferential provincial tax rate for BC-based credit 

unions (and B.C.-based operations of national credit union organizations) permanent. (2013: 
#9 and 2014: #7) 

17. Review the Property Transfer Tax to look for opportunities to assist first-time homebuyers. 
(2013: #10 and 2014: #6) 

18. Take measures to mitigate the effects of property speculation on housing affordability. (2014: 
#6) 

19. Review the Provincial Sales Tax (PST) to address any existing anomalies that relate to business 
capital investment. (2013: #3 and 2014: #3) 

20. Work with Genome BC and the federal government to identify ways to leverage and attract 
funding from the private sector and international sources necessary to support a five-year 
genomics research and development program. (2014: #53)  

                                                            
5 This recommendation also relates to the K-12 Education topic in this report. 

 
77



54 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

21. Work with the life sciences and technology sectors and the federal government, through the 
Venture Capital Action Plan and other mechanisms, to create a pool of venture capital that 
can leverage additional private sector capital for early stage companies. (2014: #52) 

Health 
22. Expand support and funding for a broad range of hospice care and bereavement programs to 

ensure that these services are available to British Columbians and their families. (2013: #46) 
23. Expand the current Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine school-based program to include 

equal protection for all boys and young men. 
24. Conduct a broad review of the Medical Services Plan (MSP) premiums, including threshold 

levels, comparisons to other jurisdictions, costs of administering the program, and alternatives. 
25. Improve and expand access to mental health and addictions services, including better 

coordination of services and dedicated initiatives for early intervention and prevention. (2013: 
#45) 

26. Ensure that a coordinated, effective and responsive system is in place for children and youth 
who face mental health challenges, including early intervention strategies. (2014: #17) 

27. Explore the implementation of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages to counteract potential 
health concerns associated with the consumption of these beverages, including obesity and 
diabetes, and ensure that any resulting revenues are directed to help support and promote 
healthy living. (2013: #50 and 2014: #19) 

28. Review the cost-effectiveness and efficacy of providing coverage of non-physician health 
services and greater utilization of nurse practitioners. 

29. Take additional measures to train and recruit health care professionals and develop incentives 
for them to remain in or locate to rural and remote communities.6 (2013: #42 and 2014: #15) 

Environment 
30. Increase funding for BC Parks and protected areas management, maintenance and provide 

more park rangers. 
31. Provide strategic supports and investment for the further development of clean and renewable 

energy technologies, low carbon infrastructure and ecosystem and biodiversity restoration. 
32. Embrace a clean energy and energy conservation strategy and build upon the success of the 

clean energy sector and programs (e.g. LiveSmart BC and Innovative Clean Energy Fund) to 
enable B.C. economic development, with prominent participation by First Nations. (2013: 
#64 and 2014: #54) 

33. Ensure sufficient funding for the proactive prevention and management of invasive species and 
noxious weeds and update existing legislation, where applicable, to prohibit the sale of invasive 
species and plants. (2013: #63 and 2014: #57) 

                                                            
6 This recommendation also relates to the Advanced Education topic in this report. 
 

 
78



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 55 
Report, November 2015 

Social Services 
34. Provide funding and support for the development and implementation of an affordable 

childcare plan. (2013: #57 and 2014: #40) 
35. Work alongside municipalities and the federal government to invest directly in public housing 

and to gather research and data to better understand the housing affordability issue and its 
socioeconomic impacts. (2013: #60 and 2014: #41) 

36. Examine opportunities to support and increase the existing stock of affordable housing, 
including social housing and co-ops. 

37. Encourage provincial leadership through a cross-ministerial initiative to bring together various 
ministries and B.C. Housing to identify and address the funding gaps within the current 
homelessness intervention landscape. 

38. Increase funding for transition houses, crisis centres and multicultural centres that provide 
services to those who are affected by domestic violence and abuse. (2013: #50) 

39. Review current income assistance and disability assistance (PWD) rates and consider increases 
to reflect the cost of living in B.C., including housing and rental accommodations. (2013: #61 
and 2014: #37, 38) 

40. Recommend that the Ministry of Health initiate discussions with the Ministry of Social 
Development and Social Innovation to improve dental care for ministry clients, including 
preventative care and dental health education. 

41. Improve access to Ministry of Social Development and Social Innovation services and 
resources by providing more in-person support to augment telephone and online service 
delivery models to ensure that those in need can gain timely and efficient access. 

42. Explore the option to strike an all-party parliamentary committee to develop a comprehensive 
and integrated poverty reduction strategy, including legislated timelines and targets for the 
reduction of poverty (including child poverty) and homelessness in B.C. (2013: #62 and 
2014: #37) 

43. Adjust the SAFER grant formula to reflect CMHC average market rents to ensure equitability 
across B.C. and investigate opportunities to facilitate automatic enrollment for seniors who 
qualify for this program. 

44. Explore the possibility of creating a homeowner expense deferral account to assist seniors with 
ongoing maintenance of their homes and to maintain residency in their homes. 

Natural Resources 
45. Provide strategic investment and expansion of the Province’s “Buy Local” program and 

partner with industry stakeholders to develop implementation of a small grant program for 
farmer’s markets in rural and remote communities. (2013: #21 and 2014: #12) 

46. Provide expanded programs for vulnerable populations and support school meal programs, 
school gardens, and food literacy programs in the classroom and other community settings 
that promote opportunities to create direct linkages to local producers.  

 
79



56 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

47. Provide support for new entrepreneurs who are pioneering Recirculating Aquaculture Systems 
(RAS) facilities in the province through incentives, such as investment tax credits. 

48. Develop strategies to sustain forest health, the B.C. forest industry, and primary 
manufacturing facilities through the mid-term. (2014: #11) 

49. Provide adequate funding to update timber, flora and fauna inventories for forestry 
investments and to restore and maintain biodiversity and forest ecosystem health. 

50. Maintain tax credits for the mining industry and mineral exploration and collaborate with 
municipal, and federal counterparts to encourage policies that enhance B.C.’s competitive 
edge. (2013: #8) 

51. Work with all relevant stakeholders to develop regulation and guidelines to ensure safe and 
environmentally sound mining practices. 

52. Engage in ongoing, coordinated planning with industry, First Nations and municipal 
government and all other stakeholders to expand and improve the capacity of services and 
infrastructure in resource municipalities and rural areas. 

Sport, Culture and Arts 
53. Increase investment in the arts, including multiple-year funding commitments to arts, culture 

and heritage funding, increase the grant budget of the BC Arts Council and invest in a cultural 
facilities capital infrastructure program. (2013: #51 and 2014: #47) 

54. Restore Community Gaming Grants levels to 2008 levels and provide incremental increases as 
gaming funds increase. (2013: #52 and 2014: #47) 

55. Commit to stable, ongoing funding for B.C. public libraries and restore the separate public 
library services line item in the budget to provide transparent accounting of library funding. 
(2013: #28) 

56. Explore the provision of publicly funded library services for First Nations communities on 
reserve, including books by mail and bookmobile services. 

Transportation and Transit 
57. Undertake a review of changes made to BC Ferries schedules and fares in 2014 to look for 

opportunities for adjustments based on social and economic impacts. 
58. Invest in improvements to expand cycling infrastructure, promote cycling as an alternative 

transportation model and to increase cycling safety awareness and education among cyclists 
and drivers. 

59. Commit to increased funding for public transit to provide improved services in urban centres 
and rural areas. (2014: #51) 

60. Work to secure long-term, stable funding for transportation and transit infrastructure 
improvements. (2014: #51) 

 
80



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 57 
Report, November 2015 

Public Safety 
61. Provide funding for mental health courts, alternative/restorative justice models, and expanded 

access to legal aid and to justice initiatives in communities. (2013: #71 and 2014: #42) 
62. Increase investment in activities that help communities prepare for earthquake, flooding and 

wildfire risk, and promote the adoption of FireSmart practices in areas susceptible to wildfires. 
(2013: #65) 

63. Provide increased funding for wastewater/storm water infrastructure to improve resiliency for 
extreme weather events associated with climate change. (2013: #66) 

  

 
81



58 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Appendix A: Public Hearing Witnesses 

Abbotsford Community Services, Neil Stark, Rod Santiago 
(30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Abbotsford Hospice Society, Gaëtan Royer, Angel Elias, 
Bruce Kirk (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

Aboriginal Sport, Recreation and Physical Activity Partners 
Council, Northwest Regional Sport and Physical 
Activity Committee, Corinne McKay (30-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Aboriginal Sports, Recreation and Physical Activity 
Partners Council, Garrett Elliott (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Advocis (Financial Advisors Association of Canada), Rob 
Bauml (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

Allied Golf Association of BC, Trevor Smith (14-Sep-15, 
Kamloops) 

Altentech Power, et al., Paul Adams, Larry Taylor (30-Sep-
15, Victoria) 

Alzheimer Society of British Columbia, Barbara Lindsay, 
Maria Howard (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

AMS of UBC Vancouver, Jude Crasta (15-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Art Gallery of Greater Victoria, Jon Tupper, Ruth 
Wittenberg (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Association for Mineral Exploration British Columbia, 
Gavin Dirom, Glen Wonders (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Association of Administrative and Professional Staff at 
UBC, Joey Hansen, Lia Cosco (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

B.C. Government and Service Employees' Union, 
Stephanie Smith, Simon Kelly (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

B.C. Schizophrenia Society, Sharon Evans (16-Sep-15, 
Castlegar) 

B.C. Schizophrenia Society, Terrace, Dolly Hall (30-Sep-
15, Victoria) 

B.C. Schizophrenia Society, Williams Lake, Cindy 
Charleyboy (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

BC Agriculture Council, Reg Ens, Stan Vander Waal (13-
Oct-15, Surrey) 

BC Alliance for Arts and Culture, Rob Gloor (21-Sep-15, 
Vancouver) 

BC Assn for Child Development and Intervention, Jason 
Gordon (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

BC Association of Farmers' Markets, Elizabeth Quinn, Jon 
Bell (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

BC Bioenergy Network, Michael Weedon, Marnie Plant 
(14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

BC Colleges, Lane Trotter, Colin Ewart (13-Oct-15, 
Surrey) 

BC Food Processors Association, James Donaldson, James 
Pratt (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

BC Fruit Growers' Association, Fred Steele, Glen Lucas 
(14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

BC Healthy Living Alliance, Mary Collins (7-Oct-15, 
Victoria) 

BC Public Interest Advocacy Centre, Lobat Sadrehashemi 
(13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

BC Salmon Farmers Association, Jeremy Dunn (21-Sep-
15, Vancouver) 

BC Wood Specialties Group, Brian Hawrysh (13-Oct-15, 
Surrey) 

BCIT Student Association, Sameer Ismail, Dylan Smith 
(14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

BCSPCA, Craig Daniell, Melinda Mennie (15-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Big Brothers Big Sisters, Rhonda Brown (7-Oct-15, 
Victoria) 

Board of Education, School District 20 (Kootenay-
Columbia), Rosann Brunton (16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 

Board of Education, School District No. 36 (Surrey), 
Wayne D. Noye, Shawn Wilson (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

Board of Education, School District No. 38 (Richmond), 
Mark De Mello, Eric Yung (28-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Board of Education, School District No. 39 (Vancouver), 
Fraser Ballantyne, Janet Fraser, Patti Bacchus (21-Sep-
15, Vancouver) 

Board of Education, School District No. 43 (Coquitlam), 
Kerri Palmer Isaak (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

Board of Education, School District No. 57 (Prince 
George), Brenda Hooker, Tony Cable, Bob Harris, 
Bruce Wiebe, Allan Reed (29-Sep-15, Prince George) 

Board of Education, School District No. 60 (Peace River 
North), Doug Boyd, Bill Shaw (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 

British Columbia Association of Kinesiologists, Hardip 
Jhaj (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

British Columbia Chamber of Commerce, Jon Garson, 
Dan Baxter (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

 
82



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 59 
Report, November 2015 

British Columbia Chiropractic Association, Dr. Jay 
Robinson, Rick Nickelchok (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

British Columbia Cycling Coalition, Richard Campbell 
(14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

British Columbia Dental Association, Peter Lobb (15-Sep-
15, Victoria) 

British Columbia Integrated Youth Services Initiative, 
Steven Mathias (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

British Columbia Lung Association, Scott McDonald (28-
Sep-15, Victoria) 

British Columbia Principals' and Vice-Principals' 
Association, Gordon Li (28-Sep-15, Victoria) 

British Columbia Real Estate Association, Deanna Horn, 
Damian Stathonikos (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

British Columbia School Trustees Association, Teresa 
Rezansoff (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

British Columbia Teachers' Federation, Jim Iker (17-Sep-
15, Nanaimo) 

Burnaby Board of Trade, Cory Redekop, Paul Holden (14-
Oct-15, Richmond) 

Business Council of British Columbia, Ken Peacock (14-
Oct-15, Richmond) 

Camosun College Student Society, Andrea Eggenberger, 
Michael Glover (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Canada's Research-Based Pharmaceutical Companies 
(Rx&D), John Willow, Jo-Anne Stuart Chatterley (7-
Oct-15, Victoria) 

Canadian Bar Association, British Columbia Branch, 
Jennifer Chow (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

Canadian Cancer Society, BC and Yukon, Barbara 
Kaminsky, Khairun Jivani (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

Canadian Diabetes Association, Serge Corbeil, Colin 
Mallet, Jan Hux (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Canadian Federation of Independent Business, Richard 
Truscott (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Canadian Federation of Students, British Columbia, 
Steven Beasley, Megan Marshall (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Canadian Fuels Association, Brian Ahearn (15-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Canadian Mental Health Association, British Columbia 
Division, Beverley Gutray, Jonny Morris (21-Sep-15, 
Vancouver) 

Canadian Mental Health Association, Kamloops Branch, 
Christa Mullaly (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Canadian Mental Health Association, Prince George 
Branch, Maureen Davis (29-Sep-15, Prince George) 

Canadian Taxpayers Federation, Jordan Bateman (13-Oct-
15, Surrey) 

Capilano Students' Union, Taylor Wilson (21-Sep-15, 
Vancouver) 

Castlegar Hospice Society, Suzanne Lehbauer (16-Sep-15, 
Castlegar) 

Central 1 Credit Union, Helmut Pastrick, Don Wright 
(21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Chartered Professional Accountants of BC, Richard Rees, 
Dr. Heather Banham (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Childhood Obesity Foundation, Dr. Tom Warshawski 
(16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

City of Kelowna, Paul Macklem (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 
City of Quesnel, Mayor Bob Simpson (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 
Clean Energy Association of BC, Paul Kariya (13-Oct-15, 

Surrey) 
Clean Energy Canada, Jeremy Moorhouse (28-Sep-15, 

Victoria) 
Coalition of Child Care Advocates of BC, Sharon Gregson 

(28-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Coast Capital Savings Credit Union, John Groves (14-Oct-

15, Richmond) 
Coastal Community Credit Union, Adrian Legin (17-Sep-

15, Nanaimo) 
Coastal Invasive Species Committee, Rachelle McElroy 

(30-Sep-15, Victoria) 
College of New Caledonia, Henry Reiser (29-Sep-15, 

Prince George) 
College of the Rockies, David Walls (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 
Columbia Basin Alliance for Literacy, Betty Knight, Cheryl 

Lenardon (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 
Columbia Basin Alliance for Literacy, Barb Szuta, Joan 

Exley (16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 
Confederation of University Faculty Associations of British 

Columbia, Dr. Doug Baer, Dr. Michael Conlon (21-
Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Co-operative Housing Federation of B.C., Darren Kitchen, 
Thom Armstrong (16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 

David Suzuki Foundation, Ian Bruce, Kyle Aben (21-Sep-
15, Vancouver) 

Dawson Creek Literacy Now, Michele Mobley (30-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Decoda Literacy Solutions, Brenda Le Clair, Leona Gadsby 
(28-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Sheryl Demers (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

 
83



60 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Douglas Students' Union, Ruab Waraich, Tracy Ho (21-
Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Emily Carr Students' Union, Alia Hijaab, Lori 
MacDonald, Gloria Han (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Ending Violence Association of B.C., Kate Rossiter (13-
Oct-15, Surrey) 

Enterprise Rent-A-Car, Stephen Wilk, Mike Tierney (14-
Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Envision Financial, A Division of First West Credit Union, 
Shelley Besse (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Families Against Cuts to Education, Jennifer Stewart, 
Marlene Rodgers, Catherine Shaw, Heather Legal, 
Carrie Bercic (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Federation of Community Social Services of B.C., Rick 
FitzZaland (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of BC, Dr. George 
Davison (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

FIOSA-MIOSA Safety Alliance of BC, Lisa McGuire (30-
Sep-15, Victoria) 

First Call: BC Child and Youth Advocacy Coalition, 
Adrienne Montani (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Fort Nelson and District Chamber of Commerce, Bev 
Vandersteen (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 

Gabriola Island Bridge Society, Jeremy Baker (17-Sep-15, 
Nanaimo) 

Gateway Casinos and Entertainment Ltd., Shiera Stuart, 
Tony Santo (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 

Georgia Strait Alliance, Alexandra Woodsworth (21-Sep-
15, Vancouver) 

Geoscience BC, Robin Archdekin, Mike Cathro, Carlos 
Salas (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Dr. Mychael Gleeson (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 
Graduate Student Society at Simon Fraser University, 

Mark Perry, Pierre Cenerelli (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 
Great Canadian Gaming Corporation, Chuck Keeling (13-

Oct-15, Surrey) 
Greater Victoria Chamber of Commerce, Bruce Carter, 

Peggy Kulmala (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness, Don 

Elliott (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Home Medical Equipment Dealers Association of British 

Columbia, Darryl Mackie, Robert Boscacci (17-Sep-15, 
Nanaimo) 

Imperial Tobacco Canada Ltd., Sébastien Charbonneau 
(15-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Independent Media Arts Alliance, Pacific Region, Emma 
Hendrix (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Innergex Renewable Energy, Colleen Giroux-Schmidt (30-
Sep-15, Victoria) 

Insurance Bureau of Canada, Aaron Sutherland, Michael 
H. G. Lee (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

Integris Credit Union, David Bird (29-Sep-15, Prince 
George) 

Interior Savings Credit Union, Gene Creelman (16-Sep-
15, Kelowna) 

Invasive Species Council of British Columbia, Gail Wallin 
(14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Island Coastal Economic Trust, Mayor Phil Kent, Line 
Robert, Dallas Smith (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Island Savings, Randy Bertsch (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 
John Howard Society, Central and South Okanagan, 

Gaelene Askeland (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 
Kamloops Chamber of Commerce, Brant Hasanen (14-

Sep-15, Kamloops) 
Kelowna Chamber of Commerce, Jeffrey Robertson, 

Caroline Glover (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 
Kitimat Child Development Centre and Kitimat Health 

Advocacy Committee, Margaret Warcup, Rob Goffinet 
(30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Kootenay Savings Credit Union, Brent Tremblay (16-Sep-
15, Castlegar) 

Kuterra LP, Garry Ullstrom (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 
Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Marlyn Graziano, Dr. 

Alan Davis (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 
Kwantlen Student Association, Alex McGowan (13-Oct-

15, Surrey) 
LandlordBC, David Hutniak (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 
Langara College, Dr. Ian Humphreys (21-Sep-15, 

Vancouver) 
Langley Teachers' Association, Richard Beaudry (30-Sep-

15, Victoria) 
Legal Services Society, Mark Benton (16-Sep-15, 

Castlegar) 
Literacy in Kamloops, Fiona Clare (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 
Literacy Matters Abbotsford, Sharon Crowley (30-Sep-15, 

Victoria) 
Living Positive Resource Centre, Dylan Wall (16-Sep-15, 

Kelowna) 
Make Transit Work Coalition, Kenya Rogers (14-Oct-15, 

Richmond) 
Mary Miller (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

 
84



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 61 
Report, November 2015 

Motion Picture Production Industry Association of BC, 
Peter Leitch (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Mount Pleasant Residents Association, Stephen Bohus (21-
Sep-15, Vancouver) 

NEBC Resource Municipalities Coalition, Colin Griffith, 
Mayor Bill Streeper, Mayor Rob Fraser, Mayor Lori 
Ackerman (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

Nelson CARES Society, Advocacy Centre, Amy Taylor 
(16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 

North Island Students' Union, Jamie Lund, Jessica Sandy 
(17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Northern Lights College, John Kurjata, Bryn Kulmatycki 
(30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Northwest Community College, David Try (30-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Northwest Community College Students' Union, 
Madeline Keller-MacLeod, Reilly Walker, Mikael Jensen 
(30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Office of the Seniors Advocate, Isobel Mackenzie (14-Oct-
15, Richmond) 

Okanagan College, Tom Styffe, Allan Coyle (16-Sep-15, 
Kelowna) 

Okanagan College Students' Union, Brianne Berchowitz, 
Chelsea Grisch (16-Sep-15, Kelowna) 

Omineca Beetle Action Coalition, Bill Miller (29-Sep-15, 
Prince George) 

Pacific Association of Artist Run Centres (PAARC), 
Mariane Bourcheix-Laporte (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

PacificSport Vancouver Island, Drew Cooper (17-Sep-15, 
Nanaimo) 

Parent Advocacy Network for Public Education, Maggie 
Milne Martens, Corine Willems, Madeleine Sauve, Gilli 
Avrahami (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 

Parksville and District Chamber of Commerce, Kim 
Burden (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Amanda Patt (16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 
Peace Valley Landowners Association, Rob Botterell (14-

Oct-15, Richmond) 
Pembina Institute, Matt Horne (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 
Physiotherapists for Northern Communitites, Elizabeth 

MacRitchie, Hilary Crowley (29-Sep-15, Prince George) 
Prince George Chamber of Commerce, Christie Ray, 

Lorna Wendling, Cindi Pohl, Bill Quinn (29-Sep-15, 
Prince George) 

Prince George Mental Health Consumer Council, Sandy 
Ramsay, Pennie-Lynn Davidson (29-Sep-15, Prince 
George) 

Private Forest Landowners Association, Rod Bealing (17-
Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Professional Arts Alliance of Greater Victoria, Heather 
Lindsay, Doug Jarvis (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Progressive Contractors Association of Canada, Mike 
Martens (13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

Promotion of Wellness in Northern BC, Dr. Anne 
Pousette (29-Sep-15, Prince George) 

Prospera Credit Union, Angela Kaiser (28-Sep-15, 
Victoria) 

Prostate Cancer Canada, John Winter (14-Oct-15, 
Richmond) 

Pulmonary Hypertension Association of Canada, Angie 
Knott (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 

Quesnel and District Chamber of Commerce, Graeme 
Armstrong, Amber Gregg (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 

Retail Council of Canada, Greg Wilson (21-Sep-15, 
Vancouver) 

Rick Hansen Institute, Penny Clarke-Richardson, Bill 
Barrable (28-Sep-15, Victoria) 

Terry Robertson (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Save Our Northern Seniors, Jean Leahy, Sheila Barker (7-

Oct-15, Victoria) 
School District No. 23, Central Okanagan Parent Advisory 

Council, Lee Mossman, Shelley Courtney (16-Sep-15, 
Kelowna) 

School District No. 5, Chris Johns (7-Oct-15, Victoria) 
Shore Energy Solutions, Ian Gartshore (17-Sep-15, 

Nanaimo) 
Simon Fraser Student Society, Kathleen Yang, Enoch 

Weng, Deepak Sharma, Hangue Kim (13-Oct-15, 
Surrey) 

Simon Fraser University, Andrew Petter, Stephen Dooley 
(13-Oct-15, Surrey) 

Speakbox, Aidan Scott (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Surrey Board of Trade, Anita Huberman (13-Oct-15, 

Surrey) 
Robin Tavender (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 
The Research Universities' Council of British Columbia, 

Robin Ciceri (21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 
The Society of Notaries Public of British Columbia, 

Tammy Morin-Nakashima, Wayne Braid (13-Oct-15, 
Surrey) 

 
85



62 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Thompson Rivers University, Dr. Alan Shaver, Brian Ross 
(14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Thompson Rivers University Faculty Association, Dr. 
Thomas Friedman (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Thompson Rivers University Students' Union, Amber 
Storvold, Nathan Lane (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Tolko Industries Ltd., Tom Hoffman (29-Sep-15, Prince 
George) 

University of Northern British Columbia, Dr. Daniel 
Weeks (16-Sep-15, Castlegar) 

University of the Fraser Valley Faculty and Staff 
Association, Sean Parkinson (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 

University of Victoria, Jamie Cassels (15-Sep-15, Victoria) 
University of Victoria Students' Society, Kenya Rogers (16-

Sep-15, Castlegar) 
Valley First, First West Credit Union, Paulette Rennie (16-

Sep-15, Kelowna) 
Vancouver Community College Faculty Association, Taryn 

Thomson (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 

Vancouver Island University Faculty Association, Marni 
Stanley (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Vancouver Island University Students' Union, Sherry 
McCarthy, Patrick Barbosa (17-Sep-15, Nanaimo) 

Vanderhoof MenShed Society, John Alderliesten (29-Sep-
15, Prince George) 

Venture Kamloops, Jim Anderson (14-Sep-15, Kamloops) 
ViaSport British Columbia, Sheila Bouman (28-Sep-15, 

Victoria) 
Walk-in Clinics of British Columbia, Dr. Mark Fromberg, 

Mike McLoughlin (28-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Western Convenience Stores Association, Andrew Klukas 

(21-Sep-15, Vancouver) 
Williams Lake and District Chamber of Commerce, 

Angela Sommer (30-Sep-15, Victoria) 
Larri Woodrow (14-Oct-15, Richmond) 
YouthCo HIV and Hep C Society, Jesse Brown (28-Sep-

15, Victoria) 
 

 

  

 
86



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 63 
Report, November 2015 

Appendix B: Written and Video Submissions 

L. Ellen Aboud 
Alliance of Manufacturers & Exporters 

of Canada, Marcus Ewert-Johns 
Peter L. Arcus 
Brian Arkell 
ArtsBC, Assembly of British Columbia 

Arts Councils, Kathy Ramsey 
Association of Consulting Engineering 

Companies of BC, Keith Sashaw 
Gili Avrahami 
Marshall Bauman 
BC Association of Institutes & 

Universities, Ruth Wittenberg 
BC Care Providers Association, Daniel 

Fontaine 
BC Food Systems Network, Abra 

Brynne 
BC Games, Byron McCorkell 
BC Marine Parks Forever Society, 

George Creek 
BC Non-Profit Housing Association, 

Tony Roy 
BC Poverty Reduction Coalition, Trish 

Garner 
BC Schizophrenia Society, Ana 

Novakovic 
Joan M. Best 
Board of Education of School District 

No. 42 (Maple Ridge-Pitt 
Meadows), Karen Yoxall 

Board of Education, School District 
No. 46 (Sunshine Coast), Betty 
Baxter 

Brain Injury Alliance, Carol Paetkau 
Bruce Brandhorst 
British Columbia Cattlemen's 

Association, Kevin Boon 
British Columbia Trucking 

Association, Louise Yako 
Holly Broadland 
Marja Bulmer 
Burke Mountain Naturalists, Elaine 

Golds 

Douglas Campbell 
Canadian Beverage Association, Megan 

Boyle 
Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives 

- BC Office, Iglika Ivanova 
Canadian Federation of the Blind, 

Mary Ellen Gabias 
Canadian Home Builders' Association 

of BC, Neil Moody 
Canadian Life and Health Insurance 

Association, Noeline Simon 
Capitol Theatre Restoration Society, 

Stephanie Fischer 
Cariboo Cattlemen's Association, 

Cuyler Huffman 
Children, Youth and Families Advisory 

Committee,   
City of Terrace, Alisa Thompson 
William Clarke 
Ellen Clements 
College of the Rockies Faculty 

Association, Leslie Molnar 
Collingwood Neighbourhood House, 

Timothy Shay 
Community Futures Fraser Fort 

George, Jillian Merrick 
Matt Craig 
Eric Davidson 
Jack Debad 
Delta School District, Laura Dixon 
Sandra Douwes 
Downtown Surrey Business 

Improvement Association, Elizabeth 
Model 

East Kootenay Invasive Plant Council, 
Todd Larsen 

Rebecca Edgett 
Arthur Entlich 
Michael Feller 
First Nations Education Steering 

Committee, Tyrone McNeil 
First West Credit Union, Alicia 

Swinamer 

Friends of Cypress Provincial Park 
Society, Lynette Grants, Katharine 
Steig 

Friends of the South Slopes Society, 
Isabel Pritchard 

Marjorie Gang 
Genome British Columbia, Suzanne 

Gill 
Ravijot Gill 
Guardsmen Resources Inc., Douglas 

Sarkissian 
Lori Hagelund 
Natalie Hamilton 
Louise Hazemi 
Jacqueline Henry 
Ellie Hill 
Lynn Horvat 
Inclusion BC, Danielle Kelliher 
Islands Trust, Peter Luckham 
Elizabeth Kaller 
Ian Kennett 
Kelley Kennett 
Marnie King 
Kootenay Livestock Association, Pam 

Turyk 
Tanya Kyi 
Langley Literacy Network, Kailey 

Erickson 
Lauren Lautzenhiser 
Betty Lee 
LifeSciences British Columbia Society, 

Susan Ogilvie 
Lillooet Area Library Association, Betty 

Weaver 
Susan Lin 
Literacy Prince George, Carolyn 

Tiefensee 
Literacy Quesnel Society, Rebecca 

Beuschel 
Roberta Long 
Daniel J Q Lu 
Kate Macdonell 
Mary MacKinnon 

 
87



64 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Tanis Maxfield 
Jason McLaren 
Keith McNeill 
Merck Canada Inc., Bonnie Swan 
Mining Association of British 

Columbia, Karina Brino, Bryan Cox 
Paul Moen 
Trina Moulin 
Anne Murray 
Music Canada, Graham Henderson 
Gail J. Neufeld 
Barbara Neumeyer 
John Michael Northcote 
Terry Oh 
Okanagan College Faculty Association, 

Tim Walters 
Outdoor Recreation Council of BC, 

Jeremy McCall 
Sheila Park 
Parkinson Society BC, Jean Blake 
Port Metro Vancouver, Taylor Briggs 
Lisa Porter 
Prince George Public Library, Shelley 

Stafford 
Kelly Read 
Nancy Rosenblum 
Blaise Salmon 
Wendy Santizo 

Ken Saraf 
Save Our VCC, Deanne Bates 
Fred Scarfe 
School District No. 42 (Maple Ridge & 

Pitt Meadows), Mike Murray 
Sea Kayak Association of British 

Columbia, Roxanne Rousseau 
Seton Portage Shalalth District 

Chamber of Commerce, D. 
DeYagher 

Desmond Sjoquist 
Mack Skinner 
SkyTrain for Surrey, Daryl Dela Cruz 
Keely Speechley 
David K. Stewart 
Storytellers Foundation and Houston 

Link to Learning, Anissa Watson 
Ingrid Sulston 
Summerland Food Bank and Resource 

Centre, John Bubb 
Surrey Teachers Association, Kenji 

Stewart (Video Submission) 
Scott Susin 
Teck, Marcia Smith 
The Realistic Success Recovery Society, 

Susan Sanderson 
The University of British Columbia, 

Adriaan de Jager 

Shon Thomas 
Michael Thompson 
Valia Thorburn 
Trail and District Arts Council / 

Charles Bailey Theatre, Nadine 
Tremblay 

University of the Fraser Valley, Jackie 
Hogan 

Urban Development Institute, Anne 
McMullin 

Vancouver Board of Trade, Rob 
MacKay-Dunn 

Vancouver Public Library, Sandra 
Singh 

Maire Walker 
Annie Wang 
Jennifer Watt 
Carol Watterson 
Jane Webster 
West Coast Legal Education and 

Action Fund, Kendra Milne 
West Kootenay Regional Arts Council, 

Krista Patterson 
Western Silvicultural Contractors 

Association, John Betts 
Tom Wilkinson 
Corine Willems 
Jim Wright 

Meagan Zunti 

  

 
88



Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 65 
Report, November 2015 

Appendix C: Online Survey Respondents 

Sandra Ackermann 
Andrew Adams 
Cory Alfred 
Alliance of 

Manufacturers & 
Exporters of 
Canada, Marcus 
Ewert-Johns 

Jodi Appleton 
Brent Arentsen 
Heather Asselstine 
Morgan Asselstine 
Sharon Audley 
Agnes Balzer 
Natasha Barnett 
Joy Barrett 
Denise Baughan 
Steven Beasley 
Wendy Beer 
Caroline Bentley 
Meghan Black 
Mark Bouchard 
Mona Boucher 
Jessica Bradford 
Hilary Brown 
Jack Bryceland 
Abra Brynne 
Tracy Byrne 
Nicole Calla 
Cynthia Callahan-

Maureen 
Lesley Carere 
Ed Carter 
Angie Chan 
Claude Chase 
Dan Chetner 
Foster Chris 
Coastal Family 

Resource Coalition, 
Juliet Van Vliet 

Steve Cooley 
Claudia Copley 
Rhonda Corman 

Cranbrook & District 
Arts Council, 
Sioban Staplin 

Alisha Critchley 
Susan Crowr 
Ted Dagan 
Eric Davidson 
Trevor Davies 
Mary Jo Dawe 
Adam DeBruyn 
Sal DeMare 
Pam Dhasi 
Marjorie Dumont 
Kathy Easton 
Gregory Ewanowich 
Stephanie Fischer 
Kim Forsch 
Heather Fowlie 
Tammy Frederickson 
Elizabeth Fu 
Amanda Fuller 
Russ Fuoco 
Star Fuoco 
Theresa Gibbons 
Emily Goodlad 
Clare Gould 
Stephanie 

Gouwenberg 
Kerry Graham 
Kathy Griffiths 
Catherine Hall 
Jessica Hannah 
Marilyn Henderson 
Cheryl Henshaw 
Emma-Jane 

Hetherington 
Helen Ho 
Melanie Hofer 
Judih Hoffman 
Jade Hollenbeck 
Albert Hom 
Richard Hoole 

Horse Council of BC, 
Marj Bowen 

Lynn Horvat 
Gwen Howard 
Chris Humeston 
Nicolle Hurly 
Alison Ibbotson 
Derek Imai 
Cristina Jacob 
June James 
Peter James 
Jacqueline Jamieson 
Greta Jansen 
Alan Jess 
Kathryn Jickling 
Gurshan Johal 
Kay Johnson 
Barbara Jones 
Devinder Kaila 
Jennifer Kimbley 
Marnie King 
Rodney Krenbrink 
Stephanie Kulferst 
Diandre Langlais 
Lisa Laycock 
Jun Ho Lee 
Vanessa Lee 
Alison Leslie 
Kenneth Little 
Roberta Long 
Sarah Lovas 
Mike Low 
Alfred Lyon 
Melody Ma 
Jay MacArthur 
Lindsay Macgowan 
Jillian Maguire 
Miriam Manley 
Tej Mann 
Alison Mason 
Sue Maxwell 
Sheryl McGraw 
Timi McIntosh 

Jacob McKay 
Jason McLaren 
Angel McMahon 
Carly McMahon 
Samrah Mian 
Jennie Milligan 
Erin Mills 
Greg Monroe 
Graham Mulligan 
Arthur Myers 
Brad Newell 
Wendy Nielsen 
Theresa Nixon 
Zeke Norton 
Terry Oh 
Roy Osselton 
Gurjit Pattar 
David Petrik 
Servane Phillips 
Jane Pike 
Gerald Pinchbeck 
Angela Plagemann 
Geoff Playfair 
Letissia Polonia 
Gary Porter 
Angela Pounds 
Protect Public 

Education Now, 
Marlene Rodgers 

Christina Pulice-Smith 
Stephen Quin 
Alyson Rawes 
Wayne Ray 
Kelly Read 
Lorraine Rehnby 
Don Reid 
Edward Reynolds 
Joel Rhein 
Virginia Richards 
Randy Rinaldo 
Judi Robson 
Desmond Rodenbour 
Melody Ross 

 
89



66 Select Standing Committee on Finance and Government Services 
Report, November 2015 

Heike Roth 
Elise Rozander 
Christie Runa 
Kyle Russell 
Paula Ryan 
Brenda Sampson 
Wendy Santizo 
Mike Sapic 
Madeleine Sauvé 
Aaron Schollen 
Katherine Scrimshaw 
Faith Shields 
Sohale Shikarpuri 
Cynthia Shore 
Gurinder Sidhu 
Jennifer Simpson 
Nick Sinkewicz 
Clare Sladden 
Audrey Smith 
Linda Smith 
Sheree Smith 
Amanda Smith-

Weston 
Anne Spencer 
Jennifer Stewart 
Mary Ellen Stewart 
Ken Strain 
Surrey Teachers 

Association, Lori 
McClure, Andrea 
Kellaway, Amanda 
Jones 

Norman Swistak 
Jenafor Tanner 
Angèle Thibault 
Shon Thomas 
Michael Thompson 
V. Thomson 
Erin Tierney 
Lynda Toews 
Cory Tout 
Trails Society of 

British Columbia, 
Leon Lebrun 

Allison Tremblay 
David Tremblay 

Weston Triemstra 
Barb Turone 
Kathy Udot 
Jagpal Uppal 
Cynthia Van Ginkel 
April Vannini 
Ash Vince 
Jennifer Waughtal 
Lauressa Way 
Clive Webber 
Kim Werker 
Harriet Williams 
Linda Williams 
Maureen Wills 
Joanna Wilson 
Jean Yoshida 
Kathleen Young 
Heather Zentner 
Sonja Zoeller 

 
90



December 11, 2015. 

Valla Tinney, CPA CGA 
Director of Finance 
District of Saanich 
770 Vernon Ave. 
Victoria, BC V8X 2W7 

QUADRA CEDAR HILL COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION 

Upper Suite 1180 Rock Street, Victoria, BC V8P 2B8 

QCHCA Input on the Saanich Five Year Financial Plan 

In our opinion the Five Year Financial Plan should be a visionary document that dovetails with the 

Saanich Strategic Plan. The Strategic Plan shows what services Saanich plans on providing, while the 

Financial Plan details how they w"ill be costed and financed. The Financial Document should start with 

the overall five year strategy. The Five Year Plan should then show when and how the various tasks will 

be implemented, and the costs of the service levels to be provided over the medium term. The public 

needs to understand in clear, concise, and understandable terms what services they can expect from 

Saanich and the cost of those services. As well the municipal staff needs to know the deliverables 

against which their performance will be evaluated. 

The Five Year Financial Plan is meant to provide the road map of how Saanich plans to commit its 

financial resources over the medium term. As such, it is the Municipalities overarching planning 

document therefore it needs to be communicated to the taxpayers in an easily understood format so 

they can provide timely input and direction to both staff and council. The outreach citizen engagement 

and public input should be on the same level as for documents such as the Strategic Plan, the Official 

Community Plan and the Parks Master Plan. The most meaningful input is received when people have 

an understanding of the costs, issues, options and the complexity of how they are inter related to each 

other. We would encourage staff to make the Plan much more user friendly, with the addition of 

graphs and other visual aids to enhance the understanding and to highlight key financial and statistical 

data. Bench marking (good and bad) with other municipalities would help citizens, staff and council to 

understand Saanich's performance in rela,tion to similar organizations or neighbouring communities. 

 
91



Further, the input process has to start at the beginning of the budget process, and not at the 11th hour 

when the budget has been mostly completed. Public workshops should be held for interested citizens to 

learn how Saanich creates its annual budget. A consultant could be hired to facilitate, but find someone 

local with the needed expertise in order to keep the costs in line. 

Our concern with the current five year financial plan is that it appears to be merely the current year 

budget rolled forward from the previous year. The process should start with the basic question, "should 

Saanich still be providing this service, is there a more efficient way to provide this service, and or are 

there new services to be provided?" Far too much time seems to being spent looking in the rear view 

mirror when the road to be travelled is in front of us. We would like to see the major strategic plan 

goals incorporated into the Five Year Financial Plan as the first step in the process. 

QCHCA would like to see the Five Year Plan, restarted a fresh a year after a new council is elected, to 

give a new Council a year to fully understanding the functioning of the municipality. At this point it 

should be rebuilt from the ground up. This process would require all departments to justify all lines of 

their expenses based on a review that would include, is this service still needed and does it fit the 

strategic plan. That said, since we now have fixed four year terms for all BC based councils, the 

provincial government should be encouraged to adopt a four year planning and reporting cycle for 

municipalities. 

QCHCA would also like to raise the issue of yearly tax increases, which are above the current level of 

inflation. Our concern is that in 2011 the percentage of the population over 65 was already over 18%. 

This percentage will only increase as the "baby boomer" age wave moves through the system. Many of 

these taxpayers (direct and indirect-renters) will now be on pensions that are indexed to the Consumer 

Price Index, meaning continued tax increases greater than the CPI will be paid at the expense of food 

and utilities. Therefore one of the Five Year Plan strategies should be to limit the total residential 

property tax increase to a maximum of the CPI. 

Yours truly 

Quadra Cedar Hill Community Association 

Email cc Mayor and Council 

Andy Laidlaw, CAO 

Art Beck, Treasurer 

 
92



ride picnic relax jump splash create
muse compete share read preserve 
discover learn walk rest explore dre

3

This Master Plan was adopted by Saanich Council on March 11, 2013. The planning process that 
preceded its adoption included extensive background research and community consultation, including:

 � Interviews with key informants from 
the District, as well as from other local 
government agencies (October 2010);

 � Focus groups with stakeholders, 
representing community associations 
and organizations, and sport and cultural 
groups (November 2010);

 � A mail-delivered survey to all residents, 
with more than 1,500 respondents 
(January to March 2011);

 � A web-delivered survey, using the same 
questions as the mail-delivered version, 
received 700 responses 
(January to March 2011);

THE PLANNING PROCESS

 � Open houses at all four recreation centres 
(May 2011), and at two of the recreation 
centres (October 2011);

 � Once a draft of the Master Plan was 
prepared, another survey (330 respondents) 
determined the appropriateness of the 
vision and the mission, and the level 
of support for each strategic objective 
(January 2012); and

 � Presentations to the following committees: 
Arts, Culture and Heritage; Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Mobility; Environmental; 
Healthy Saanich; and Parks, Trails and 
Recreation (2011-2012).

G
or

do
n 

H
ea

d 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Ce
nt

re

 
93



DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

Report To: MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

Date: FEBRUARY 28, 2007 

From: RUSS FUOCO, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING 

Subject: OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REVIEW • WORK SCHEDULE 

Background 

The purpose of this report is to outline a focused and progressive approach to the review of 
Saanich's Official Community Plan (OCP) during 2007. This initiative is part of the 2007 
Strategic Plan work program (Initiative SE-C3-a). 

The Official Community Plan is the principal policy document that Council uses to make 
decisions on matters such as: land use; growth management; protection of the environment; 
transportation and mobility; economic development; infrastructure; and housing needs. 

Periodically the Official Community Plan needs to be reviewed with Council, the public, staff and 
other key stakeholders, to determine if the vision, goals and objectives of the document are still 
valid, and where the document might need to be altered to reflect changes in our community. In 
addition, the Official Community Plan needs to be updated on a regular basis to ensure that it 
reflects current practices, policies and procedures that have been mandated: Provincially; 
Regionally; and Municipally (eg. the Provincial streamside protection regulations, the Regional 
Growth Strategy, and Saanich's green building policy). 

Saanich's OCP was last reviewed in a comprehensive manner in 1993. Since that time: 

• Saanich's population has increased by approximately 16,000 residents; 
• Growth rates while not as significant as 20-30 years ago, still continue to exert pressure on 

Saanich, and the Capital Regional District in terms of land use and infrastructure planning; 
• Saanich's population has continued to age, with approximately 1 in 3 people in Saanich 

being over the age of 55. 
• The CRD's Regional Growth Strategy was adopted, including Regional Housing 

Affordability, and Transportation Strategies. In addition, Saanich completed a Regional 
Context Statement which outlines what additional work is required to align our OCP with the 
general objectives of the Regional Growth Strategy; 

• The average price of a single family house has gone from $257,320 in 1993, to $539,459 
in 2006; 

• New environmental legislation has been adopted such as the streamside protection 
regulations; and green building policy; 

• Climate change is becoming an increasingly important issue affecting policy and decision 
making at all levels of government; and 

• Saanich's Strategic (Corporate) Plan and monitoring program was adopted and 
implemented. 

 
94



OCP Review - 2 - February 28,2007 

Saanich's Official Community Plan is composed of; the General Plan which is the paramount 
policy document, along with 12 Local Area Plans, 9 Action Plans and the Development Permit 
(DP) Guidelines. The proposed review of the Official Community Plan would focus specifically 
on the General Plan. The General Plan provides the over-riding policy framework from a 
general municipal perspective, whereas the Local Area Plans are more detailed neighbourhood 
focused policy documents. 

Legislative Authority 

Local Government Act 
The "Local Government Act" outlines requirements and regulations in regard to the development 
of and amendment to Official Community Plans. In general, an official community plan is a 
statement of objectives and policies to guide decisions on a range of planning issues and land 
use management. An official community plan should also work towards the purpose and goals 
of any relevant Regional Growth Strategy. 

An official community plan must include policies on the following subject matter: 
• residential development required to meet anticipated need over at least a 5 year period; 
• the approximate location and amount, type of present and proposed commercial, industrial, 

institutional, agricultural, recreational and public utility land uses; 
• the approximate location and area of sand and gravel deposits that are suitable for future 

sand and gravel extraction; 
• restrictions on the use of land subject to hazardous conditions or which is environmentally 

sensitive; 
• the approximate location and phasing of any major road, sewer and water systems; 
• the approximate location and type of present and proposed public facilities, including 

schools, parks and waste treatment and disposal sites; and 
• housing policies respecting affordable housing, rental housing and special needs housing. 

An official community plan may also include policies on the following subject matter: 
• social needs, well being and development; 
• maintenance and enhancement of farming on land in a farming area or designated for 

farming use; and 
• preservation, protection and enhancement of the natural environment, its ecosystems and 

biological diversity. 

Discussion 

Approach 
The review of the Official Community Plan is proposed to take a focused approach. The current 
Official Community Plan does not require a complete overhaul, but a systematic review. The 
majority of goals, objectives and policies require no alteration. Accordingly, attention would be 
focused on areas where external forces (eg. climate change, growth pressures, urban design 
issues) or policy changes require amendments to the Official Community Plan to better reflect 
how Saanich sees itself growing and responding to change over the next 15-20 years. In 
addition, the format of the document would be updated, and photographs and diagrams would 
be added to better illustrate the plan's objectives. 

 
95



OCP Review - 3 - February 28, 2007 

To ensure that a broad range of citizens can participate in the proposed Official Community 
Plan review, we are recommending that emphasis be placed on statistically reliable telephone 
surveys and also focus groups, in addition to the traditional"open house". Surveys have the 
benefit of being statistically reliable while focus groups enable further in-depth discussion with a 
cross section of residents and important segments of our community who can often be 
overlooked (eg. seniors and youth). In light of the very high rate of computer use by Saanich 
residents, the survey would be made available on-line, as well as being available at community 
recreation centers, the municipal hall, and local library branches. The survey would also be 
used at open houses to collect people's thoughts and ideas on community issues. 

Review Process 
The proposed Official Community Plan review process is based on the goals of obtaining 
statistically reliable input from a broad cross section of Saanich citizens; and completing the 
review in a timely manner so the goals and objectives of the updated official community plan 
can be put into action. The general steps or phases of the proposed OCP review are proposed 
as follows: 

1. Report To Council Seeking Approval Of Review & Consultation Process; 
2. Background Research & Preparation; 
3. Stakeholder Input; 
4. Analysis of Stakeholder Input & Drafting Of Document; 
5. Presentation & Feedback of Draft Document; 
6. Rework Document Based On Feedback; and 
7. Present Document to Council for Formal Review and Consideration. 

A more detailed work-plan for the OCP reView, including a tentative timeline, IS outlined below. 
2007 - 2008 Time Line Phase Activity 
March 

March - April 

April- May 

Reporting 

Background 
Research & 
Preparation 

Stakeholder Input 

• Report to Council regarding proposed review 
and consultation process. 

• Finalise contracts with consultants. 
• Formalise survey content, focus groups, and 

open houses. 
• Address issues related to online survey with 

the Information Technology Department. 
• Set up OCP resource webpage. 

• Meet with relevant Committees of Council, 
SCAN, and other stakeholders to provide 
overview of process and answer questions. 

• Preparation of survey. 
• Preparation for focus groups 
• Prepare background information and display 

boards for open houses and send out notificatio 
and arrange for newspaper advertisement. 

Obtain public input through: 
• telephone surveys; 
• focus groups 
• online survey; and 
• open houses. 

 
96



OCP Review - 4 - February 28, 2007 

June - September Analysis & • Preparation of Draft OCP. 
Drafting • Preliminary referrals sent to external agencies. 

• Staff Review & reworking of document. 
• Notification for late September O~en Houses. 

September - November Presentation & • Present draft documents at open houses and 
Feedback on-line. 

• Final External Referrals sent out. 
• Present OCP to SCAN, and Cmtes. of Council. 
• Revisions to document based on feedback. 

December - January Rework & Edit • Rework document based on feedback. 
• Prepare report to Council. 

January - February Reporting • Report to Council presenting the Official 
Community Plan 

February - March ReportinQ • Public HearinQ 

Consultation 
Consultation requirements for Official Community Plan reviews are laid out in the "Local 
Government Act". Specifically, during the development of an OCP, local government must 
provide one or more opportunities it considers appropriate for consultation with persons, 
organizations and authorities it considers will be affected. As well, consideration must be given 
to how early in the process contact should be made, and whether it should be ongoing 
throughout the review process. 

Th f II It f d e 0 oWing consu a Ion process IS propose : 
Method of Consultation Target Groups 

1 Telephone Survey • Randomly selected individuals, representing five (5) 
geographic sub areas of our community to ensure 
feedback from across the community. 

• The results would be statistically significant, and be 
applicable to the community at large. 

2 Focus Groups • The focus groups would involve a broad cross 
section of people (eg. age, culture) from the general 
population of Saanich. 

3 Online Survey • Available to all residents of Saanich 
4 Open Houses & Survey • Available to all residents of Saanich 
5 Meetings with Key Stakeholders • Relevant Committees of Council 

• The Business Community 
• Saanich Neighbourhood Association Network 

members. 
• The need to consult other key groups will become 

evident as we move through the review process. 
6 Formal Referrals Per the requirements of the "Local Government Act" 

formal referrals would be sent to the following groups: 

• The Capital Regional District; 
• Adjacent Municipalities (Victoria, Oak Bay, 

Esquimalt, View Royal, Highlands and Central 
Saanich) ; 

• First Nations; 

 
97



OCP Review - 5 - February 28, 2007 

• School Districts 61 & 63; 
• Relevant Provincial Ministries and agencies (eg. 

Ministry of Transport, Ministry of Community 
Services, Ministry of Environment, Agricultural Land 
Commission, etc.); 

• Relevant Federal Departments/Ministries (eg. 
Departments of Fisheries and Oceans, Ministry of 
Defence, etc. ); and 

• Major Institutions (eg. The Observatory, UVIC, 
Camosun College, etc.). 

Summary 

The review process and timeline outlined above provides for a focused and progressive 
updating of the Official Community Plan. Significant amendments to the review process outlined 
above will impact the timeline for the review. 

As previously noted, the current Official Community Plan does not require a complete overhaul, 
but a systematic review. The majority of the Official Community Plan's goals, objectives and 
policies require no alteration. Accordingly we are recommending that focused be placed on 
areas where external forces (ex. climate change, growth pressures, urban design issues) or 
policy changes, require amendments be made to the Official Community Plan to better reflect 
how Saanich sees itself growing and responding to change over the next 15-20 years. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Official Community Plan review and consultation process outlined in this report be 
approved. 

Report prepared by: 
Sharon Hvozdanski, Supervisor of Strategic Planning 

Report reviewed by: 
Russ Fuoco, Director of Planning 

SJH/vnb 
G:\PLANNING\OCP\2007 OCP Review\CORRESPONDENCE\CR Feb 2007 Consultation Process. Doc 

cc: T. Wood, Municipal Administrator 

ADMINISTRATOR'S COMMENTS: 

 
98



Report 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

PURPOSE 

The Corporation of the District of Saanich 

Mayor and Council 

Harley Machielse, Director of Engineering 

January 15, 2015 

MaYor 
COUnCi /io r• 
Adm;njstra~to,. 

~~©~O'W~[Q) 
JAN 18 2016 

LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 
DISTRICT OF E'!.,lW'f:H - ------

Kerr Wood Leidal Construction Administration Fee Increase - Austin Road 
Sewage Pump Station 

To request an increase in the Kerr Wood Leidal (KWL) construction inspection and 
administration fees on the Austin Road Pump Station project. 

BACKGROUND 

In 2013, KWL was the successful proponent for the design, provision of tender period services, 
and construction inspection for the Austin Road Sewage Pump Station. While the fees for the 
design and tender services had an upset fee, the construction services are to be paid on an 
hourly rate basis. This is a common practice as at the time consultants are preparing their 
proposal, the design has not been done, the successful contractor has not been chosen, and 
the length of the construction period is unknown. 

DISCUSSION 

The proposal was for $178,035 without taxes and included an allowance of $65,509 for 
construction services. During the design and tendering period, additional work was authorized 
by staff as follows: 

• a review of the effect of sea level rise on the pump station; 
• a review of the pump station layout in relation to new Work Safe regulations on electrical 

arcing; and, 
• preparing a material supply tender for the pump station wet well and pumps. 

These additions totaled $18,701, leaving only $46,808 for construction services in the original 
purchase order. 

The Austin Road Sewage Pump Station is more complex than originally envisioned, especially 
in the architectural features and landscaping of the washroom to blend it into the surrounding 
park. The low bidder for the construction of the Austin Road Sewage Pump Station, Tritech 
Group Ltd., requires a construction period much longer than anticipated at the start of the 
project; 52 weeks rather than the 15 weeks assumed in the 2013 KWL proposal. KWL 
estimates that as a result of the lengthened construction schedule, and the need for additional 

 
99

OrrS
Text Box
CMG3



Page 2 

inspection and contract administration, the revised fees for construction services is $272,650, 
an increase of $207,141 over the original allowance. Due to the additional work in the design 
phase of the project and the additional time for construction services, the purchase order to 
KWL needs to be increased by $225,842 to $403,877. 

Staff have reviewed the proposed increase in fees and found them to be reasonable based on 
the original proposal, the lengthened construction period, and the increased complexity of the 
pump station and washroom building. 

The original RFP was awarded by staff as per limits established in the Purchasing Policy and 
now that the proposed fee increase puts the contract over $200,000 in total, Council approval is 
required. Adequate funds are available in the project budget to cover the increased fees for 
construction services. 

SUMMARY 

An increase of approximately $226,000 in the purchase order to Kerr Wood Leidal is required to 
cover provision of construction services to the end of the project. The project budget is 
sufficient to cover the increase in fees for construction services. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approve an increase in the purchase order to Kerr Wood Leidal in the amount of 
$226,000. 

Prepared by: 
ard, Manager of Underground Services 

Approved by: 

ADMINISTRATOR'S COMMENTS: 

I endorse the recommendation from the 
Director of Engineering 

fi?l1)) 
Administrator 

JH/HM 

copy Valla Tinney, Director of Finance 

 
100



lli IU at (tt.tncl , 

X'· 2~D~50 005 

Report 
To: 

From: 

Mayor and Councillors 

Councillor Susan Brice 

enel '\1"CU) 2sll~. 

fRJ~©~O'W~[Q) 
Date: January 18, 2016 JAN 2 0 2016 

Federal Bill of Environmental Rights LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 

(Notice of Motion Presented January 11, 2016) __ ---==D:I s::T~R~/C~T=O:F=S=AA=N/~C~H~~ 
Subject: 

In 2015 Saanich Council and many other municipalities supported the Blue Dot Campaign and sent a 
resolution to FCM. At the FCM the item was debated at the Board's Committee but they did not forward it 
to the general meeting for discussion. Apparently the vote was close but because there was a range of 
wording coming from the local governments including reference to the Canadian Charter of Rights and 
Freedoms, the Executive did not support it. 

This current resolution has been endorsed by the City of Victoria and does not make any reference to the 
Charter. It is hoped that this new resolution will find favour with FCM delegates for consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council maintain our commitment to the Blue Dot Campaign and support the following motion for 
consideration at the 2016 Annual Convention of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities: 

WHEREAS municipalities are the governments that are nearest to the people and the natural 
environment, and therefore share a deep concern for the well-being of the natural environment and 
understand that a healthy environment is inextricably linked to the health of individuals, families, future 
generations and communities; 

AND WHEREAS federal policy affects municipalities' abilities to deliver the best environmental 
conditions for their citizens, including protecting natural assets such as air, water and soil, and enhancing 
community quality of life; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that FCM request that the Government of Canada enact federal 
environmental rights legislation that: 

• recognizes the right of every resident to live in a healthy environment including clean air, clean 
water, safe food and resilient, fully functioning ecosystems; 

• provides for public participation in decision-making on issues regarding the environment and 
access to environmental information; 

• provides access to justice when environmental rights are infringed; and 
• includes provisions for whistle-blower protection. 

Councillor Susan Brice 

G:\Clerks\Oeb\REPORTS\councilior brice - Federal Bill of Environmental Rights.doc Page 1 of 1 
 
101

OrrS
Text Box
CMH1



\'-\\0 -oAr l'\o."nlnO) 
-xre-f'· ~C() .l.JO LO \ 

Report To: 

Date: 

From: 

Subject: 

PROJECT DETAILS 

Project Proposal: 

Address: 

Legal Description: 

Owner: 

Applicant: 

Parcel Size: 

( c)uJ Cfon25/10 

DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

Mayor and Council 

December 18, 2015 

Sharon Hvozdanski, Director of Planning 

Request for a resolution of Council for revisions to a liquor licence 
at the Crooked Goose Bistro 
File: UQ00016· 4136 Wilkinson Road 

The applicant requests a resolution of Council supporting a liquor 
licence application to the Liquor Control and Licensing Branch 
(LCLB) for The Crooked Goose Bistro. The proposed change 
would be for the addition of patron participation entertainment to 
food-primary liquor licence #305158 to allow the establishment to 
host Paint Nite evenings. 

4136 Wilkinson Road 

Lot 2, Section 5, Lake District, Plan 45525. 

Alan Pitts 

The Crooked Goose Bistro, Steve Watson 

2071 m2 

Existing Use of Parcel: Commercial 

Existing Use of 
Adjacent Parcels: 

Current Zoning: 

Proposed Zoning: 

Local Area Plan: 

LAP Designation: 

North: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) and 
C-3 (Shopping Centre) 

South: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) and 
RT-2 (Attached Housing) 

East: A-1 (Rural) 
West: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) 

C-2 (General Commercial) Zone 

No Change 

Carey 

Commercial 

~~©~DW~[Q) 
DEC 1 8 2015 

LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

Community Assn Referral: Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford 
• Sent August 17, 2015. Response received August 24,2015 
stating no objection. 

 
102

OrrS
Text Box
CW 1



LIQ00016 - 2 - December 18, 2015 

PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant requests a resolution of Council supporting a liquor licence application to the  
Liquor Control and Licensing Branch (LCLB) for the addition of patron participation  
entertainment to food-primary liquor licence #305158 to allow the establishment to host Paint  
Nite evenings.  No other changes are proposed to the existing operation of The Crooked Goose  
Bistro.   
 
The application would allow the establishment to host Paint Nite evenings, where patrons learn 
to paint a specific painting while eating and drinking in the establishment. 
 
POLICY AND PROCESS 
 
Liquor Control and Licensing Branch (LCLB)  
The LCLB process requires that a local government, in respect to an amendment application, 
consider the potential noise, community impact, and views of residents, and provide a 
recommendation. 
 
Council Policy  
For an application to amend an existing liquor licence, Council Policy (04/105) requires early 
notice to Community Associations, schools, businesses and social facilities within a 90 m radius 
of the subject property.  The application is then considered at a Committee of the Whole 
meeting following notification to owners and residents, also within a 90 m radius. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The LCLB outlines certain issues to be addressed in the requested resolution in order for it to 
comply with section 53 of the Liquor Control and Licensing Regulation, those issues are as 
follows: 
 
Noise and Community Impact 
No changes are proposed to the restaurant operation and the addition of patron participation 
entertainment on a periodic/limited basis is not anticipated to impact on the community.  The 
LCLB requires that patron participation entertainment must end by midnight. 
 
Likelihood of Inappropriate Operation 
This factor is related to the possibility of concern that the change in licensing could result in the 
operation of the business in a manner that does not meet the intent of the licence. The applicant 
has stated that The Crooked Goose Bistro will continue to operate as a restaurant and the 
addition of the patron participation endorsement to the existing license would not significantly 
alter the business operation. 
 
Saanich Police indicated they have no objection to the proposed amendment to the liquor 
license. Saanich Fire indicated they have no objection provided that the posted occupant load 
for the building is maintained and exiting is not compromised with any revised seating layout.  
 
The applicant has confirmed that there will be no changes to the current floor plan, stating that 
the Paint Nite activity would be located in the existing raised portion of the restaurant and would 
be separate from the rest of the patrons. 
 

 
103



LIQ00016 - 3 - December 18, 2015 

 
    Figure 1:  Neighbourhood Context 
 
 
 

 
104



LIQ00016 - 4 - December 18, 2015 

 
    

Figure 2:  Site  
 
Views of Residents 
The views of residents are gathered through early notification to the Community Associations, 
schools, businesses and social facilities within a 90 m radius. In this case, there are no schools 
or social facilities located within a 90 m radius, and the only businesses are those located 
across Interurban Road in the Wilkinson Plaza at 4144 Wilkinson Road and the Co-op service 
station at 4140 Wilkinson Road. Referrals were sent to these properties, as well as the 
Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford.  Two responses have been 
received to date, as well as one from the Community Association, all indicating no objection to 
the application. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The applicant has requested a resolution of Council supporting the addition of patron 
participation entertainment to an existing food-primary liquor licence for The Crooked Goose 
Bistro.  This would allow the applicant to host Paint Nite evenings, where patrons learn to paint 
a specific painting while eating and drinking in the establishment.  No changes are proposed to 
the existing operation of the establishment.  Saanich Police and Fire have indicated no 
objection. 
 
 
 
 

 
105



UQ00016 - 5 -
( 

December 18, 2015 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the application to the Liquor Control and Licensing Branch for a change to food-primary 
licence #305158 for a patron participation entertainment endorsement to allow events such as 
Paint Nite be supported. 

Report prepared by: 

Report reviewed by: 

CWB/sd 
H:\TEMPEST\PROSPERO\ATTACHMENTS\UQ\UQ00016\CWB_RPT _4136 WILKINSON ROAD.DOCX 

Attachment 

cc: Andy Laidlaw, Administrator 
Graham Barbour, Manager of Inspection Services 

ADMINISTRATOR'S COMMENTS: 

I endorse the recommendation of the Director of Planning. 

q~a; 
Andy Laidlaw, Administrator 

 
106



o en
 

,....
. ..., $
l 

o -
h

 

(J
) 

Q
) 

Q
) 

:::
J _.
 

('
) 

=:
I" 

""U
 

Q
) 
~
 

~
 

~
 

(Q
 

0 CD
 

"'
0

 
.-

+
 

(J
) 

CD
 

"'
C

 
.-

+
 

tv
 

tv
 

0 ~
 

0
1

 

II
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

II
 

0 

0 

::0
 

0 

0 

-;-t
 

0
°
 
I 

0
°
 

0 
~
 

° 0 

~
/
 

r~
 

0 

'" 

o 
0

0
0

 
o 

0 
0 

o 
o 

° 
° 

o 
0 

0 
0 

0 

0 

o 

o 
0 

° 

0 

o 

» • ~
 

 
107



( ) 
Page 1 of 2 

Planning - RE: Saanich Referral for LlQ00016 at 4136 Wilkinson Road, The Crooked 
Goose Bistro 

From: 
To: 
Date: 

"Alyson Rawes"  
<planning@saanich.ca> 
8/23/2015 6:01 PM 

Subject: RE: Saanich Referral for UQ00016 at 4136 Wilkinson Road, The Crooked Goose 
Bistro 

Good afternoon 

The Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford has no objection to this application. 

Regards 

Alyson Rawes 
Secretary-Treasurer 

From: Planning Planning [Planning.Mun HaII.Saanich@saanich.ca] 
Sent: August 17,201510:05 AM 
To: Charmaine Felker <info@rasvmg.org> 
Subject: Saanich Referral for L1Q00016 at 4136 Wilkinson Road, The Crooked Goose Bistro 

Dear Residents Association of Strawberry Vale, Marigold and Glanford, 

RE: AMENDMENT TO EXISTING FOOD PRIMARY LIQUOR LICENCE #305158 FOR THE 
CROOKED GOOSE BISTRO TO ENABLE PATRON PARTICIPATION 

Site Address: 4136 WILKINSON RD 
Legal: 
Folder: 

LOT 2 SECTION 5 LAKE LAND DISTRICT PLAN 45525 
LlQ00016 

In accordance with Saanich Council Policy for public consultation for processing liquor license 
applications we are providing "early notice" of the application. Following a staff review you will be 
notified again of the date of the Committee of the Whole meeting. 

The Crooked Goose Bistro is requesting an amendment to their existing food primary liquor licence. 
For this application, the intent is to enable patron participation. 

We are interested to know if your Community Association: 

Has no objection to the application 

ENTEI'I~f /0) [g©[gDW[g flJI 
IN CA€f Lnl AUG 2 4 2015 llU o 

o Generally has no objection with suggested changes or concerns PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

file://C:\Users\litzenbs\AppOata\Local\Temp\xPgrpwise\550AOA50SaanichMun_... 8/24/2015  
108



( ( ( c. Page 2 of 2 

D Does not support the application. 

We would appreciate receiving your comments in writing or by email to planning@saanich.ca within 
30 days, in order for us to consider them as we draft our staff report. If you cannot meet this time 
frame, please email or call our office to indicate if and when you might be able to respond to the 
referral. If you require further information about the proposed development please contact CHUCK 
BELL Local Area Planner at 250-475-5494 extension 3467. 

Sincerely, 

CHUCK BELL 
PLANNER 

cc: Clerks Department 

file:/IC:\Users\litzenbs\AppOata\Local\Temp\xPgrpwise\55DAOA50SaanichMun_... 8/24/2015  
109



E18/2E1/2E115 17:135 

Phone 250881.1964 
Fax 2sn 881·1978 
Info@leJ;plan.com 

, 
25.E18S ...... 978 

:-ax cLct,.Jl ~Z 
~'$t 0\- \QC(~C'l.. 

From 'Eric Wieczorek 

Regarding 

Message 

LESPLAN ( 
PAGE 131/132 

#I .4144 Wilkinson Road 
Victoria Be V8Z SA7 

www.leRplan.com 

4. 7_r:.. b~7'(. 
Fax number ___ ....:.T..,!:::::--r-----

Date 
11 .~ 
lJ'j;, . 

Pages # 

o 
----~-----------------------------b~~~~~~H 

Eric WleC'~orek 
LesPlan Educational Services Ltd. 

TeA C HER S SERVING TeA C HER S SIN C E 1 990 

 
110



08/20/2015 17:05 
( 

2508~ _:378 

DistrIct of Saanich 
Current Planning 
770 Vernon Ave. 
Victoria Be vax 2W7 

August 17, 2015 

To Whom It May Concern: 

t. 250-475-5 71 
f. 25?-475-5430 , 

LESPLAN ( 
PAGE 02/02 

~ .... -
PLANNING 

RE: AMENDMENT TO EXISTING FOOD PRIMARY LIQUOR LICENCE #305158 FOR THE 
CROOKED GOOSE BISTRO TO ENABLE PATRON PARTICIPATION 

Site Address: 
U~gal: 
Fold~r: 

4136 WILKINSON RD 
LOT 2 SECTION 5 LAKE LAND DIST~ICT PLAN 45525 
lIQ00016 

In accordance with Saanich Council Policy for public consultation for processing liquor license 
applications we are providing "early notice" of the application. Following a staff review you will 
be notified again of the date of the Committee of the Whole meeting. 

The Crooked Goose Bistro is requesting an amendment to their existing food primary liquor 
licence. For this ap lie . • .. tb.e..' 's to enable patron participation. 

We would appreciate receiving your comments in writing or by email toplanning@saanich.ca 
within 30 days, in order for us to consider them as we draft our staff report. If you cannot meet 
this time frame, please email or call our office to indicate if and when you might be able to 
respond to the referral. If you require further information about the proposed development 
please contact CHUCK BEll Local Area Planner at 250-475-5494 extension 3467. 

Sincerely, 

GiL-- CU~ 
CHl,)CK BELL 
PLANNER 

CB/gv 
H:\TEMPEST\PROSPERO\ATT ACHMENTS\UQ\UQ00016\P _lIQ_L T~BUSIN~SSES .DOC 

cc: Clerks Department ~Q 
~,,\'Y,,~ ~~ 
~ \~ (.l~Io):::::-~-©-~-UW-~-· -rm-

lIU AUG 2 1 7015 t11 
PLANNING DEPT 

DISTRICT OF SAANicH 

 
111



Planning - Crooked Goose Bistro 

From: 
To: 
Date: 
Subject: 
CC: 

Richard Pala 
Bell, Chuck; planning@saanich.ca 
8/18/2015 11 :34 AM 
Crooked Goose Bistro 
Cave, Todd 

Page 1 of 1 

The Fire Department has no objection to the application for an amendment to existing food 
primary liquor licence #305158 for the Crooked Goose Bistro to enable patron participation 
with the provision that the posted occupant load for the building is maintained and exiting is 
not compromised with any new seating layout. 

Captain Rich Pala 
Fire Prevention Division 
Saanich Fire Department 
760 Vernon Ave 
Victoria, B.C. V8X 2W6 
(250) 475-5507 

ENTERED 
IN CASE 

[D)~©~O\Yl~fIY 
lffi AUG 1 8 2015 L!:V 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

file:/IC:\Users\vindiscg\AppData\Local\ T emp\XPgrpwise\55D31833SaanichMun _... 8/18/2015 
 
112



1'1 'U ~ULf './'Q nn'()3 '-", \AJ 

'l<rc-F: 2~'4o SheridL " 

Report 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

PURPOSE 

The Corporation of the District of Saanich 

Mayor and Council 

Sharon Hvozdanski, Director of Planning 

December 21,2015 

Subdivision and Development Variance Permit Application 

File: SUB00743; DVP00365 • 1720 Sheridan Avenue 

MaYor 
COUnci/lors 
Adminjstrator 

Project Proposal: The applicant proposes to subdivide the subject property to create 
one additional lot for single family dwelling use under the current 
RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone. Variances for lot width are 
requested. 

Address: 

Legal Description: 

Owner: 

Applicant: 

Parcel Size: 

Existing Use of Parcel: 

Existing Use of 
Adjacent Parcels: 

Current Zoning: 

Minimum Lot Size: 

Proposed Zoning: 

Proposed Minimum 
Lot Size: 

Local Area Plan: 

1720 Sheridan Avenue 

Lot 26, Section 41, Victoria District, Plan 15292 

Ian Alexander Turner and Chelsea Ann Varney 

Seba Construction Ltd., Jamie Gill 

1,415 m2 

Residential 

North: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 
South: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 
East: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 
West: RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 

RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 

560 m2 

RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone 

699 m2 and 715 m2 

Shelbourne ~~©~O~~[Q) 
DEC 22 2015 

LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
113

OrrS
Text Box
CW 2



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 2 - December 21, 2015 

 
LAP Designation:  General Residential  
 
Community Assn Referral: Mount Tolmie Community Association  Referral sent July 2, 

2015.  No response has been received to date. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant proposes to subdivide a property to create one additional lot for single family 
dwelling use under the current RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone.  Variances for lot width are 
requested. 
 

 
Figure 1:  Proposed Subdivision 
 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
Official Community Plan (2008) 
 
4.2.1.1 “Support and implement the eight strategic initiatives of the Regional Growth 

Strategy, namely:  Keep urban settlement compact; Protect the integrity of rural 
communities; Protect regional green and blue space; Manage natural resources and 

 
114



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 3 - December 21, 2015 

the environment sustainability; Build complete communities; Improve housing 
affordability; Increase transportation choice; and Strengthen the regional economy.” 

 
4.2.1.2 “Maintain the Urban Containment Boundary as the principal tool for growth 

management in Saanich, and encourage all new development to locate within the 
Urban Containment Boundary.” 

 
4.2.1.14 “Encourage the use of ‘green technologies’ in the design of all new buildings.” 
 
4.2.1.18    “Encourage new development to achieve higher energy and environmental 

performance through programmes such as ‘Built Green’, LEED or similar 
accreditation systems.” 

 
4.2.4.3 “Support the following building types and land uses in Neighbourhoods: 

 Single family dwellings; 
 Duplexes, tri-plexes, and four-plexes; 
 Townhouses; 
 Low-rise residential (up to four storeys); and 
 Mixed-use (commercial/residential) (up to four storeys).” 

 
Shelbourne Local Area Plan (2008) 
 
6.1 “Protect and maintain the stability and character of Shelbourne by maintaining single 

family dwellings as the predominant land use.” 
 
6.2 “Consider single family in-fill development that is compatible with, and contributes to, 

the character and quality of the community and preserves the privacy of dwellings.” 
 
COMMENT 
 
Neighbourhood Context 
The subject property is within the Mount Tolmie Neighbourhood.  Walking distance to either the 
Cedar Hill neighbourhood “Centre” or University major “Centre” is approximately 800 m.    
 
The 1,415 m2 lot is relatively flat and is located at the end of a cul-de-sac surrounded by single 
family dwellings.  The surrounding neighbourhood is generally zoned RS-6 (Single Family 
Dwelling).  Distributed throughout the broader neighbourhood area bound by McKenzie Avenue, 
Shelbourne Street, Cedar Hill Cross Road, and Gordon Head Road are approximately two 
dozen properties zoned for smaller lots (RS-2 or RS-4) or duplexes.   
 
Land Use 
The Official Community Plan (OCP) supports a range of housing types within neighbourhoods, 
including single family dwellings.  Although the subject property is not within an identified 
“Centre” or “Village”, it is within an 800 m walking distance of both the University major “Centre” 
and Cedar Hill neighbourhood “Centre”.  The site is also within 1 km of the University of Victoria.    
 
When compatible with the neighbourhood character, infill subdivisions are an appropriate 
means to encourage modest residential densification.  The Shelbourne Local Area Plan states, 
“consider single-family infill development that is compatible with, and contributes to the 
character and quality of the community and preserves the privacy of dwellings”.   

 
115



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 4 - December 21, 2015 

The proposed subdivision would be compatible with the pattern of development in the 
neighbourhood (see Figure 3).  The proposed lots would exceed the minimum lot area 
requirements by 139 m2  and 155 m2 and be larger than most of the surrounding properties in 
the neighbourhood.    
 
The existing dwelling would be removed and two new single family dwellings are proposed.  In 
response to neighbourhood concerns, the owners have agreed to restrict proposed Lot A from 
having a secondary suite.  This commitment would be secured by covenant.  
 
The proposed subdivision of one lot, combined with the overall increase of one additional house 
would have a negligible impact on traffic or street parking. 

 

 
Figure 2:  Neighbourhood Context  

 
116



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 5 - December 21, 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3:  Aerial  
 
Site and Building Design 
The subject property has a diamond shape configuration resulting from its position at the end of 
a cul-de-sac.  The proposed lot line would transect the centre of the lot creating two triangular 
shaped lots.  Since the proposed lots are not rectilinear in shape, variances for lot widths are 
required as noted in the table below.   
 
Table 1: Comparison of Lot Configuration Regulations and Proposed Subdivision 

 RS-6 Zone 
Requirements 

Proposed Lot A Proposed Lot B 

Lot Width 16 m 13.69 m 14.93 m 
Lot Depth 27.5 m 45 m 41 m 
Lot Area 560 m2 715 m2 699 m2 

 
An important consideration with infill developments is that the scale, massing, and design of any 
proposed infill housing respects the neighbourhood character.  Most homes in the immediate 
neighbourhood were constructed in the late 1950’s or 1960’s as single family bungalows with 
basements.  Many have attached carports or single car garages aligned with the building face.   
 
The applicants have provided house designs for the new dwellings that they are willing to 
commit to by covenant.  The two storey houses are similar but not identical.  Both dwellings 
would have a gross floor area of 248 m2 with no basement, which is the maximum permitted in 
the RS-6 zone.  The dwelling for Lot B would include a suite above the garage area.  
 

Subject Property Showing 
Proposed Lot Configuration 

Onyx Park 

 
117



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 6 - December 21, 2015 

The design proposed provides articulations both horizontally in the building face and vertically 
with the roof lines.  Exterior finishes include a combination of cement board shingles and 
horizontal siding, accented with thin stone veneer and light coloured trim around windows, doors 
and corners (see Figures 4 and 5).  
 
The proposed dwellings are designed with the attached garages extending beyond the main 
building face and entrance, a design feature that is typical of newer homes.  Both dwellings 
include a two car garage that would have separated single garage door entries located on a 
staggered building face to provide horizontal articulation and reduce the visual impact of the 
vehicle entrances.  The main pedestrian entrances for both dwellings would have covered 
entrances and be located beside each other with a landscape buffer in between.    
 
Screened garbage and recycling areas and outdoor patios would be provided for each lot.  Lot B 
would also provide for exterior bike parking spaces within the garbage/recycling area and an 
additional outdoor parking space adjacent to the garage for the suite.    
 
In addition to the two vehicle parking spaces within the garages, both driveways allow for two 
tandem parking spaces so a minimum of four parking spaces are provided on each lot.  One 
shared access would be provided for both lots that would be visually softened by three adjacent 
landscaped beds and two boulevard trees.   
 
 

 

 
 

Front Elevation 

 

 
 

Rear Elevation 

 

 
 

North Elevation 

 

 
 

South Elevation 
Figure 4:  Conceptual Design of Proposed Lot A Dwelling (Provided by Outline Home Design) 
 
 
 
 

    

 

 

 
118



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 7 - December 21, 2015 

 
 

 

 
 

Front Elevation 

 

 
 

Rear Elevation 
 

 
 

North Elevation 

 

 
 

West Elevation 
Figure 5:  Conceptual Design of Proposed Lot B Dwelling (Provided by Outline Home Design) 

 

Conceptual streetscape drawings have been provided in order to illustrate how the proposed 
two-storey dwellings would relate to the adjacent homes (see Figure 6 and 7).  Siting from the 
front property line for the proposed dwellings would be compatible with existing houses on the 
adjacent lots.  The roof peaks would be higher than the adjacent dwellings by approximately 2 
meters.  A building comparison from the front and rear perspective indicate has been provided 
(see Figure 8).  The proposed houses comply with Zoning Bylaw regulations.  The requested 
variance is for the lot width only.  

 

 
Figure 6:  Conceptual Streetscape (Provided by Outline Home Design) 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 
119



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 8 - December 21, 2015 

 
Figure 7: Rear Yard View (Provided by Outline Home Design) 

 

 
Sheridan Avenue Comparison 

 
Howroyd Avenue Comparison 

Figure 8:  Building Height Comparison (Provided by Outline Home Design) 

 
Requested Variances 
Lot width variances are required for both lots to enable the subdivision under the RS-6 (Single 
Family Dwelling) zone. The minimum lot width requirement is 16 m and the variances requested 
are to reduce the lot width to 13.69 m for Lot A and 14.93 m for Lot B.  The variances are a 
result of the diamond shaped parent parcel.  The two proposed triangular shaped lots would 
have relatively narrow front lot lines, with side lot lines that widen to a maximum width of 
approximately 22 m roughly mid-way along the lot depth.  The proposed subdivision would 
provide for adequate building envelopes without requiring variances to the required setbacks.  
Given the information outlined above, staff believe the variances are supportable.  
 
Environment 
No environmental concerns have been identified during the review of this proposal.  The subject 
property contains only ornamental garden, lawn, and fruit trees.  Twelve fruit trees are located 
throughout the property of which four are located within the building footprints and would be 
removed.  Eight of these trees would be retained.  Per regulations, one boulevard tree is 
required and two are proposed.  
 
Stormwater would be managed with in-ground detention tanks on each proposed lot to allow for 
slow release into the municipal drain system.   
 
 

 
120



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 9 - December 21, 2015 

 
Sustainable development practices would be followed and the applicant has committed that 
construction would meet, or be equivalent to EnerGuide 82 or BUILT GREEN® Gold.  The 
applicant would also pre-duct for solar, install heat-pumps, and install tankless hotwater 
systems.  These commitments would be secured by covenant. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABILITY 
 
Policy Context 
The Official Community Plan (OCP) adopted in 2008 highlights the importance of climate 
change and sustainability.  The OCP is broadly broken down into the pillars of sustainability 
including environmental integrity, social well-being, and economic vibrancy.  Climate change is 
addressed under the environmental integrity section of the OCP and through Saanich’s Climate 
Action Plan.   
 
Climate change is generally addressed through mitigation strategies and adaptation strategies.  
Climate change mitigation strategies involve actions designed to reduce the emissions of 
greenhouse gasses, primarily carbon dioxide from combustion, while climate change adaptation 
involves making adjustments and preparing for observed or expected climate change, to 
moderate harm, and to take advantage of new opportunities.   
 
The following is a summary of the Climate Change and Sustainability features and issues 
related to the proposed development.  This section is not and cannot be an exhaustive list or 
examination of the issue.  However, this section is meant to highlight key issues for council and 
keep this subject matter at the forefront of council’s discussion. 
 
Climate Change 
This section includes the specific features of a proposal related to mitigation and adaptation 
strategies.  Considerations include:  1) Project location and site resilience, 2) Energy and the 
built environment, 3) Sustainable transportation, 4) Food security, and 5) Waste diversion.  
 
The proposed development includes the following features related to mitigation and adaptation:  
 The proposal is located within the Urban Containment Boundary and approximately 800 m 

from the commercial services at the University major “Centre” and Cedar Hill neighbourhood 
“Centre”.   

 The site is also within 1 km of the edge of the University of Victoria or approximately 1.5 km 
from the campus centre where a range of educational, cultural, and recreation opportunities 
are located. 

 Mount Douglas Secondary school is approximately 1.5 km distant and Campus View 
Elementary School is within 900 m.  

 Recreation facilities at the University of Victoria, including the Ian Stewart Complex are 
within 1.5 km, Mount Tolmie Park is also approximately 1.5 km distant, and Lambrick Park is 
approximately 2 km distant.   

 The proposal is an in-fill development that is able to use existing roads and infrastructure to 
service the development. 

 Sustainable development practices would be followed and the applicant has committed that 
construction would meet, or be equivalent to EnerGuide 82 or BUILT GREEN® Gold.  This 
commitment would be secured by covenant.  

 
121



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 10 - December 21, 2015 

 The proposed development will include the necessary conduit to be considered solar ready 
for the future installation of solar photovoltaic or hot water heating systems.  This 
commitment would be secured by covenant. 

 The proposal would also include tankless gas water heaters, and heat pumps.  These 
commitments would be secured by covenant. 

 The proposed development includes sufficient area suitable for backyard gardening. 
 The property is located approximately 450 m from public transit on Shelbourne Street,     

900 m on Cedar Hill Cross Road, and 1,200 m on McKenzie Avenue. 
 The current level of public transit service in the area includes a total of eight routes available 

on Shelbourne Street (Route # 27, 28), Cedar Hill Cross Road (Route # 14, 33) and 
McKenzie Avenue (Route # 16, 17, 26, 51).  Buses travel along all routes at an average of 
every 20 minutes during week days.  Average service on Shelbourne Street is every 19 
minutes, Cedar Hill Cross Road every 14 minutes, and McKenzie Avenue is every 27 
minutes. 

 The existing house has been listed for resale through a house relocating company.  If the 
house is not resold it would be deconstructed with diversion from the landfill occurring by 
salvage and resale or donation to Habitat for Humanity.  Existing concrete would be reused 
on site as clean fill under the supervision of a geotechnical engineer.   

 
Sustainability 
 
Environmental Integrity  
This section includes the specific features of a proposal and how it impacts the natural 
environment.  Considerations include:  1) Land disturbance, 2) Nature conservation, and  
3) Protecting water resources.  
 
The proposed development includes the following features related to the natural environment: 
 The proposal is a compact, infill development without putting pressures onto 

environmentally sensitive areas or undisturbed lands. 
 The proposed stormwater management plan includes in-ground detention tanks to allow for 

slow release into the municipal drain system. 
 

Social Well-being 
This section includes the specific features of a proposal and how it impacts the social well-being 
of our community.  Considerations include:  1) Housing diversity, 2) Human-scale pedestrian 
oriented developments, and 3) Community features. 

The proposed development includes the following features related to social well-being: 
 Secondary suites are allowed through a permit process for all RS zoned parcels within the 

Urban Containment Boundary. Suites provide an alternative form of accommodation within 
our neighbourhoods and allow both first time home owners and seniors on limited income, to 
benefit from rental revenue. 

 The applicant has agreed to register a covenant securing the design of the new dwellings for 
the proposed lots as presented to the neighbourhood.  

 Passive and active outdoor spaces are provided on both lots. 
 A range of outdoor, community and recreation opportunities are available within reasonable 

walking/cycling distance. 
 
 
 

 
122



SUB00743; DVP00365   - 11 - December 21, 2015 

Economic Vibrancy 
This section includes the specific features of a proposal and how it impacts the economic 
vibrancy of our community.  Considerations include: 1) Employment, 2) Building local economy, 
and 3) Long-term resiliency.  

The proposed development includes the following features related to economic vibrancy: 
 The development would create short-term jobs during the construction period with local   

suppliers/trades used for construction. 
 The proposal would be within the commercial catchment/employment area for the 

businesses and services located within the University major “Centre” and Cedar Hill 
neighbourhood “Centre”.   

 
COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 
 
Prior to submitting their development proposal, the applicant met with the Mount Tolmie 
Community Association and held two community meetings.    
 
At the initial community meeting ten neighbours provided written comments noting the following 
general concerns:  impacts from parking and traffic; the secondary suite in the home on Lot A; 
loss of privacy, height, overshadowing; and loss of trees.    
 
In response to the issues raised, the applicant has removed the proposed suite on Lot A, 
provided information to residents on how the subject houses compare with existing 
neighbouring houses in terms of size, height, and setbacks, and committed to constructing a 
new neighbour/property line fences for both properties.  
 
At the subsequent community meeting responses from four additional neighbours and three 
returning neighbours were received all noting they supported the proposal and the revisions 
made.    
 
In response to Saanich’s notification process, one response was received reiterating concerns 
about building height.  It should be noted that the proposed building heights are consistent with 
the existing RS-6 Zoning regulations. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The applicant proposes to subdivide a property to create one additional lot for single family 
dwelling use under the current RS-6 (Single Family Dwelling) Zone.  The existing dwelling would 
be removed with two new single family dwellings proposed.  Due to the triangular shaped 
parcels proposed variances to the minimum lot width are required.  No other variances are 
requested. 
 
The proposed subdivision would be compatible with the neighbourhood character and with the 
surrounding pattern of residential development in the neighbourhood.  Limited infill in existing 
neighbourhoods inside the Urban Containment Boundary is contemplated as part of the Official 
Community Plan.  The property is within reasonable walking/cycling distance to transit, parks, 
schools, and shopping.  
 
 
 
 

 
123



SUB00743; DVP00365 ( - 12 -
( 

December 21, 2015 

RECOMMENDATION 

1. That Development Variance Permit DVP00365 be approved. 

2. That prior to ratification of the Development Variance Permit a Restrictive Covenant be 
required to secure: 

• The new dwellings be constructed substantially in compliance with the plans prepared by 
Outline Home Design date stamped Received July 23, 2015; 

• The design and construction of new dwellings on proposed Lots A or B to a minimum 
EnerGuide 82, BUILT GREEN® Gold, or equivalent energy efficiency standard; 

• The installation of the necessary conduits to be solar ready for future installation of 
photovoltaic or solar hot water systems; 

• The installation of heat pumps and tankless gas water heaters; and 

• Proposed Lot A be restricted from having a secondary suite. 

Report prepared by: 
Ai'(drea Pickard, Planner 

Report reviewed by: 

LG/ads 
H:\TEMPEST\PROSPERO\A TT ACHMENTS\SUB\SUB007 43\REPORT.1720SHERIDAN.1 SEPT.DOCX 

Attachment 

cc: Andy Laidlaw, Administrator 
Graham Barbour, Manager of Inspections 

ADMINISTRATOR'S COMMENTS: 

he Director of Planning. 

 
124



c 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 

To: Ian Alexander Turner and Chelsea Ann Varney 
1720 Sheridan Avenue 
Victoria BC vap 3B3 

the owner of lands known and described as: 

Lot 26, Section 41, Victoria District, Plan 15292 

1720 Sheridan Avenue 

(herein called "the lands') 

DVP00365 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the Bylaws 
of the Municipality applicable thereto, except as specifically varied or supplemented by 
the Permit. 

2. This Development Variance Permit applies to the lands. 

3. The owner has submitted to the Approving Officer a tentative plan of subdivision to 
subdivide Lot 26 into two lots as shown on the plan of subdivision prepared by Powell & 
Associates received on June 11, 2015, a copy of which is attached hereto. 
(herein called "the subdivision ') 

4. The Development Variance Permit varies the provisions of the Zoning Bylaw 2003, as 
follows: 

(a) By varying the minimum lot width provided by Section 210.6(a) of Schedule 210 
attached to the Zoning Bylaw, 2003, No. 8200, in respect to proposed Lots A and 
B of the subdivision from 16.0 m to 13.69 m for proposed Lot A and 14.93 m for 
proposed Lot B. 

5. This Permit is not a Building Permit. 

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL ON THE 

___________ DAY OF _______________________ 20 

ISSUED THIS ________ DAY OF _______ 20 

Municipal Clerk 

 
125



.. () 

~ 
~ 

ENGINEERING 

Memo 
To: Subdivision Office 

From: Jagtar Bains - Development Coordinator 

Date: September 28, 2015 

Subject: Servicing Requirements for Development - REVISED 

PROJECT: TO CREATE ONE ADDITIONAL LOT FOR SINGLE FAMILY 
DWELLING USE UNDER CURRENT RS-6 ZONING. VARIANCES FOR 

SITE ADDRESS: 1720 SHERIDAN AVE 
PID: 004-222-229 
LEGAL: LOT 26 SECTION 41 VICTORIA LAND DISTRICT PLAN 15292 
DEV. SERVICING FILE: SVS01949 
PROJECT NO: PRJ2015-00318 

The intent of this application is to subdivide the above referenced parcel into two lots for single 
family use. Some of the more apparent Development Servicing requirements are as listed on 
the following pages(s). 

Jagtar Bains 
DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR 

 
126



De pment Servicing Requirell\ . , 
Development File: SVS01949 Date: Sep 28, 2015 

Civic Address: 1720 SHERIDAN AVE 
Page: 1 

1. THE EXISTING STORM DRAIN CONNECTION MUST BE CAPPED AND PROVIDED WITH AN INSPECTION CHAMBER FOR 
FUTURE USE BY PROPOSED LOT B. 

2. STORM WATER MANAGEMENT MUST BE PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF SCHEDULE H 
"ENGINEERING SPECIFICATIONS" OF SUBDIVISION BY-LAW. THIS SUBDIVISION/DEVELOPMENT IS WITHIN TYPE II 
WATERSHED AREA WHICH REQUIRES STORM WATER STORAGE, OIUGRIT SEPARATOR OR GRASS SWALE AND 
SEDIMENT BASIN. FOR FURTHER DETAILS, REFER TO SECTION 3.5.16, STORM WATER MANAGEMENT AND EROSION 
CONTROL OF SCHEDULE H "ENGINEERING SPECIFICATIONS" OF SUBDIVISION BY-LAW. 

3. SUBSEQUENT DRAIN CONNECTION WILL BE REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED LOT A FROM THE EXISTING MAIN 
TRAVERSING PROPOSED LOT B. THIS CONNECTION IS TO BE EXTENDED ACROSS PROPOSED LOT B VIA PRIVATE 
EASEMENT. 

Gen 

1. THIS PROPOSAL IS SUBJECT TO THE PREVAILING MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES. 

2. THE EXISTING NON-COMFORMING DWELLING MUST BE REMOVED PRIOR TO SUBDIVISION APPROVAL. 

Hydro/tel 

1. UNDERGROUND WIRING IS REQUIRED TO SERVE BOTH LOTS. 

Road 

1. THE EXISTING BROKEN CURB AND GUTIER FRONTING THIS SUBDIVISION MUST BE REPLACED. 

Sewer 

1. SUBSEQUENT SEWER CONNECTION WILL BE REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED LOT B FROM THE EXISTING MAIN 
TRAVERSING THIS SUBDIVISION. 

2. THE EXISTING SEWER CONNECTION MUST BE CAPPED AND PROVIDED WITH AN INSPECTION CHAMBER TO SERVE 
PROPOSED LOT A. 

Water 

1. PROVISIONAL WATER CONNECTION WILL BE REQUIRED FOR PROPOSED LOT B FROM THE EXISTING MAIN ON 
SHERIDAN AVENUE. 

2. THE EXISTING 13 MM WATER METER TO PROPOSED LOT A. MUST BE UPGRADED TO 19 MM. THE EXISTING WATER 
CONNECTION IS 19 MM. 

\\tempestfs\Tempest_App\Tempest\prod\INHOUSE\CDIHOO 
2.QRP 

DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
127



o 

s: (1
) iD
 

Cil
 

gj
lC

 

.....
. 

o o 

-a
 -

c
..

..
.D

) 
c 

:::J
 

::
J 

:::J
 

CD
 

_
. 

~
:
:
:
J
 

oo
C

Q
 

... I\
J
C

 
0

(
1

)
 

~
-
C
 

(
J
1

r
+

 
• 

o (J
) 

I"
"'+


--.

 _. ("
) 

I"
"'+

-

o -
h

 

(J
) 

Q
) 

Q
) 

::
J _. ("
) :::
r 

1J~
21
 

kS
20 

'" 
t~j

) 
1.

6_3
_, 

l
63

.0
 

1----
----=~

__+I_
1.J

 
1~40

 
i 

ItS~
.O 

1.S
.5.

, 

16
S

0 
I 

1oG
Sof

'"
 rso

 
1.

6_5
_j 

1~65
0_
 

1_6~
 

Lt
6.

5.6
 

~
 

16
6 1

 

L
 

, 
1 

~.
6a

o 
1

ui
 

~,6
40

 
1.
6~

-f 

~_
6_5

_0
 

1.
S.5

_1
 

j1
6S

0 
1S

Ji
~ 

~ 1 W
 

1
1

.6
.1

3
 

w
 

'"
 

~
I I

II 
o

j 
:b

 
::tJ

 

~_6
"10

 
I 

1,S
;1,
1

-
I
 

,w
 

0
:::0

 w
, 

,0
0

 
C

 
0

0,
 

;t6Ji
±
:
0
~

i ~
 ~6

_60 
1.

6S
.,

 
t6~
 

~t6_S
_0,-

-__
 

• 

~_61l
0 

1.
68

.S
 ~ 

~68
0 

1!
1l

!§
 
~ 

;.6~
0 

16
91

 
1.

69
0 

:
, 

~ 6
70

 
1

6
7

5
;:

: 
16

70
 

t6
}.

.5
 

.. S
70
~

67
1 

[1
61

0 
,---

---
I \

J
 

I 
I' 

-
_.-
=m

 
. 

l
:b

 
~ 

0 
1/

"
) 

• 
1

-
~6

JtO
 

16
95

 '
"
 

1.
6.9

.0
 

1.
69

·i 
::tJ

 t
6

9.
0 

1.6
.9_

5 
.1.

6.9
_6

 
.

: 

['t
 

1 
co,

 
.... -

--
--
-~
ii
--

--
~

·~
 

~ 
17

00
 

17
07

 
t"

W
.O

 
U

.0_
1 

rn
 

H
.O.

O
 

u
'O-

l 
~ 

H
.O.

O
 

1 ~
 

o 
. -

. 
--

-
, 

tJ
 

17
01

 
.rm

o 
• 

<:
 

=-
H

O
S

 
17

09
 

17
06

 
ru

n 
1
r
u
~
 

:b
 

v
e

 
:b

 
0 

H1
~ 

'"
 H

1
4

 
~
 

tU
8

 
1' U
l ::tJ 

III
 

. -
-

0 

~
 

1.
(.1

.8
 

U
2

.0
 

;t
l~

.O 
t1

2
.1 

s: 

o o o o o o 0:
::0

 
0-

4 

i1
72

4 
• 
~ 

H
2'

S 
0 

1 
,_

. 
1.7:

2.;
 e

n 
~ 

1 
O

N
 

o 

H
1t1

2 /8 

:
:
:
:
 
~ 

• 
,w

 
It

.)
 

,0
0 

C
D

 
I~
 

,C
t, 

/~
 

17
35

 
"-

o o o o 

o o 

I
~
 

1'-"
 

, 

I
-
,
 -
-
:
:
 
-~
Q"

",,
~if

f' 
~
 

U
.3

6 
:::0

 
~
 / R

1Ci
. 

I
-
-U

.3·
~1 

C
 

q,
qj

 
..,.1

.:..c 7
4=0

'-
-_

_
 

• 
17

39
 

17
51

' 
i I 

t
-
_
.
~
 

Q
 

17
44

 
I 

T
 

38
81

 
~
 3

89
2 

._
-

I 
I
-
~
J

IIii
IIiI

i .
.
 _!!

 ~
-
1
-
-
-
17

41
 

W
W

w
'W

 

'"
 

.-
-

ft7
48

 
;co

 
~
 

:co
 

lco
 

-
~
 

0 
~
 
~
 

a8
Jl

1
-

38
.9.

8 
1'
Z4
~ 

o
o
-
.
~
~
_

oo
 

:b
 

. -
.II 

~.Z
.S
2 

E
M

 E
R

A
 L

 D
 

-
.
-

3.
9.

0J
i 

11
 '3

.9
02

 
17

55
 

I 
~
 

~
 I 

.. "
I 

,U
5 _

S 
~~ 

I 
3.!

tC
li 

'~3_9
.Q
S 

t7
 5~

1 
.--

...
, 

I 
-.

 
,H

6
0 -
-

1
--

--
I-

-.
:3

_9
.Q

' 
39

.1
.0

 
1.1

5~ 
, -

" 

 
128



2CO *2rdCfl

C
Via email sent January22, 2016

Mayor and Council
District of Saanich
770 Vernon Avenue
Saanich BC V8X 2W7

MOUNT TOLMIE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION
do 1735 Kingsberry Crescent, Victoria BC V8P 2A8

70sT

GOPYTO
INFORMATION

REPlY TO WRITER
COPY RESPONSE TO LEGISLATIVE 01VISION

REPORT Q

The Mount Tolmie Community Association (MTCA) acknowledges this subdivision and development variance

permit application. It was appreciated that on Jan. 4, the applicant informed the MTCA that the application was

going to be placed on the Jan. 25 council agenda. Although, noting that we did not receive notification from

Saanich until ian. 14. At this time we are unsure the availability of a member of the MTCA board able to attend

the council meeting.

The applicant initiated contact with the MTCA in April 2015 outlining the proposal. From this time until now

appropriate community consultation took place: First a meeting with the MTCA Board followed by two

community meetings. In addition the applicants went door to door to speak with surrounding neighbours. And

the applicant kept the MTCA updated throughout.

Comments that the MTCA had at the initial meeting were addressed and made clear that the applicant should

ensure that the surrounding neighbours were comfortable with the final proposal. We also note the properties

are somewhat of a different size so there are some limitations. So to support privacy for everyone there will be

no upper decks and new fencing will be added.

There are several positive sustainable notes as outlined in the application and we are pleased that the current

house will be safely moved and the concrete will be recycled. And very importantly a covenant placed on the

buildings.

We are pleased to know that during the construction phase extra care will be taken as to not disrupt the

neighbourhood with noise and parking of the workers. And they will provide 24hr. notice to before any large

deliveries or when the concrete is being worked on.

This final proposal is reflective of conversations with the MTCA and neighbours. The MTCA has not received

any inquiries, comments or concerns from the neighbours since community meetings were held.

In closing, we do recommend that this application is approved.

Sincerely,

Marlene Bergstrom
President, Mount Tolmie Community Association

Dear Mayor and Council:

Re: 1720 Sheridan
(File: SUB00743: DVP00365)

 
129



( ( 

/ 

POST TO 

V 
V l~CKNOWLEDGED Barb and Llew Hamdi 

COPYTO __ ......,~-----I 

INfORMATION 

V CLERKS Howroyd Ave V 
Victoria BC V8P 3C2 

REPLY TO WRIlER 
COPY RESPONSE TO LEGlSLAllVE DMSION 

REPORT 0 
ffiR ____ ------------

ACKNOWLEDGED" 

District of Saanich 
Current Planning - Subdivision 
770 Vernon Ave 
Victoria BC V8X 2W7 

REPLIED 

~~©@:OW~[Q) 
JUL 23 2015 

Phone: 
July 14, 2015 

PLANNING DEPT. 
Dear Sir, 

LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH DISTRICT OF SA,~NICH - - -

Subject Project Proposal: to create one additional lot for single family dwelling use under 
current RS-6 zoning. Variances for lot width are requested. Lot 26, Section 41, Victoria 
District Plan 15292 File # SUB00743 DVP00363 

We are in receipt of your letter dated July 2, 2015 requesting feedback in writing prior to 
4:30pm on July 27,2015. 

I did attend one meeting held by the owners and their contractor and expressed concern about 
the height of the houses that they are proposing One of the houses will directly affect our 
property in three ways: 

1) It will block our current view of Mount Tolmie that we do enjoy looking at while sitting 
on our deck as well as looking out the back garden windows. 

2) One of the houses is going to result in a significant shadow across our back garden -
particularly in the winter. This is extremely annoying as it will put our garden into a low 
light situation. We do enjoy the use of our garden all year long. 

3) Due to the height of one of the houses, the master bedroom will be "staring" at our 
house. This is not pleasant. 

The contractor was rather dismissive of my concerns and resorted to stating that everything 
that is being proposed meets zoning requirements. There are positive externalities that we 
currently enjoy in our home - the view and having a south exposure back garden. These were 
critical components of what we were looking for when we purchased our home over 20 years 
ago. We would request that any new residence addresses these concerns. Why should we 

.. ./2 

 
130



( 

2 -

have to have less desirable living conditions so that the current owners can make a profit on 

their 
property? 

We would appreciate a response in "Vriting. 

Yours truly, 

1
Barbara Hamdi 

Llew Hamdi 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAl,NiCH 

 
131



COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

Parcel Address: 1720 Sheridan Avenue 

Proposed Development: 2 Lot Subdivision 

Applicant: 

Contact Person: 

Seba Construction 
2284 Cadboro Bay Rd 
Victoria, BC V8R 5G9 

Jamie Gill 
Seba Construction 
250-516-1224 
sebaconstruction l@gmail.com 

We have met with the Mount Tolmie Community Association on May 11th. After 
discussions with the group we then met with the neighbors surrounding the 
property on May 13th. For this meeting we did a mail out two weeks prior to meeting 
with a 90m radius around the property we are proposing to subdivide. 

At this meeting with the neighbors we received the following comments: 
Parking is an issue and if the spec home on Lot A has the suite removed it will 
alleviate concerns 
Building heights might be to high 
Devaluation of property next door (1725 Sheridan) 
Concerned of trees coming down 
Privacy for surrounding neighbors 

On June 10th we held another community meeting to address the above concerns. 
Again notice was given out two weeks prior with a 90m radius around the property: 

We removed the suite from the Spec house on Lot A, this allowed us to loose 
the parking stall next to the home 1714 Sheridan 
Agreed to allow a covenant on the property that the garages will be used for 
only parking. This makes sure there is enough parking for everyone 
We have done an illustration showing the existing home/new homes and 
what is allowed under the bylaw for height 
The home on 1725 Sheridan sold for 57 thousand over assessed value. The 
home was purchased by out of town buyers. For the record we did contact 
the selling/buying agent and informed them both with our plan. 
There are no significant trees on the property. All the fruit trees on the 
property will be saved except for two. 
In terms of privacy the designed home is better suited for privra-=c~th~e:.:.n:...;t::.:.;h:.::e~ ____ _ 
existing home. For example the deck on the new homes is on ~ ~e~ DW~ In 

'lnl JUN 11 2015 ~/I 
! 

PLM~NiN G DEPT. 
DiSTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
132



were as the existing home is a split level home with a raised deck looking into 
the neighbors properties. 
We have also agreed to place a brand new fence around both new homes 

After our meetings and addressing all the concerns we could, it is in our best 
interest to make our submission to Saanich. 

We have attached all communication received through our meetings to this package. 

Sincerely, 

Jamie Gill 
Seba Construction Ltd. 

 
133



to~ 
1720 Sheridan Community Meeting June ~ 2015 - Registration 

Name: rV\ \ C.\-1 'A t:. L 

Address: 

support@yno 

Email Address: .j11u~:fi t R: l cE 

Phone Number: 

Comments: -r-rt r1 Nrc 3 J::-0(7,--

;D jl/f!- / {5;/-/ (30,-Jr<... S 

[o.~ 5.; IJLI< /1/\/& ""i fti-S{DAi tJlfv 

CDAJCtJZIIJ;5 Ie C)/I// /VtcJrV, -.3 

, U~ ~J:~10~~ [QJ 
1 

PU\NNING vEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
134



kiv!' 
1720 Sheridan Community Meeting June I, 2015 - Registration 

Name: 

Address: 

-
Support:~r no 

Email Address: 

Phone Number: 

'-.... ./ 

,-- W,J C~\"ti~&{) I~Ovc("" Q4-i-o (","; (::::;'--'~ 

/J4;[Yf' r1(/l.Iv,KS1C /V:) I Sy ') : 

[D)~©~UW~ I[)I 
lfu JUN 1 1 2015 lbU 

PLANNING OEPT. 
DISTPif~T OF SAANICH 

 
135



( ) 

io+h 
1720 Sheridan Community Meeting June 1, 2015 - Registration 

-' Name: '.':- 7 trl3ttL /!JtJl2, t2-,( SJ 0 ;,,\ 

Address: 

Support: yes or no 

Email Address: 

~ 

Phone Number: 

Comments: 

io)~©@;DW~f[J1 
Ull JUN 1 1 2015 l1U 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRiCT or SMNiCH 

 
136



t ) 

\o~ 
1720 Sheridan Community Meeting June I, 2015 - Registration 

Addres

Email Address

Phone Number:
'. 

Comments: 

Plf.\i~\~\NG DEPT, 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
137



\~ . 

1720 Sheridan Community Meeting June', 2015 - Registration 

Address: <tl \ 
UVler,'c)c;...f\ A.veVlIA"f! 

/ 

Support&r no 

Email Address

Phone Number: 

Comments: 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT Or- SAANICH 

 
138



C
1

 
U

?-
o 

-
i
r


:::
:O

:;p
o 

O
~
 

-
i
 ,

?
 

0
2

 
-n

 L
"J

 

en
 C

;J
 

:;t
::o

 
"
,
 

:;t
::o

 
-
0

 
:z

 -
i
 

0
· 

::c
 

§P
J U1

ffi 
t-

=
@

 
Z

 
(il

fil
l 

~ 
~\

 
~
 

1M
n1

\ 
~
!
 

1
7

2
0

 S
h

er
id

an
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
M

e
e

ti
n

g
 J

un
e 

10
, 2

01
5 

-
R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

 

N
am

e:
 -ra

.'0\
. 

M
 c.\

~ \
~(

,Q
\r

u"
l 

~
 
~
 

A
dd

re
ss

: 
"\

CL
0m

"ld
 

I\
\J
~ 

S
up

po
rt

: y
es

 o
r 

no
 
~
S
 

E
m

ai
l A

dd
re

ss
: 

..-.
.. 

'-

P
ho

ne
 N

um
be

r:
 

C
om

m
en

ts
: 

 
139



ing june 10J 2015 - R tr(lt an 

I 
- ,-

P;P I1. 't' or 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
140



( J 

r 
From: Kim Frechette 

Subject: 
Date: June 1, 2015 at 6:03 AM 

To: sebaconstruction1@gmail.com 

Hi Jamie, 
Thank you for your informative presentation on May 13th regarding the proposal to subdivide 
1720 Sheridan Ave, It seems that you and Ian and Chelsea have put a lot of thought into the 
proposal and the design, The proposed homes look attractive and better suited to the 
neighbourhood than a modern west coast design would be. Our home is Sheridan and we 
are the immediate neighbour to the left of . As we mentioned at the meeting, our concerns 
are primarily: 

1. The proximity of the parking and entry to the proposed suite in home A to our property 
line and our bedroom windows on the main floor and lower level is a real concern for us. 
The proposed suite parking and entry is very close due to the shape of our lots and where 
our home was situated when it was built and we are quite concerned about noise and 
privacy. 

2. The handling of the building site elevations and drainage. It appears that the elevation of 
the proposed driveway as shown on the civil plan will be quite a bit lower than the current 
elevation where it will abut our property line. Will this be handled with a retaining wall? 
How are you addressing site drainage and how will you ensure that there will not be a 
negative impact with respect to rainwater runoff and site drainage? We are concerned 
about the possibility of our perimeter drains being overwhelmed by the proposed 
changes. 

3. Increased traffic congestion on the cui de sac. (suggestion: a speed bump on the approach 
to the cui de sac might help by slowing vehicles down). 

Thank you for listening to our concerns. We look forward to the information meeting scheduled 
for June 10th and hope that you will be able to address our concerns. 

Kim and Steve Frechette 

Sent from Windows Mail 

rm~~~1DJl 
PLANNING DEPT. 

~_'pJITR!CT OF S!\ll~"CH ---- -- -----' 

 
141



From: jldr
Subject: Subdivision at 1720 Sheridan Avenue 

Date: May 20, 2015 at 6:55 AM 
To: sebaconstruction1 @gmail.com 

My wife and I were at the meeting last Wednesday 13th to discuss the above proposed subdivision. We still think parking may be a problem 
and feel if the additional house were non-suited it would alleviate our concerns. 

Thanks, 

Dale and Joyce Dickson 

\D)g©gn~glD' 
lffi JUN \ ,2015 l1d) 

PLANNING DEPT. 
OISTRICT OF SMNICH 

 
142



From: Chelsea Varney i
Subject: Fwd: Support from Carolyn and Dan Desjardins for your plans to build 

Date: May 13, 2015 at 4:50 PM 
To: Seba Construction sebaconstruclion1 @gmail,com 
Cc: Ian Turner ciphere@gmail,com 

Hi Jamie, 

Below is an e-mail from one of our back bordering neighbours in support of our plans :) 

-Chelsea 
---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: Desjardins, Carolyn MNGD:EX <
Date: Wed, May 13, 2015 a14:14 PM 
Subject: Support from Carolyn and Dan Desjardins for your plans to build 
To: 

Hi Chelsea and lan, 

Shawna gave me your email addresses. In case I don't make it to the meeting tonight, I wanted to put something in writing showing that Dan 
and I support your plan to build 2 houses on your property. To be honest, if we'd had an opportunity to purchase your property, that's exactly 
what we'd be doing. 

I imagine that there will be some concerns expressed around construction noise and that sort of thing. I don't know when you plan to begin, 
but we are not particularly concerned about noise, trusting that the contractor will be respectful of the neighbours summertime activities by 
limiting noisier construction activities to between reasonable hours and not working on Sundays. 

We don't have any particular concerns about the plan itself either. It looks reasonable to us. In a neighbourhood where several residents 
have in-law suites and cottages, this seems like a reasonable plan, given the large size of your lot. 

Good luck with your plans! We wish you all the best. 

Thank you! 

Carolyn Desjardins 
Telephone: 
Email:

/o)~©~OW~f[JI 
Ull JUN 1 1 2015 lid) 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
143



o 

) 

1720 Sheridan Community M eeting May 13 2015 - Registration 

Name Address Comments 

Yh~' Ho - rnakosvve 
h)/ hf(;o 110 ~'w r 

$11(~( Or7-tJ tcJ->?/ J:7U ,vt c./) / t....: p~ 

L )'""1#/G 

v"-"~ d-41~ J 
W 'I~ !-Ibvll . 

, ~~~ T\.wm"-S  t-tD~ r~ 'l ,,{ 
+-" 

'Sh\oct.tl 
+- &./ f\.U<} 

l/IL--r,;vao 
~ ________ ~ ________ ~ ____ ~~~~~~t~p~~ . 

PLANNING DEPT. 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH - ..... ~"'--- -.. .........-.-...  

144



c 

The Corporation of the District of Saanich 

Report 
Report To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

PROJECT DETAILS 

Project Proposal: 

Address: 

Legal Description: 

Owner: 

Applicant: 

Parcel Size: 

Mayor and Council 

Sharon Hvozdanski, Director of Planning 

December 18, 2015 

Development Permit Amendment Application 
File: DPA00841 • 108 - 2829 Arbutus Road 

The applicant proposes to vary the provisions of a Land Use 
Contract by amending DPR81-0008 in order to extend an existing 
sundeck on one unit within a greater townhouse complex. A 
setback variance to a boundary which abuts a Municipal Park is 
also requested. 

1 08 - 2829 Arbutus Road 

Strata Lot 8, Section 44, Victoria Land District, Strata Plan 1098 
(Phase II), together with an interest in the Common Property in 
proportion to the unit entitelment of the Strata Lot as shown on 
Form 1. 

Troy Hubin 
Noel Carawan-Hubin 

Troy Hubin 

6.04 ha 

Existing Use of Parcel: Residential 

Existing Use of 
Adjacent Parcels: 

Current Zoning: 

Minimum Lot Size: 

Proposed Zoning: 

North: P-4N (Natural Park) 
South: RS-16 (Single Family Dwelling) 
East: P-4N (Natural Park) 
West: LUC (Land Use Contract) 

LUC (Land Use Contract) Mini Mountain - Wedgewood Estates 
(underlying zone - RS-16 Single Family Dwelling) 

n/a 

No Change [R1~©~O~~[Q) 

DEC 22 2015 
LEGISLATIVE DIVISION 
DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
145

OrrS
Text Box
CW 3



DPA00841  - 2 - December 18, 2015 

Proposed Minimum  n/a 
Lot Size:    
 
Local Area Plan:  Cadboro Bay 
 
LAP Designation:  General 
  
Community Assn Referral: Cadboro Bay Residents’ Association • Sent August 5, 2015. 

Response received October 20, 2015 indicating "We take no 
position with respect to the application".  

 
    The Wedgewood Estates Strata Council expressed approval in 

principle for the deck expansion, subject to the applicant obtaining 
all necessary permits and setback approvals from the District of 
Saanich. 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant proposes to vary the provisions of a Land Use Contract by amending  
DPR81-0008 in order to extend an existing sundeck on one unit within a greater townhouse 
complex.  A setback variance to a boundary which abuts a Municipal Park is also requested. 
 
PLANNING POLICY & LAND USE CONTRACT 
 
Official Community Plan (2008) 
4.2.2.3.  “Consider the use of variances to development control bylaws where they would 

achieve a more appropriate development in terms of streetscape, pedestrian 
environment, view protection, overall site design, and compatibility with 
neighbourhood character and adjoining properties.” 

 
7.1.6.1. “Consider varying development control bylaws where the variance would contribute 

to a more appropriate site development having regard for the impact on adjoining 
lands.” 

 
Land Use Contract 
Land Use Contracts were a planning tool used in the 1970’s to regulate density, siting and 
design controls for multi-parceled projects. The subject parcel is part of the Minnie Mountain -
Wedgewood Estates Land Use Contract, DPR81-0008, registered in 1978. Although portions of 
the Land Use Contract expired in 1993, Schedule “D”, which regulates height and setbacks, did 
not expire, and continues to apply to the property. 
 
Development Permit Area Guidelines 
The relevant Saanich General Development Permit Area guidelines that relate to this project 
state that the architecture should be of a contemporary and authentic nature and incorporate 
innovative uses of durable and high quality materials.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
146



DPA00841  - 3 - December 18, 2015 

DISCUSSION 
 
Neighbourhood Context 
The subject property is located in the Cadboro Bay Local Planning Area.  The existing 
townhouse complex, built in 1982, is located on a 6 ha parcel that is split-zoned RS-12 and  
RS-16.  Neither of these zones would normally permit attached housing, however this 
development was permitted under a Land Use Contract.  
 
To the south, and also part of the Wedgwood Estates development, are a number of single 
family dwelling parcels, as well as a few parks, namely Viewpoint, Arbutus and Wedgepoint, all 
zoned P-4N (Natural Park).  Immediately to the north, the land slopes steeply down 
approximately 14 metres through Phyllis Park (also zoned P-4N) and beyond that, located on 
Lockehaven Drive, are single family dwellings (see Figure 1). 
 
 

                                                                   
Figure 1:  Neighbourhood Context 

 
147



DPA00841  - 4 - December 18, 2015 

Land Use, Siting and Design 
In 1978, as part of the development of this portion of Ten Mile Point, DPR81-0008 and the 
associated Land Use Contract, was registered on the property titles to regulate design, 
construction schedule, landscaping, and servicing of the various portions of the project.   
 
As per the document terms, certain portions of this Land Use Contract expired after 15 years. 
Building siting, height, size, and lot coverage, which form Schedule “D” of the Land Use 
Contract, have not expired and are still applicable.   
 
Although Section 2 of the Land Use Contract allows for minor alterations to be approved by the 
Municipal Engineer, staff determined that the requested variance is not considered minor in 
nature.  As such, Council review and consideration is being sought. 
 
Requested variances 
Schedule “D” of the Land Use Contract specifies siting, height and other regulations for various 
building types, including Single Family Residential, Attached Housing, and Apartments. 
 
For Attached Housing Use, Section 3.a.(iv) states that buildings and structures shall be sited not 
less than “…15 feet [4.57 m] from any boundary which abuts lands dedicated for park 
purposes.” 
 
The existing deck appears to have been constructed closer to the property line than permitted 
under Section 3.a.(iv), namely with a setback to the property line of 2.63 m, rather than the 
required 4.57 m. The proposed deck addition would reduce this setback to 1.11 m (or about 
3.63 feet), resulting in a variance of 3.46 m (11.37 feet). 
 
Due to:  
1)  The location of the existing deck proposed for expansion at the rear of the dwelling;  
2)  The amount of vegetation surrounding the property; and  
3)  The drop in elevation of 14 m (45.9 feet) from the townhouse complex to the rear yard of 

properties on Lockehaven Drive, the variance request is anticipated to have minimal impacts 
on the surrounding neighbours or park. (see Figures 2 and 3) 

 
No trees would be removed for the construction of the deck extension.  The Parks Department 
have reviewed the application and have no concerns regarding the requested siting variance. 
 
As previously noted, the Wedgewood Estates Strata Council expressed approval in principle for  
the deck expansion, subject to the applicant obtaining all necessary permits and setback  
approvals from the District of Saanich. 
 
 

 
148



DPA00841  - 5 - December 18, 2015 

 
 Figure 2: Deck location 
 
 
 

 
149



DPA00841  - 6 - December 18, 2015 

 
 

Figure 3: Aerial  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
The Wedgewood Estates Strata Council expressed approval in principle for the deck expansion, 
subject to the applicant obtaining all necessary permits and setback approvals from the District 
of Saanich. 
 
As part of the review process, the application was referred to the Cadboro Bay Residents’ 
Association. A response was received October 20, 2015 stating that the application had been 
reviewed at the October 14, 2015 Regular Board meeting and the decision of the board was that 
"We take no position with respect to the application". 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The applicant proposes to vary the provisions of a Land Use Contract in order to extend an  
existing sundeck on one unit within a greater townhouse complex.  A setback variance to a  
boundary which abuts a Municipal Park is also requested. 
 
The variance request would have minimal impact on the immediate neighbours, and has the 
support of the Strata.  As such, the application can be supported by staff. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
150



DPA00841 - 7 -
( 

December 18, 2015 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Development Permit Amendment DPA00841 be approved. 

Report prepared by: Lt- W\ 
Report reviewed by: 

Shar"6'Kozdanski, Director of Planning s 

CWB/sd 
H:\TEMPEST\PROSPERO\ATT ACHMENTS\ DPA\DPA00841 \CWB_RPT _108·2829 ARBUTUS RD.DOC 

cc: Paul Thorkelsson, Administrator 
Graham Barbour, Manager of Inspection Services 

ADMINISTRATOR'S COMMENTS: 

I endorse the recommendation of th irector of Planning. 

,!/#/~'--r;7/1/ 
y paul Thor son, Administrator 

 
151



( 

DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

( 

NO. DPA00841 
AMENDS DPR81-0008 

AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT PERMIT 

TO: Troy Hubin 
Noel Carawan-Hubin 
108 2829 Arbutus Road 
Victoria BC V8N 5X5 

(herein called "the Owner', 

1. This Development Permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the Bylaws of the 
Municipality applicable thereto, except as specifically varied by this Permit. 

2. This Development Permit applies to the lands known and described as: 

Strata Lot 8, Section 44, Victoria Land District, Strata Plan 1098 
(Phase II), together with an interest in the Common Property in 

proportion to the unit entitlement of the Strata Lot as shown on Form 1. 

108 2829 Arbutus Road 

(herein called "the lands" 

3. This Development Permit further regulates the development of the lands as follows: 

(a) By varying the provisions of the Land Use Contract, Schedule "0", Attached Housing 
Use Specifications 3.(a) (iv) to permit the proposed deck to be setback 1.11 m from a 
boundary which abuts lands dedicated for park purposes (4.57 m required). 

(b) The Development Permit regulates the development of the lands by supplementing the 
provisions of the Land Use Contract, to construct the deck as proposed and developed 
in accordance with the plans prepared by Pro Deck Ltd. dated and received July 31, 
2015, copies of which are attached to and form part of this Permit. 

4. The Owner shall substantially start the development within 24 months from the date of 
issuance of the Permit, in default of which the Municipality may, at its option upon 10 days 
prior written notice to the Owner, terminate this Permit and the Permit shall be null and 
void and of no further force or effect. 

5. The lands shall be developed strictly in accordance with the terms and conditions and 
provisions of this Permit and shall comply with all Municipal bylaws except for those provisions 
specifically varied herein. Minor variations which do not affect the overall building and 
landscape design and appearance may be permitted by the Director of Planning or in her 
absence, the Manager of Current Planning. 

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7 of this Permit the following changes will be 
permitted and not require an amendment to this Permit: 

 
152



DPA00841 
( 

- 2- c 
(a) When the height or sitting of a building or structure is varied 20 cm or less provided. 

however. that this variance will not exceed the maximum height or sitting requirements of 
the Zoning Bylaw. 

(b) Changes to the relative location and size of doors and windows on any fagade which 
do not alter the general character of the design or impact the privacy of neighboring 
properties following consultation with the Director of Planning. or Manager of 
Current Planning in her absence. 

(c) Where items noted under Section 6(b) are required to comply with the Building Code 
and/or the Fire Code and those changes are not perceptible from a road or adjacent 
property. 

7. The terms and conditions contained in this Permit shall ensure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the Owner. their executors. heirs and administrators. successors and assigns 
as the case may be or their successors in title to the land. 

8. This Permit is not a Building Permit. 

AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL ON THE 

______ DAY OF _____ 20 

ISSUED THIS DAY OF 20 ------

Municipal Clerk 

 
153



Meters 

District of Saanich Planning Dept. 

SUBJECT 
UNIT 

P-4N 

Sept 2, 2015 
 
154



From: "Eric Dahli"  
To: "'Chuck Bell lll <Chuck.Bell@saanich.ca> 
CC: 
Date: 

"Bill Dancer" 
10/20/2015 9:24 AM 

Subject: RE: Saanich referral for expansion of a deck at 108-2829 Arbutus Road (DPA00841) 

Dear Mr. Bell: 
At the October 14th Regular Board meeting this application was reviewed and 
the decision of the board is " We take no position with respect to the 
application" 

Thank-you 

Eric Dahli, Chair 
Cadboro Bay Residents Association 

-----Original Message-----
From: Chuck Bell [mailto:Chuck.Bell@saanich.ca] 
Sent: October-19-15 9:13 AM 
To: 
Cc: Floater ID PlanSec <Plansec@saanich.ca> 
Subject: Saanich referral for expansion of a deck at 108-2829 Arbutus Road 
(DPA00841) 

Hello Eric, 

Hope this finds you well. 

Just wondering if you've had a chance now to review this particular 
application, or will in the near future? The report for this application 
should be going before Council before long and we'd like to include your 
input, if any. 

Kind regards, 
Chuck 

Chuck Bell 
Planner 
District of Saanich 

770 Vernon Avenue 
Victoria, BC 
V8X2W7 

~©~OW~f[jI 
OCT 1 9 2015 l!:U 
PLANNING DEPT. 

t. 250-475-5494 ext. 3467 
f.250-475-5430 
e. chuck.bell@saanich.ca 
www.saanich.ca 

This e-mail and any attachments are for the sole use of the intended 
recipient and must not be distributed or disclosed to anyone else. The 
content of this e-mail andanyattachmentsmaybeconfidential.privileged 
and/or subject to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 
If you have received this message in error, please delete it and contact the 
sender. 

DISTRICT OF SAANICH 

 
155


	Agenda 2016-01-25
	B1.  Delegation - Public Participation Policy
	D1.  1167 Clovelly Terr Final Reading
	F1. 4655 Cordova Bay Rd First Reading
	G1. Derelict Vessels - Cadboro Bay
	G2.  Feedback for Public Consultation on the Financial Plan Final
	Feedback for Public Consultation on the Financial Plan.pdf
	Public Consult FP
	Public Consult FP 2
	Punlic Consult FP 3

	G3.  Kerr Wood Leidal Construction Administration Fee Increases
	H1.  Federal Bill of Environmental Rights
	CW-1.  4136 Wilkinson Road Final
	CW-2.  1720 Sheridan Avenue Final
	CW-3.  108-2829 Arbutus Road Final



